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China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
T EHmE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Director(s)”) of
China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to present to our
shareholders the annual report for the twelve months ended 31 March
2021 (the “Year” or the “year under review”). During the Year, the Group
recorded a turnover of approximately HK$651 million, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$440 million as compared to that of the
last financial period for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 (the
“Period”).
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The Group has successfully built a nationwide chain of wholesale
markets and a network of modern agricultural produce logistics center,
linking the southern and northern regions and across the eastern and
south-western parts of the PRC. During the year under review, the
Group managed a total of 11 agricultural produce exchange markets in
mainland China, covering Wuhan, Huangshi, Suizhou, Luoyang, Puyang,
Kaifeng, Yulin, Qinzhou, Xuzhou, Huai’an and Panjin, with business
spreading across various provinces, including Hubei Province, Henan
Province, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, Jiangsu Province and
Liaoning Province.

During the year under review, under the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease
2019 pandemic (“COVID-19 pandemic”), the business development
of the Group remained stable due to its commitment to communal
engineering project and the effective implementation of cost control
measures. Given that Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (“WYT”
stock code: 897) and parties acting in
concert with it completed the partial share offer in respect of shares of

or “controlling shareholder”;

the Company in February 2020, it became a controlling shareholder of
the Group. The Group has changed its financial year end date for the
financial years of 2019 and 2020 (the “Previous Year”) to be aligned with
that of its controlling shareholder. Accordingly, there are total fifteen
months recorded in the accounts for the Previous Year and only twelve
months recorded in the accounts as of 31 March 2021.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

Since the reform and opening up, the People’s Republic of China (“China”
or the “PRC") has basically formed a supply chain of agricultural by-
products on the basis of the agricultural produce wholesale markets,
which has played an important role in ensuring the supply of agricultural
products and promoting the development of “Three Rural Issues”. In
the first quarter of 2020, the agricultural wholesale market has aroused
social concern along with the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic. The
State Council of China has focused on “Three Rural Issues” since the
No.1 Central Document was released in 2003 with continuous focus
on the development of “Three Rural Issues” in No. 1 Central Document
of 2021, in which one of the key contents of “accelerating agricultural
modernization” is mentioned, further reflecting China’s strong support
and promotion of the development of agricultural produce wholesale
markets and agricultural produce logistics industry.
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China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFERE

According to the data shown from the Ministry of Commerce of the
PRC, there are currently 44,000 agricultural produce markets, including
over 4,100 wholesale markets, of which 1,300 wholesale markets reach
an annual transaction volume of more than RMB100 million, and
nearly 40,000 agricultural trade markets, wet markets and bazaars.
Approximately 70% of agricultural products are distributed nationwide
through wholesale markets'.

Currently, agricultural wholesale markets are the key market and main
channel for popularizing agricultural products in China, connecting both
ends of production and sales. In March 2021, the “Regulations of the
State Council on Strengthening the Supervision and Administration of
Agricultural Wholesale Markets (Exposure Draft) {5l 7 F B8 7 1198 2 &
mitE WIS EEE R TE BEKE R RR))” (the “Opinion”) drafted
by relevant departments of the State Council of China was issued to
provide a legal basis for normalized epidemic prevention and control,
among which the policy clarifies the regulatory responsibilities of local
governments and relevant departments. On one hand, the Opinion
requires market operators to possess appropriate qualifications and
assume greater management responsibilities. On the other hand, it is
proposed that people’s governments at all levels should take effective
measures and provide supporting policies. Such policies will facilitate the
operation of agricultural wholesale markets in a more advanced manner
while standardizing the laws to further raise the industry’s entry barriers,
which is conducive to achieving positive integration of the agricultural
wholesale industry, separating the wheat from the chaff.

As a leading agricultural produce logistics and warehouse operator in
mainland China, the Group, supported by national policies, is actively
seizing the opportunity to standardize the development of agricultural
wholesale markets, seeking suitable opportunities to expand the market
and diversifying the market share of the existing agricultural wholesale
markets. The Group believes that there is still a room for expansion.
Meanwhile, it is expected to write a new chapter in the business
development of the Group along further upgrade and transform of smart
agricultural wholesale through digitalization.

! http://www.mofcom.gov.cn/xwfbh/20200703.shtml
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Under e-commerce, seizing new development opportunities in
new era

As a leading agricultural produce logistics and warehouse operation in
mainland China, the Group has fully introduced a new business model
of electronic transaction settlement and a modern lease management
system in all agricultural produce exchange markets under the increasing
demand for digitalization in the “post-epidemic era”. Accordingly,
the Group took a big step forward in promoting the digitalization of
agricultural wholesale business during the Year. According to the big
data from the Group’s electronic settlement, electronic payments are
increasingly used between buyers and sellers instead of cash payments
which result in higher risk of being infected since the outbreak of
COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, the Group has switched all paper lease
contracts to electronic ones. The operators are not required to make
the payment in person. Alternatively, they can pay rent and property
management fees online, and even enter into contracts online with
electronic seals, which not only reduces costs, but also helps to grasp the
situation of business transactions and promote the informatization of the
Group’s agricultural produce exchange markets.

Scientific management under the pandemic, equipped with
sufficient risk prevention and control as well as cost control

Under the pandemic, the Group’s advanced systematic management
provides a good check on the risk prevention and control of the
market. During the year under review, the Group implemented various
nationwide measures to control the pandemic, in which the monitoring
of imported cold chain food was exercised in stringent manner that
the food was not allowed to be stored in the warehouse if officially
recognized certification documents were not provided. Meanwhile,
the Group has also strengthened the education on employees’ anti-
epidemic awareness and adopted various strict anti-epidemic hygiene
requirements for employees, tenants, customers and visitors when
entering and exiting the agricultural produce exchange markets,
requiring them to wear masks, measure body temperature, disinfect the
hands, and present health codes. Notwithstanding the Group’s business
operation was slightly affected by COVID-19 pandemic, it is committed
to integrating internal and external resources as well as strengthening
the cost control to enhance operating efficiency.
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China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFERE

CORPORATE STRATEGY

“Opinions of the State Council on Comprehensively Pushing forward
Rural Revitalization and Accelerating Modernization of Agriculture and
Rural Areas (KR 2 EEE AN IRE MR EZENERENER)),
also known as the No.1 Central Document for 2021, published by the
central government stated that “Three Rural Issues” should be well
solved during the “14th Five-Year Plan” period, focusing on accelerating
agricultural modernization, optimizing the distribution of agricultural
products trading, supporting enterprises to integrate into the global
agricultural product supply chain, as well as strengthening the port
quarantine and prevention and control of invasive alien species®.

Under the nationwide support of “Three Rural Issues” policy, the Group
will integrate offline physical agricultural produce exchange markets
and build an online agricultural produce exchange big data cloud
platform. By fully displaying the advantages of the physical network in
China and applying modern technology to manage five aspects: traffic,
mobility, logistics, information flow and capital flow, a new generation of
agricultural product supply chain logistics center will be upgraded and
transformed with offline physical operation plus online smart agricultural
wholesale combined.

In the era of electronic settlement transactions and big data, the
informatization construction of agricultural produce exchange markets
has been implemented. The Group has gradually improved the market
rate mechanism by accurately grasping the actual transaction and
business conditions of operators. In the long term, the Group will
transform the traditional agricultural wholesale markets from a profit
model that only charges fixed rent to one that mainly charges transaction
commissions, which is able to drive market scale more flexibly and
effectively as well as maintain profit growth.

Looking forward, the Group adheres to a business philosophy of
“dedicated to developing agriculture with sincere in serving agriculture”
and continues to invest in corporate resources, fully supporting the
nationwide construction of “the vegetable basket (3£ -F)” and “the
rice bag CK&2F)” for the communal engineering project. Through
digitalization as the core means to ensure food safety as the primary
responsibility, along with smart agricultural wholesale as the orientation
of upgrade and transformation, high-quality and stable business
performance as well as the broad prospects of sustainable growth, it will
bring reasonable returns to shareholders.

2 http://www.moa.gov.cn/ztzl/jj2021zyyhwj/zxgz_26476/202102/
120210221_6361865.htm
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to promoting sustainable business
development. During the Year, the Company participated in the “Charity
Love Tooth Day” and “Charity Green Knowledge Day” organized by
the Hong Kong Community Chest, to support the disadvantaged and
vulnerable groups in the community by raising funds for the Hong Kong
Community Chest while taking care of the staff’s health and promoting
environmental awareness. In mainland China, the Group has donated
vegetables, cooking oil, rice and other daily necessities to government
units, frontline anti-epidemic personnel from hospitals, as wells as
schools and residents of affected areas, being the back-up support for
the public to fight against COVID-19 pandemic. The Group has also
made donations in cash and in kind in response to the call of the rural
areas, making continuous contribution to poverty alleviation in China. In
addition, the Group'’s mission is to protect the environment and maintain
ecological balance. The development and operation of the agricultural
produce exchange markets strictly comply with the environmental
protection laws and regulations of the PRC, while actively promoting
environmental awareness among employees and suppliers.

Please refer to the environmental, social and governance report to be
published by the Company for details of the Group’s environmental
protection, social and governance related work during 2020 to 2021.

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my sincere gratitude to the Company’s
shareholders, bondholders, business partners and customers for their
continued trust and support. Meanwhile, | would like to take this
opportunity to thank my fellow board members, the management
team and staff members at all levels for sticking together through thick
and thin over the past year. | especially appreciate the frontline staff's
dedication and commitment to their posts throughout the critical times
of COVID-19 pandemic.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2021
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China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

Turnover, gross profit and segment result

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Year”), the Group recorded a
turnover of approximately HK$651 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$440 million as compared to that of the last financial
period for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 (the “Period”). The
below table summarises the key financial performance of the Group:

PR RERE

EERE - BN RO EEE

BT —F=A=T—HLFE(XFE])
NS B 4715 & KB4 651,000,000 78 7T © #%_E—5F
BHMEE T -_TF=_A=+—HBI+EM@EA
([EZHAR) B 2 49 440,000,000/8 7T - KEE 2 £
LEBRBHAMAT -

For the year ended For the fifteen months ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
BZE-Z--F=ZA=t+-H BE-Z-ZF=A=+—H
LFE ETREA
Agricultural Agricultural
Produce Produce
Exchange Exchange
Market Property Market Property
Operation Sales Total Operation Sales Total
HK$ million and BEETR ReEEER ReBEm
approximate % BHES T ReEmE  YEHE B  RHME WEEE FEE
Tumnover o < 418 233 651 468 623 1,091
Gross Profit =5 275 77 352 342 197 539
Segment Result DEEE 168 62 230 251 86 337
Gross Profit to Turnover EREEEE AL 66% 33% 54% 73% 32% 49%
Segment Result to Turnover D HEENEEHEZ B DL 40% 27% 35% 54% 14% 31%

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$651 million for the
Year, representing a decrease of approximately 40% as compared to
approximately HK$1,091 million of the Period, which was mainly due to
the decrease in property sales recognition and the extra three months
of reporting data for the Period. The Group recorded a gross profit and
a segment result of approximately HK$352 million and approximately
HK$230 million, respectively, for the Year (Period ended 31 March 2020:
approximately HK$539 million and approximately HK$337 million,
respectively), representing a decrease of approximately 35% and a
decrease of approximately 32%, respectively, as compared to that of the
Period. The decrease in gross profit and segment result was mainly due
to the decrease in property sales recognition and the extra three months
of reporting data for the Period.

Other revenue and other net income

The Group recorded other revenue and other net income of
approximately HK$41 million for the Year (Period ended 31 March 2020:
approximately HK$20 million). The increase was mainly due to the
government grant and subsidies.

INE B A AT E 8215 & F %6 49651,000,000 7 7T
% HARE 49 1,091,000,000 7 7T A 40 40% - E B H
PR MEEE R MZEBZ H = A A REE
BATE - AEBMARARFEEESEFRDBEES T
#7352,000,000 7 7T I 49 230,000,000 /8 7T (HE—-F
ZEF=R=+—H18M : 5 51%539,000,000
77T I #337,000,000 78 7T) © 5% B 2 B4
35% SR #)32% o X RS HEERDEZBR
BHERNWEHERDUARZPEZH @A RS
HURFTER

Eoh g R F A S
REBRAFE GG E A R EAF AL
41,000,000/ (B2 -_FF=-A=+—HI
BAfE - 920,000,000 7T) + 3G HNE 2 A BT
B B FTER ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gain on litigation judgment

The Group recorded gain on litigation judgment of approximately
HK$661 million for the Year (Period ended 31 March 2020: nil). This is
resulting from the verdict of Wuhan market legal cases as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 18 January 2021, details of which
have been disclosed in the section headed “Litigation” in this annual
report and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

General and administrative expenses, selling expenses and
finance costs

General and administrative expenses were approximately HK$157
million for the Year (Period ended 31 March 2020: approximately HK$200
million). The decrease was mainly due to the extra three months of
reporting data for the Period. Selling expenses were approximately
HK$31 million for the Year (Period ended 31 March 2020: approximately
HK$97 million). The decrease in selling expenses was mainly due to the
decrease in sales and promotion activities during the Year. Finance costs
were approximately HK$157 million for the Year (Period ended 31 March
2020: approximately HK$227 million), and such decrease was mainly due
to the early repayments of the convertible notes during the Year and
decrease in interest-bearing debt as compared to the Period.

Loss on Early Redemption of Convertible Notes

The Group recorded loss on early redemption of convertible notes (the
“Convertible Notes") of approximately HK$5 million for the Year (Period
ended 31 March 2020: nil). The increase in loss was mainly due to the
Company partially redeemed the Convertible Notes in the principal
amount of HK$130 million on 9 December 2020.

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables and loan receivables

The Group recorded allowance for expected credit losses on trade and
other receivables and loan receivables of approximately HK$43 million
for the Year (Period ended 31 March 2020: approximately HK$7 million).
The increase was mainly due to the recognition of the long aged trade
and other receivables and loan receivables.

Net loss in fair value of investment properties and written down
of stock of properties

During the Year, net loss in fair value of investment properties was
approximately HK$14 million (Period ended 31 March 2020: net gain in
fair value of investment properties of approximately HK$149 million).
The net loss was mainly due to decrease in fair value of Kaifeng Hongjin
Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Kaifeng Market”) and
Xuzhou Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Xuzhou
Market”). Stock of properties value was written down for approximately
HK$2 million for the Year (Period ended 31 March 2020: approximately
HK$3 million) mainly due to written down of stock of properties of
Huai'an Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Huai’an
Market”).

EEENWR DA

SFEAHR 7 W Es

INE B A AT E G SR A AR EE 4 661,000,000
B (BEZSZEF=A=+—H L@ &) -
AR AREBAZZE—F—A+N\BZA
R EABAREMIZEEFALERAE - B
BB DR ANE R [FF7a] — B0 AR S I IS s R Mo
36 FE o

—REITHFS  SHEFRX REEKRAR

N [E — B R AT S 49 157,000,000 78 7T (B =
—E-FF=A=+—H 18 : 47200,000,000
B RO EZHNZBMEZEH =@ AHREE
BATEN o AN Z 855 F 2. 4931,000,000 8 7T (Bl E
—E-EF=A=+—H 18 : 497,000,000
B HERX RO EZHRAFEHE R
J& & B 2 BT B o ARG 2 @b & B AN 49 157,000,000
BLTEHE-ZE-_ZF=-A=+—HLHEHE: %
227,000,000 7T) * P EBBRRAFERTE
BN EIE A AT B E B BRI D FTEL -

IR ER IR EREE
AEBRAFEHSRFBEOTRBRZE ([T
REE]) EI8450000008 T EHE-T-_TF
EH =+ —HILLHHE: 8 ZBBEMNBERA
NEAIR—_E_EF+_ANBHAHPELAEES
130,000,000 7 7T 89 A] AR = IR AT BN

H 5 M H A EYCGRIR A K R W S TR 2 TRER(E
SEEEE
REBNAFEIRGE 5 K HAh B YRR IA KB

ER 2B AE BB 18R 40 43,000,000 7 T (BL &
ZE-FF=F=+—HIEHHE : 47,000,000
T0) e M IMEZ AR ERRRENE S REME
WOFRIE LA K2 FEUR BT SR ER o

BREME RN HEFEE MY EFE MR

RAFE - REWMELFE 2 FEEX 14,000,000
BLEEZZ-TF=-A=+—HBILHH: &E
IR TE 2 JF U5 49 149,000,000 8 7T) © FIETE
TEARFAHNRERBERR TS ([BEHE])
RN ERERBEMR TS ((BMNTH) 22
B AT B o AN E W) 24T B (B B4 2,000,000
BILBEMR BEZE_EF=-A=1+—HI1H
fEl © £93,000,000%7T) © £ 2 ERMUBEL 2R
BIEMR SIS (DERWE]) 2 WMEFERHE -

15



16

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

Loss on fair value change of derivative financial instruments

During the Year, net loss in fair value of derivative financial instruments
was approximately HK$0.3 million (Period ended 31 March 2020:
approximately HK$2 million). The decrease of the net loss was due to the
approaching of the due date of the Convertible Notes.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year
was approximately HK$490 million as compared to the profit of
approximately HK$6 million in the Period. Profit from operations before
fair value changes and impairment, interest and tax was approximately
HK$866 million and the profit from operations was approximately
HK$802 million for the Year (Period ended 31 March 2020: approximately
HK$261 million and approximately HK$399 million, respectively). The
increase in profit attributable to owners of the Company was mainly
due to gain on litigation judgment resulting from the verdict of Wuhan
market legal case and a decrease in finance costs by early repayment of
Convertible Notes during the Year and decrease in interest-bearing debt
as compared to the Period.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend any payment of final dividend for the
Year (Period ended 31 March 2020: Nil). No interim dividend was paid to
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) during the years
2020 and 2019.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in management and
sales of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC.
Since May 2020, the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (the “COVID-19") was
gradually brought under control and our market operation restored to
pre-pandemic level.
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WUHAN BAISAZHOU Market
= DAV

\|

Agricultural Produce Exchange Markets

Hubei Province
Wuhan Baisazhou Market

Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Wuhan Baisazhou Market”) is one of the largest agricultural produce
exchange operators in the PRC. Wuhan Baisazhou Market is situated
in the Hongshan District of Wuhan City, the PRC with a site area of
approximately 310,000 square metres and a total gross floor area of
approximately 190,000 square metres. In 2020, Wuhan Baisazhou Market
was awarded top 10 of agricultural produce exchange market by China
Agricultural Wholesale Market Association. The award was a sign to the
market contribution being made by the Group's effort and expertise as
an agricultural produce exchange market operator in the PRC.

During the Year, the market related legal disputes have come to a
positive outcome. For details, please refer to the section headed
“Litigation” in this report and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 significantly affected the market
performance of Wuhan Baisazhou Market in early 2020. When the
epidemic began, the Wuhan local government limited the market
operation scale as a control measure which lasted until late April 2020,
and resumed normal operation afterwards. Wuhan Baisazhou Market
was titled “An Outstanding Enterprise in Contributing to the Epidemic
Prevention and Control and Supply Guarantee in Wuhan” by the Supplies
Security Section under the Wuhan's Epidemic Prevention and Control
Division for its remarkable contributions towards “supply guarantee”.

2021 Annual Report
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HUANGSHI Market
VSN

Huangshi Market

Huangshi Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Huangshi Market”) is a joint venture project of the Group founded
in January 2015 with an operating area of approximately 23,000 square
metres. Huangshi city is a county level city in Hubei and around 100
kilometres away from Wuhan Baisazhou Market. Huangshi Market, as a
second-tier agricultural produce exchange market, created synergy effect
with Wuhan Baisazhou Market, facilitating vegetables and by-products
trading. During the Year, the operation turnover of Huangshi Market was
approximately HK$6 million.
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SUIZHOU Market
BE I T 35

Suizhou Market &IN5

Suizhou Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market BEMBAPNERIERXZ SIS ([BMNTHH]) AA%E
(“Suizhou Market”) is another joint venture project of the Group BR-ZT—\F=ZARIHR—EEEER - 15t
founded in March 2018. It occupied approximately 240,000 square  %J240,000F 5 K o REB R G E LB EKE
metres. The Group pursued asset-light operation business model by = ' BBEES AN EEE AL LEZ NS - RAF
taking up the contract management rights to operate this market. During [ ' BEMNTISAELRIBEFRAELEFIEER -
the Year, the operation performance of Suizhou Market improved and

grew gradually.
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I\.UOYANG Market
& P55

Henan Province

Luoyang Market

Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Luoyang Market”) is the flagship project of the Group in Henan
Province, the PRC, with a site area and a gross floor area of approximately
255,000 square metres and approximately 223,000 square metres,
respectively. The business performance of Luoyang Market was
satisfactory. The turnover decreased approximately 71% due to the
decrease of properties sale recognition during the Year as compared to
that of the Period.
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PUYANG Market
LS T %

Puyang Market EG TS

Puyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Puyang IS 7REZBERR 5 M5 (EEHH]) 2 ML
Market”) is one of our joint venture projects in cooperation with a local ~FFEUA RS B HEHEASIENA LA 2— » RAF
partner in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Year, Puyang Market € * M55 EEHT AT IE A HZIES - ARAF
faced a keen competition from a new market. The market turnover for E¥ZEEEMNERR D - TIHEEBEZ AR
the Year decreased approximately 22% due to the decrease of properties ~ #]22% ©

sale recognition during the Year as compared to that of the Period.
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KAIFENG Market
GEShiE

Kaifeng Market

Kaifeng Market, with a gross floor construction area of approximately
120,000 square metres, is the Group's third market operation point for
the facilitation of the building of an agricultural produce market network
in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Year, the turnover of Kaifeng
Market improved approximately 499% due to the closure of competitive
wholesale market in Kaifeng as compared to that of the Period.

B TS

HEMS 2 BEEmMIEL 120,000 F 5K - BAE
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YULIN Market
R NTIR

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region J=Piipnn = D=
Yulin Market FEHTS

Yulin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Yulin  EMZE#ERBIERRSMES ([EMHH)) 2FHE
Market”) is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange markets FUftE AR ((EBEBE]) SANEERX HTE
in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC (“Guangxi Region”) <~ — (L EIFE49415,000 F 7K R AR AL
with a site area of approximately 415,000 square metres and a total 196,000 F 5K - RANEE » EMTIHH L EEER
gross floor area of approximately 196,000 square metres. The turnover %2R NBA%)54% * YRR IEHERR T -

of Yulin Market was decreased approximately 54% due to the decrease

of properties sale recognition during the Year as compared to that of the

Period.
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QINZHOU Market
TN T 5

Qinzhou Market

Qinzhou Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Qinzhou Market”), with a gross floor construction area of
approximately 180,000 square metres, is the Group’s second market
operation point for the facilitation of the building of an agricultural
produce market network in the Guangxi Region. During the Year, the
Group focused on enhancing the operation performance of Qinzhou
Market and it resulted in a decrease of approximately 5% in operation
turnover as compared to that of the Period.

HIM s
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XL{ZHOU Market
RN

\|

Jiangsu Province TERE
Xuzhou Market RINTTS

Xuzhou Market occupies approximately 200,000 square metres and is 15N 13515 1549 200,000 F 75 K » (i BT 854
located in the northern part of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The operation  1t&f  BINTISAE L RIBE -
performance of Xuzhou Market was steady.

25
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HUAI'AN Market
HEZZ %

Huai’an Market

Huai'an Market, with contracted operating area of approximately 100,000
square metres, is located at Huai'an City of Jiangsu Province, the PRC.
Phase one of Huai'an Market had been in operation since October 2015
and it is expected that the performance of Huai'an Market will gradually
improve after the market becomes more mature. During the Year,
the Company is under a legal dispute with the joint venture partner,
details of which were disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

JEZ T
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PANJIN Market
B2 IR %

Liaoning Province
Panjin Market

Phase one of Panjin Market, with a construction area of around 50,000
square metres, is the Group's first attempt in investment in Liaoning
Province, the PRC. Panjin Market focused on the trading of river crabs
and held regular market fairs. During the Year, the performance of Panjin
Market was steady.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

E-commerce development

With the robust mobile network and widespread use of intelligent
mobile devices in the PRC, the Group allocated cost effective resources to
e-commerce development. The Group would also explore opportunities
to cooperate with other business partners or study to set up new
e-commerce development team in this area.

Cyber risk and security

With information technology system and internet network playing a
vital role in our operation, the Group has designated professionals to
monitor and assess potential cyber risks. Both hardware and software are
kept track with appropriate Company’s policies. Potential cyber risks and
network security are the key concerns of management, thus the Group
has formulated policies and procedures to regulate the use of internet,
physically safeguard system power supply and regularly update internet
protection system and firewall to separate the Company’s intranet from
the outside network. Designated professionals are responsible for the
day-to-day monitoring on any abnormal network activities.

Data fraud or theft risk

The Group continuously reviews and updates its internal control
system on data and information access. Appropriate policies have been
adopted to protect data, and access permissions are only granted to
the authorised personnel. Management believes effective policies and
procedures are in place to avoid data fraud or theft risk.

Environmental and social risk

Due to the nature of business, the Company will face a moderate
environmental risk if serious and permanent climate change happens
in the PRC. Such risk may cause an adverse impact on agricultural
production and affect the Company’s turnover from market operation
and property sales.

COVID-19 outbreak

During the COVID-19 epidemic, the PRC government have imposed
various measures to constraint the spread of the virus. These included
limiting the locomotion of people and vehicles and strengthening
the markets hygiene controls. These measures lowered the market
trading activities and related commission income. Since agri-products
exchange market is a critical link on daily necessaries supply chain, the
local governments closely monitored markets’ operation and assisted
the operation back to normal via different measures. These included
reducing governmental fees and taxes, and compensating business loss
during the epidemic. As the epidemic began to be under control since
early 2020, the trading volume and income of our markets have been
gradually restored to normal level.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RECLASSIFICATION OF INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES TO STOCK OF PROPERTIES

During the Year, the Group has reclassified the investment properties of
Luoyang Market to stock of properties in the amount of approximately
HK$0.6 million due to the change of sale plan and business strategy to
increase sale of properties.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had total cash and cash equivalents
amounting to approximately HK$425 million (31 March 2020:
approximately HK$340 million) whilst total assets and net assets
were approximately HK$5,584 million (31 March 2020: approximately
HK$5,139 million) and approximately HK$2,206 million (31 March 2020:
approximately HK$1,485 million), respectively. The Group’s gearing
ratio as at 31 March 2021 was approximately 0.4 (31 March 2020:
approximately 1.0), being a ratio of total bank and other borrowings,
bond and promissory notes of approximately HK$1,371 million (31 March
2020: approximately HK$1,811 million), net of cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$425 million (31 March 2020: approximately HK$340
million) to shareholders’ funds of approximately HK$2,206 million
(31 March 2020: approximately HK$1,485 million).

As at 31 March 2021, the ratio of total interest-bearing debts of
approximately HK$1,371 million (31 March 2020: approximately
HK$1,811 million) to total assets of approximately HK$5,584 million
(31 March 2020: approximately HK$5,139 million) was approximately
25% (31 March 2020: approximately 35%).

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 19 October 2016, the Company issued the Convertible Notes with
the aggregate principal amount of HK$500 million which will mature on
18 October 2021, which entitle the holders to convert into the shares of
the Company (the “Share(s)”) at a conversion price of HK$0.4 per Share.
During the Year, no Convertible Notes were converted into Shares by the
Convertible Notes’ holders. On 9 December 2020, the Company partially
redeemed the Convertible Notes in the principal amount of HK$130
million. As at 31 March 2021, there were outstanding Convertible Notes
in the principal amount of HK$134.8 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

LISTED NOTES DUE IN 2024 (THE “LISTED
NOTES")

In May 2014, the Company established a HK$1,000 million medium term
note program. The Listed Notes issued under the program are listed on
the Stock Exchange by way of debt issue to professional investors only
(stock code: 5755). As at 31 March 2021, the Listed Notes in the principal
amount of HK$290 million remained outstanding.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS, PLEDGES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, outstanding capital commitments, contracted
but not provided for, amounted to approximately HK$241 million (31
March 2020: approximately HK$398 million) in relation to the purchase
of property, plant and equipment, construction contracts and operating
lease agreements. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had significant
contingent liabilities in the amount of approximately HK$27,000 in
relation to the guarantees provided by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company to our customers in favor of a bank for the loans provided by
the bank to the customers of our project (31 March 2020: approximately
HK$0.6 million).

As at 31 March 2021, certain investment properties and stock of
properties with carrying amount of approximately HK$1,405 million
(31 March 2020: approximately HK$1,633 million for land use right and
properties) were pledged to secure certain bank borrowings.

The Group did not have any outstanding foreign exchange contracts,
interest or currency swaps or other financial derivatives as at 31 March
2021. The revenue, operating costs and bank deposits of the Group
were mainly denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and Hong Kong dollars.
The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign currency risks mainly
arising from its operations in mainland China and certain bank deposits
denominated in RMB. Currently, the Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. During the Year, due to the currency fluctuation
of RMB against Hong Kong dollars, the Group had been considering, from
time to time, alternative risk hedging tools to mitigate RMB currency
exchange risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DEBT PROFILES AND FINANCIAL PLANNING

As at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, interest-bearing debts of the
Group were analyzed as follows:

EEENWR DA

BN K T35 8

R-E-_—F=A=+—BR-_ZT_ZFF=A
=t+—R  AKEWFTEEHOTIOT :

As at 31 March 2021
R-B-—$=A=+—H

As at 31 March 2020
RZZZFF=A=+—H

Approximate Approximate

Carrying effective Carrying effective

amount interest rate amount interest rate

HKS$ million (per annum) HK$ million (per annum)

IREE BOBERA= BREE BIAERRE

BEET (B%F) BEET (B4)

Bond Issuance EITES 196 12% 177 12%

Convertible Notes AR SRR 131 12% 247 12%

Financial Institution Borrowings & BB (EE 444 6% 411 6%

Non-financial Institution FEMMERE

Borrowings 600 10% 600 10%

Promissory Notes HER - 0% 376 5%
Total st 1,371 1,811

Note:

Save as the financial institution borrowings which were made in RMB with floating
and fixed interest rates, other items as mentioned in the above table were made in
Hong Kong dollars with fixed interest rates.

As at 31 March 2021, the bonds issued by the Company will mature in
September 2024; the Convertible Notes will mature in October 2021;
the financial institution borrowings of the Company will mature during
the period from May 2021 to May 2029; the non-financial institution
borrowings of the Company will mature in September 2022; and the
holders of the promissory notes gave an undertaking not to indorse,
assign, transfer or negotiate the promissory notes and enforce payment
by presentation of the promissory notes until the final determination
of a court action or further court order. Under the said undertaking, the
promissory notes will no longer fall due for payment by the Company on
5 December 2012. During the Year, the promissory notes related legal
cases had come to a positive outcome, please refer to the section headed
“Litigation” in this report and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report for details. As such, the total carrying
amount of the promissory notes will be reversed as other income
mentioned above. Details of the undertaking and the court case were
also disclosed in the section headed “Litigation” in this report and note
36 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

it

BRARBZSHBBEERIPLETSERAEIN - £

KIBUL R EADIE B ABTTREE S EFH o
WZZ-_—F=R=+—H" K"ﬂ?ﬁ?ﬁﬁ’]ﬁ%ﬂ%
R-Z-MFENARE  AREREEEN =
FHAZE: AR Tinﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ#ﬁ_?_ F

HAZZZ-NFHABEEE  AAFES Bk
%F%h\_gziiﬂHU% AR EERFE
ANEBETEFRAEBRES - 2 E@dEmkt
o fl| RN H EA R ZEREMARE . E2ARFR
EREHRSE—TER TS AL - IRIE Eill&
o ARRTBERZE—ZFT_AREEARE
BEERIR - RAFE - AAEBRABNEER
HEEMBEEKER  BHEFBEREL2BEREEF
wﬁ‘—%&$¢ﬁW2mAﬁﬁﬁ$W£% &

CEAHEREEAERE A LI EMEA - B
%%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁZ%ﬂﬁEF$ﬁ¢¢mﬁ\—%
RAFIR 2 IRE P IEIREN T 36 1R o

31



32

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

TREASURY POLICY

The Group's treasury policy includes diversifying the funding sources.
Internally generated cash flow and interest-bearing bank/non-financial
institution loans were the general sources of funds to finance the
operation of the Group during the Year. The Group regularly reviews
its major funding positions to ensure that it has adequate financial
resources in meeting its financial obligations. In order to meet interest-
bearing debts and business capital expenditure, the Group from
time to time considers various alternatives including equity and debt
financing including but not limited to new share placing, rights issues
of new shares, financial institution borrowings, non-financial institution
borrowings, bonds issuance, convertible notes, other debt financial
instruments, disposal of investment properties and sales of stock of
properties.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENT OF
E-COMMERCE BUSINESS

Shenzhen Gudeng Technology Limited (“Shenzhen Gudeng”),
established in 2015, was an indirectly-owned subsidiary of the Group
carrying out the business of e-commerce and electronic trading platform
of the Group. For the compliance of the PRC regulatory requirements,
on 11 July 2016, the Group entered into an agreement to transfer its
entire interest in Shenzhen Gudeng to a nominee shareholder and
further entered into a series of contractual arrangements after obtaining
the Internet Content Provider license issued by the Communication
Authority of Guangdong Province to enable the Group to manage and
operate the Internet Content Provider services of Shenzhen Gudeng.
During the Year, the above said contractual arrangements were still valid
and effective between the nominee shareholder and the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL VALUATION METHOD OF
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND REVIEW OF
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The investment properties of the Group were stated at fair value as at
31 March 2021. The fair value was arrived at based on the valuations
carried out by an independent firm of qualified professional valuers.
The professional valuers are professional members of The Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with experience in the location of the properties
being valued. The valuations are confirmed to be in accordance with
HKIS Valuation Standards 2017, which incorporates the International
Valuation Standards (IVS). The professional valuers valued the investment
properties on the basis of capitalisation of the net income derived from
properties rental and made reference to the asking or transaction price
of market comparable. For inventory portions of the properties, Direct
Comparison Method is adopted based on the principle of substitution,
where comparison is made based on prices realised on actual sales
and/or asking prices of comparable properties. Comparable properties
of similar size, scale, maturity, character and location are analysed
and carefully weighed against all the respective advantages and
disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of
market value.

The material valuation methods of investment properties valuation have
been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) and the Board.

EEENWR DA

BREMENERMGELTEZREFLE
BEENEH

RIZE-—F=A=1+—H AEENREMEIA
RNFEIR - AFEDER —FEBELAEREERM
EMEBIMETHNHERETE - EXGEMREER
EBRMEEEXNKE  YABEGLEMEREL Z(EE
B HMRAENSBRENEMEE _T— L5
BEEA (B BERMEERER) - EXRGEERMAREY
FHSFWRANENMCAESE WS EAELLERT
BHREXXZEHREYEETHE - HOEDN
FEHIME - AREZSRRARAERLEL -
BHARERHEEERNERR LA ELERDE
MER(EEITILE - HEBLUKN - BR - Bl 5
B MBI ELLEMEETON - UFHAEES
WMEZBS  NEHEEHRFLLER -

ARAEZEZEE ((BREEE)) REZECEMN
BREMEBENEXGEETE

33



34

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO OUR INDUSTRY
AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group operated 11 agricultural produce
exchange markets across 5 provinces in the PRC. In view of the ever-
changing business environment in the PRC, the following risks are
the principal risks, challenges and uncertainties faced by the Group,
including: (1) fluctuation in the exchange rate of RMB against Hong Kong
dollars, which affects the translation of the PRC assets and liabilities from
RMB to Hong Kong dollars in the Group’s financial reporting, in view of
which the Group periodically monitor the exchange rate fluctuation, and
prepare effective hedging mechanism to tackle when adverse condition
happens; (2) difficulty in obtaining adequate financing, including equity
and debt financing, to support our agri-products exchange markets that
are capital intensive, in view of which the Group regularly reviews the
short-term and long-term liquidity level to prepare for the future needs,
as and when appropriate; (3) preserving or enhancing our competitive
position in the agri-products exchange markets industry, in view of
which the Group has designated personnel to monitor our competitors’
activities and formulate effective strategies to preserve our competitive
position; (4) maintaining or enhancing the level of occupancy at our agri-
products exchange markets, in view of which the Group launches, from
time to time, various marketing campaigns to retain existing tenants and
to attract new tenants; (5) obtaining all necessary licenses and permits
for the development, construction, operations and acquisition of agri-
products exchange markets, in view of which the Group hires sufficient
local staff with professional qualifications to ensure all processes
comply with local laws and regulations; (6) the effect of changes and
amendments in the national and local laws and regulations, especially
the laws and regulations relating to agri-products exchange markets, on
the Group's operations and development, in view of which the Group
maintains a relatively flat organizational structure with high autonomy
to enable fast reaction to changes; and (7) the effect of close down
agricultural produce exchange market when COVID-19 may probably
break out in our markets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DEPENDENCE OF EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

As the Group is adopting market remuneration practices by reference to
market terms, company performance, and individual qualifications and
performance and well-organized structure management, no key and
specific employee would materially and significantly affect the Group'’s
success. Meanwhile, there were no major customers and suppliers which
accounted for over 5% of the Group’s income and no major suppliers
which cannot be replaced by other appropriate suppliers. In this
connection, no customers and suppliers would have material impact on
the success of the Group's business performance.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The operations and development of agri-products exchange markets
are subject to a variety of environmental laws and regulations during
their construction and operations. Major environmental impacts are
caused by waste and wastewater generated during the construction
and operations of the markets. The Group has, in compliance with
the PRC environmental law, engaged independent environmental
consultants to conduct environmental impact assessments on all of
our construction projects in all material aspects. The environmental
investigations conducted to date have not revealed any environmental
liability that would be expected to have a material adverse effect on our
business condition. Upon completion of construction of each market,
the environmental authorities inspect the site to ensure compliance
with all applicable environmental standards. All our construction
projects comply with the “three simultaneities” principles stipulated in
the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC. For further details of the
impact of environmental laws and regulations on our operations and
our environmental policies, please refer to our Environmental, Social and
Governance Report to be published in compliance with the requirements
under the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEIREDT

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Group complied in material aspects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. The Company also complied
with the requirements under the Listing Rules, the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the laws of Bermuda during the Year. The Group
continuously reviews newly enacted laws and regulations affecting the
operations of the Group, if any, and provides relevant trainings and
guidance to the staff.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save for the subsidiaries of the Company, there was no significant
investment held, nor was there any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during the Year. As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have
a concrete plan for material investments or capital assets nor acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries.

LITIGATION

References were made to the announcements of the Company dated
11 January 2011, 22 May 2012, 19 June 2014, 4 July 2014, 13 January
2015, 14 January 2015, 28 May 2015, 8 January 2016, 11 January
2016, 24 May 2016, 31 August 2016, 19 April 2017, 11 May 2017,
27 December 2018, 11 March 2020 and 30 March 2021 in relation to
the civil proceedings (the “Legal Proceedings”) in the PRC initiated
by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang”) and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and
Commercial Development Co., Ltd (“Tian Jiu") as plaintiffs against the
Company as defendant and joined Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-
Product Grand Market Company Limited (“Baisazhou Agricultural”) as
third party and other related legal proceedings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu alleged that the share transfer agreements in
relation to the acquisition of an aggregate of 90% interest in Baisazhou
Agricultural by the Company from Ms. Wang as to 70% thereof and Tian
Jiu as to 20% thereof (the “Contended Agreements”) were forged. They
sought an order from the Higher People’s Court of Hubei Province, the
PRC (the “Hubei Court”) that the Contended Agreements were void
and invalid from the beginning and should be terminated and claimed
against the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural all relevant profits of
Baisazhou Agricultural which were attributable to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu,
together with costs of the Legal Proceedings.

The Company received the judgment from the Hubei Court in relation
to the Legal Proceedings (the “Hubei Court Judgment”) in June 2014.
By the Hubei Court Judgment, the Hubei Court dismissed the claims of
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu, and ordered Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu to bear the
legal costs of the Legal Proceedings. Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu filed an
appeal notice to the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC (the “Supreme
Court”). On 13 January 2015, the Company received the judgment (the
“Beijing Judgment”) handed down from the Supreme Court in relation
to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu’s appeal against the Hubei Court Judgment. The
Supreme Court ordered that (i) the Hubei Court Judgment be revoked; (ii)
the Contended Agreements were void; and (iii) acknowledged that the
HK$1,156 million sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA”) shall be the
actual agreement being performed by the Company, Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu.

In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu jointly commenced legal
proceedings against the Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM") of the
PRC alleging that MOFCOM failed to discharge its statutory duties for
handling their application submitted in January 2015 for revoking the
certificate of approval and letter of approval in relation to the Contended
Agreements (the “Application”). The cases were accepted by the Beijing
Second Intermediate People’s Court (the “Beijing Court”) in May 2015.
The Company and Baisazhou Agricultural then made an application to
join the cases as third party. On 8 January 2016, the Company received a
judgment dated 31 December 2015 issued by the Beijing Court, by which
the Beijing Court demanded MOFCOM to handle the Application again
within 30 days.

On 23 May 2016, the Company received a decision (the “Decision”)
issued by MOFCOM dated 19 May 2016 to the effect, among other
things, that its approval issued in November 2007 (the “Approval”) in
relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and shall
remain to be in force. In making the Decision, MOFCOM considered that
the revocation of the Approval as requested by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
may cause serious damage to the public interest.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Upon the making of the Decision by MOFCOM that the Approval shall
not be revoked and shall remain in force in August 2016, the Company
noted that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu had brought another administrative
proceedings (the “Administrative Proceedings”) to the Beijing
Court. According to a writ dated 3 August 2016, Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu requested the Beijing Court to revoke the Decision and to order
MOFCOM to make a decision to revoke the Approval. According to a
notice issued by the Beijing Court dated 26 August 2016 together with
the writ which was served to the Company on 30 August 2016, each of
the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural has been added as third party
by the Beijing Court to the Administrative Proceedings.

On 18 April 2017, the Company received the judgment of the Beijing
Court dated 31 March 2017 (the “31 March Judgment”) stating that the
request made by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu to revoke the Decision lacked
both legal and factual basis and was not supported by the Beijing Court.
Accordingly, the Beijing Court dismissed the application of Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu.

On 10 May 2017, the Company received a notice of appeal dated 8 May
2017 (the “Notice of Appeal”). By the Notice of Appeal, Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu appealed against the 31 March Judgment and requested for an
order that (a) the 31 March Judgment be set aside and (b) MOFCOM to
make a decision to revoke the Approval.

On 30 August 2017, the hearing for the appeal against the 31 March
Judgment took place. On 24 December 2018, the Company received the
judgment of the Beijing High People’s Court dated 20 December 2018
(the “20 December Judgment”). By the 20 December Judgment, the
Beijing High People’s Court dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu and upheld the ruling of the Beijing Court as set out in the 31 March
Judgment.

On 4 March 2020, the Company noted the judgment of the Supreme
Court dated 31 December 2019 (the “31 December Judgment”). By the
31 December Judgment, the Supreme Court dismissed the application
of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu for retrial and for dismissal of the 31 March
Judgment and the 20 December Judgment.

In other words, the approval issued by MOFCOM in November 2007 in
relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and remain
to be in force, and the Company continues to be the legal and beneficial
owner of Baisazhou Agricultural under the PRC Laws.

Separately, in May 2015, in view of the Beijing Judgment, the Company
issued a writ against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu which was accepted by the
Hubei Court. The Company sought an order from the Hubei Court that
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall assist Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge
its contractual duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing with
MOFCOM.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 10 May 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to the Hubei Court for
a freezing order in respect of the Company’s 70% interest in Baisazhou
Agricultural. According to the order of the Hubei Court dated 26 May
2017 (the “26 May Order”), the Hubei Court granted a freezing order
as against the Company’s 70% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural. The
Company then applied for review of the 26 May Order which was
dismissed by the Hubei Court on 12 June 2017.

On 26 May 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to add a counterclaim for
return of the Company’s 90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural (70% for
Ms. Wang and 20% for Tian Jiu). On 10 April 2019, in light of the outcome
of the legal proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu, the
Company applied to the Hubei Court for withdrawal of the Company’s
claim. On 11 April 2019, the application of the Company was granted by
the Hubei Court.

According to the judgment of the Hubei Court dated 23 December 2019
(the “23 December Judgment”), the counterclaim made by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu was dismissed by the Hubei Court.

According to the notice of appeal dated 19 January 2020, Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu appealed against the 23 December Judgment to the Supreme
Court and requested for an order from the Supreme Court that (a) the
23 December Judgment be set aside and (b) return of the Company’s
90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural (70% for Ms. Wang and 20% for
Tian Jiu).

On 29 March 2021, the Company received the judgment of the Supreme
Court dated 29 December 2020 (the “29 December Judgment”) stating
that the appeal basis of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu could not be established
and was not supported by the Supreme Court. Accordingly, the Supreme
Court dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu and upheld the
23 December Judgment. The 29 December Judgment is final.

As advised by the PRC legal advisors of the Company, according to the
23 December Judgment and the 29 December Judgment, the Company
continues to be the legal owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

For other detailed information of the litigation cases, please refer to note
36 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

On or about 24 October 2011, the Company issued a Writ of Summons
in the Hong Kong Court of First Instance (the “HK Court”) against
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. The Company (as purchaser) sought damages
from Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their breach of various
provisions of the SPA regarding the acquisition of the interest in
Baisazhou Agricultural.
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On 18 January 2021, the Court handed down a judgment (“HK
Judgment”). Pursuant to the HK Judgment, the Court ruled, inter alia,
that (i) Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall pay to the Company damages in
the total sum of RMB510,000,001; (ii) the Company is entitled to set-
off an amount of HK$54,211,000 from the sum due by the Company
to Ms. Wang under one of the Instruments (as defined hereinafter); (iii)
as the quantum of the award of damages to the Company is greater
than the amounts due under the two instruments (the “Instruments”)
purportedly described as promissory notes issued by the Company to
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as part of consideration for the SPA, Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu are not allowed to enforce the Instruments against the Company.
In the circumstances, the Company is not required to make any payment
under the Instruments to Ms. Wang or Tian Jiu.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Disposal of equity interest in a non-wholly owned subsidiary

Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2021, on 18 June 2021, Century
Choice Limited (“Century Choice”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and a substantial shareholder (the “PRC Shareholder”) of
FMAEREERMIETSER AT (Yulin Hongjin Agricultural By-
products Wholesale Marketplace Limited (“Yulin Hongjin")) entered
into an agreement in relation to the reduction of registered capital
contribution of Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin. Pursuant to the
agreement, the PRC Shareholder waived its entitlement to the dividend
declared by Yulin Hongjin for the financial year ended 31 December
2020 in the amount of approximately RMB117 million and directed
the same to be paid to Century Choice, and the amount of registered
capital contribution by Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin was reduced by
an amount equal to approximately RMB41.9 million. As a result of such
reduction of registered capital contribution, the CAP Group’s equity
interest in Yulin Hongjin was decreased from 65% to 51%. Details of the
capital reduction were disclosed in the joint announcement of, inter alia,
the Company dated 18 June 2021.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 1,151 employees (31 March 2020:
1,171), approximately 98% of whom were located in the PRC. The Group's
remuneration policy was reviewed periodically by the remuneration
committee of the Company and the Board’s remuneration is determined
by reference to market terms, company performance, and individual
qualifications and performance. The Group aimed to recruit, retain and
develop competent individuals who were committed to the Group’s
long-term success and growth. Remunerations and other benefits
of employees were reviewed annually in response to both market
conditions and trends, and were based on qualifications, experience,
responsibilities and performance. The Company has adopted a share
option scheme on 3 May 2012 for the primary purpose of providing
incentive to selected eligible persons to take up options for their
contribution to the Group. During the Year, no share option was granted.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS

During the Year, the tension between the PRC and the United States
has slowed down the economic growth. However, such friction has little
impact on the Group’s operation which is mainly focused on domestic
market. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to build a nationwide
agricultural produce exchange network by leveraging on its leading
position in the industry, readily replicable business model, well-advanced
management system, information technology infrastructure and quality
customer services.

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19, all of our agricultural produce
exchange markets have upgraded the facilities and fixtures to keep up
with the stringent health and hygiene measures imposed by the local
governments. On one side, this increased our operation cost; on the
other side, this raised our competitive edges against many local and less-
sophisticated competitors. In conclusion, the industry steps towards
a more regulated business environment where only well-organized
enterprises can survive and grow.

Once again, agricultural development is the PRC central government’s
first priority policy for the next consecutive years. In 2021, the Central
Committee of Communist Party of China and the State Council of China
released the “No. 1 Central Document of 2021”. The document promises
to promote investments in agricultural produce markets, expand
agricultural produce network, build logistic infrastructure and storage
facilities of agricultural products and improve regional cold storage
infrastructure. On the other hand, it is expected that the “Belt and Road
Initiative” policy will drive the overall growth of the PRC economy and
provide a sustainable way for the PRC’s continuing development.

In order to capture new business opportunities, the Group has taken
further steps to expand its operations in the PRC by cooperating with
different partners with “asset-light” strategy. Taking the advantage of its
leading position in the industry, the Group is confident that this strategy
and business model will deliver long-term benefits to the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Sui Wah, Raymond, aged 53, joined the Group as an
executive director of the Group in June 2010. Mr. Leung is also the chief
executive officer, an authorised representative, the company secretary of
the Company, the chairman of the executive committee and a member
of the nomination committee of the Company, and the chief executive
officer of Hongjin Agri-Products Group Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, responsible for managing the agricultural
produce exchange market operation of the Group in the PRC. Mr.
Leung had over 28 years of experience in business operation, business
development, corporate governance, mergers and acquisitions in Hong
Kong and the PRC. He is a council member of the Chinese Agri-products
Marketing Association, which is the national leading association of the
agricultural wholesale markets in the PRC. He holds a Master Degree
in Business Administration and Master of Arts from The University of
Hong Kong and City University of Hong Kong, respectively. He is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute. He is
also a full member of Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply and
Certified Information Security Manager of Information Systems Audit and
Control Association.

Mr. YAU Yuk Shing, aged 57, joined the Group in April 2012 and was
appointed as an executive director of the Group in December 2012.
Mr. Yau is a member of the executive committee of the Company. He has
more than 26-year management experience in property development,
engineering and construction businesses. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Yau worked for certain companies with a wide spread of experience
in real estate industry and project management. Mr. Yau is a brother-in-
law of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the non-executive Director and the controlling
shareholder of the Company.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. TANG Ching Ho, GBS, JP, aged 59, joined the Group as a non-
executive director of the Group and the chairman of the board of
directors of the Company in February 2021. He is also an authorised
representative of the Company. Mr. Tang is a co-founder of Wang
On Group Limited (“WOG”"), which was established in 1987, and has
been the chairman of WOG since November 1993. He has extensive
experience in corporate management. He is also the chairman and
managing director of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (“"WYT”,
the Company is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of WYT which
in turn is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of WOG). Mr. Tang is
the committee member of the 12th and 13th National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”) and is also
appointed as a standing committee member and convener of the 10th
to 12th plenary sessions of the CPPCC Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region Committee. Mr. Tang is also appointed as the first executive
chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations and the chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen
Association. He is a controlling shareholder of the Company and the
brother-in-law of Mr. Yau Yuk Shing, an executive Director.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. NG Yat Cheung, JP, aged 65, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director in February 2009. He is a member
of each of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. On 16 March 2012, Mr. Ng
was also appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee
of the Company. He holds an associate degree in arts in business data
processing from Chabot College in the United States. He holds offices
as a director with a number of private companies which are principally
engaged in technology, property development, insurance, finance and
property holding. Mr. Ng is an independent non-executive director of
Tao Heung Holdings Limited, a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. LAU King Lung, aged 74, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2013. He is the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of each of the audit committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Lau has over 40
years' experience in planning, design and contracting of civil engineering
and building works in Hong Kong or the PRC. Mr. Lau is a chartered
engineer with his profession registration both in the United Kingdom
and Hong Kong. He remains a retirement member of The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers after his retirement. He participated in the design
of the initial systems of the Mass Transit Railway in Hong Kong after
his graduation from civil engineering department of Imperial College,
University of London for 6 years with Freeman Fox and Partners, London.
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Mr. WONG Ping Yuen, aged 47, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2018. He is the chairman of the
audit committee and a member of each of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong has been a
certified public accountant of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 2001, and obtained a Master Degree of Business
Administration from the University of Adelaide in August 2005. Mr. Wong
was appointed as a partner of ITA & Co. in 2009 and has changed to the
sole-proprietor of ITA & Co. since 2015. He has been a partner of SRF
Partners & Co. since 2014.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHIER Ping Cheung, aged 59, joined the Group in September
2012. He is the chief operating officer (Team One) of the Group,
the chairman of subsidiaries of the Group, namely Huai’an Hongjin
Agricultural By-Products Logistics Company Limited and Xuzhou Yuan
Yang Trading Development Company Limited. and a director of several
subsidiaries of the Group, including Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural
By-Products Grand Market Company Limited, Huai'an Hongjin Mingyuan
Agricultural By-Products Logistics Company Limited, Yulin Hongjin
Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited, Huangshi Hongjin
Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited, Yulin Hongjin
Logistics Development Limited, Suizhou Baisazhou Agricultural
By-Products Logistics Park Limited and Huai'an City Hongjin Qingjiang
Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited. He is responsible for
project operation and management in Hubei and Jiangsu Province. Mr.
Chier has over 27 years of experience in management in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

Mr. LEUNG Wai Hong, aged 41, joined the Group in January 2015. He is
the chief operating officer (Team Two) of the Group. He is the chairman
of Kaifeng Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited,
Puyang Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited,
Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited.
He is responsible for operation and management of the Group’s projects
in Henan Province in the PRC. Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor Degree in
Accounting from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a member
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and has over 17
years of experience in management in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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Mr. WONG Ka Kit, aged 49, joined the Group in August 2009. He is
the chief operating officer (Team Three) of the Group, the chairman
of Panjin Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited,
Yulin Hongjin Logistics Development Limited and Qinzhou Hongjin
Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited and a director of
Yulin Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited, all of
which are subsidiaries of the Group. He is responsible for the business
operations and sales in Guangxi Region and Liaoning Province. Mr.
Wong holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from Hong
Kong Baptist University and a Bachelor (Hons) Degree in Accountancy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, and is a member of the 6th
Guangxi Yulin Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. Wong has over 26 years of experience in general
management and finance in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Mr. YUNG Chi Hung, Quincy, aged 53, joined the Group in May 2018.
He is the financial controller of the Group responsible for finance
and accounting matters. Mr. Yung holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration and a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong and the University of Wisconsin-
Madison, USA respectively. He is a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yung has over 22 years of experience in
finance and accounting matters in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Mr. LEUNG Wai Kai, Ray, aged 46, joined the Group in April 2013.
He is the general manager of Human Resources Department of the
Group and is responsible for human resources management and
talent development. Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor Degree of Business
Administration in Human Resources Management from Hong Kong
Baptist University and he is a qualified Human Resources Professional in
the PRC. Mr. Leung has over 24 years of experience in human resources
both in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance within a sensible framework with a strong emphasis on
transparency, accountability, integrity and independence and enhancing
the Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency, to ensure
its sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the
Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Compliance with Listing Rules and CG Code

The Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices of the
Company and is satisfied that the Company had applied the principles
and complied with the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2021, except
for the following deviation:

Code provision A.2.1

During the period from 1 April 2020 to 8 February 2021 (the date of
resignation of Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas (“Mr. Chan”) as an executive
Director), Mr. Chan took up the roles of both the chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer, which deviated from code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code. Mr. Chan had extensive executive and financial
management experience and was responsible for overall corporate
planning, strategic policy making and management of operations of
the Group which was of great value in enhancing the efficiency to cope
with the dynamic business environment. The daily business operation of
the Group was delegated to various experienced individuals under the
supervision of Mr. Chan. Furthermore, the Board believed that a balance
of power and authority was adequately ensured by the operations
of the Board which comprised three then executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors with balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the Group’s further development during the
period. Subsequent to the resignation of Mr. Chan, Mr. Tang Ching Ho
(“Mr. Tang”, a non-executive Director) has been appointed the chairman
of the Board and Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond (“Mr. Leung”) has been
redesignated from the chief financial officer to the chief executive
officer of the Company on 8 February 2021. As a result, the Company has
complied with requirement under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
since the appointment of Mr. Tang and the redesignation of Mr. Leung.
The Company periodically reviewed its corporate governance practices
to ensure it continued to meet the requirements of the CG Code during
the financial year ended 31 March 2021. The key corporate governance
principles and practices of the Company are summarised in this report.
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Code for Securities Transactions by Directors and Relevant
Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors,
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the financial year under
review.

To comply with code provision A.6.4 of the CG Code, the Company
has also adopted a written code of conduct regarding securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the Model Code by the
relevant employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who are
considered likely to be in possession of inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. The Directors during the financial year under review
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Yau Yuk Shing

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
(resigned on 8 February 2021)

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Tang Ching Ho
Chairman (appointed on 8 February 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung

Mr. Lau King Lung

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 44 to 46 of
this annual report.
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Responsibilities

The Board’s primary functions are to set corporate policy and overall
strategy for the Group and to provide effective oversight of the
management of the Group's business and affairs. It delegates day-to-day
operations of the Group to executive Directors and senior management.
Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board also approves, among
others, strategic plans, key operational issues, investments and loans,
reviews the financial performance of the Group and evaluates the
performance and compensation of senior management. These functions
are either carried out directly by the Board or indirectly through
committees established by the Board. Besides, the Board has delegated
general powers to management to deal with day-to-day management,
administration and operations of the Group.

The Board possesses a balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company.
Save as Mr. Tang, a non- executive Director, is the brother-in-law of
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing, an executive Director, none of the Directors have
any financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships
with each other. The opinions raised by the independent non-executive
Directors at the meetings of the Board facilitate the maintenance of
good corporate governance practices. The Board has three independent
non-executive Directors, representing more than one-third of the
Board, and at least one of the independent non-executive Directors has
the appropriate professional qualification and accounting and related
financial management expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2)
of the Listing Rules. A balanced composition of executive and non-
executive Directors also ensures a strong independent element on the
Board, which allows for an independent and objective decision making
process for the best interests of the Company. The Company will review
the composition of the Board regularly to ensure the Board possesses
the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet
the needs of the Group'’s business with due regard for the benefits of
diversity, as set out in the diversity policy adopted by the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term
of three years under respective service agreements and all Directors
(including both executive and non-executive) are subject to retirement
by rotation at the Company’s annual general meetings in accordance
with the bye-laws of the Company.
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All independent non-executive Directors are free from any business or
other relationship with the Company. Each independent non-executive
Director is required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if
there is any change in his own personal particulars that may affect his
independence. No such notification was received during the financial
year under review. The Company has also received from each of the
existing independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company continues to consider the three independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The Board meets at least four times a year with additional meetings
arranged, as and when necessary, and has a schedule of matters reserved
for its review and approval. The specific responsibility reserved for
the Board includes matters in relation to, among others, determining
strategies and objectives of the Group, monitoring the overall
management and operation of the Group, reviewing capital, corporate
and control structures, ensuring financial reporting, risk management
and internal control measures, determining major capital projects
and contracts, including material acquisitions, disposals and other
significant potential investments, communication with the Shareholders,
determining the Board composition, the appointment of company
secretary and auditors, evaluating the effectiveness of internal controls,
reviewing adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff,
delegation of authority to committees and reviewing the Group’s overall
corporate governance arrangements.

Save as those matters mentioned above, the Board has delegated
general powers to management to deal with day-to-day management,
administration and operations of the Group. At the same time,
management will provide with the Board and its committees with
adequate information, in a timely manner, to enable it to make informed
decisions.

At least 14 days’ notice for each regular meeting is given to all Directors.
Agendas accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors 3 days
before the date of a regular meeting of the Board to ensure that the
Directors are given sufficient time to review the same. All minutes of
the meetings of the Board and its committee are kept by the company
secretary of the Company and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the financial year under review, the Board reviewed, among

EE AR AE
EE2HERIT(EEE RTINS
IRFrE 2 D EERBE °

A& 5 D31

EAEEEHMAIEJFW EFEFMNT EBPEE HA

others, (i) the policies and practices on corporate governance of the ARBIZPEERRREEER  WEShSALEE
Company; (ii) the training and continuous professional development & 2 153 &35 /& %?*J:' (i) BT EEREER
of Directors and senior management; (iii) the policies and practices on EZBZM&%“%E (VERRNEERESE ZITAST
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) the code of 8l i R (WIZAFRATH B ET(REEATENZ
conduct applicable to employees and Directors; and (v) the compliance & °

with the CG Code which was disclosed in this annual report.

Board Meetings and General Meetings EEMRERE

During the financial year under review, the Company held four regular
meetings of the Board and an annual general meeting (the “2020 AGM").
The attendance of each Director is set out as follows:

REBEMBRFEA  AARCETHRAERESS
RN RERBFEAE ([ZE-2FRRBFEK
Bl ZSEFHEBREIIAT

Number of attendance/
number of meetings entitled
to attend
BRE EREEEINH
Regular Board
meetings 2020 AGM
g 23
Directors = EHESEER RERBAFAS
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond RIS 4/4 0/1
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing WAL 4/4 0/1
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas BRHRBR ot = 3/3 11
(resigned on 8 February 2021) HR=—ZE=——F— F/\HEHT)
Non-executive Director FHITEE
Mr. Tang Ching Ho ’éﬂiﬁi‘fﬁi 1/1 N/A
(appointed on 8 February 2021) (R=ZF=——F = F\HEZ) TiEA
Independent non-executive Directors HIIFHTEE
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung RAELRE 4/4 0/1
Mr. Lau King Lung RaepE S A 4/4 11
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FIRIRFEE 4/4 11
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Separate resolutions were proposed at the 2020 AGM on each R-ZE-_ZFERRAFAE LR SBETLHEEIR
substantive issue and the percentage of votes cast in favour of such 227 EERERURKREERZSREEZZHH
resolutions as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated #'tt RARRBHA-_Z-_TFNA-_FTHAEZ

24 August 2020 are set out below: A ARER) FHHNAT
Percentage of votes
Resolutions proposed at the 2020 AGM R-ZE_ZFRFBEFAFLEZZRAER ZHED
1. To consider, receive and adopt the audited R ABERFENARRBE_T-FF 100.00%
consolidated financial statements and the = A=+—HItT+RERZEEZLE
reports of the directors and auditors of the WBHE - EESWE RZEAIHRE
Company for the fifteen months ended
31 March 2020.
2. Tore-elect Mr. Yau Yuk Shing as an FERBWALEANITES - 100.00%
executive Director.
3. Tore-elect Mr. Ng Yat Cheung as an FERAELERBUIFNTES - 100.00%
independent non-executive Director.
4. Toauthorise the Board to fix the remuneration RiEEZ=eET=S2ME 100.00%
of the Directors.
5. Tore-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng BEREEAMEBAERARARNAR 21X 100.00%
Limited as auditors of the Company and AN WRESESETANS -
authorise the Board to fix their remuneration.
6.(A) To approve the grant of the New Issue Mandate. #t /%7 HFTEEITIRAE © 99.99%
6.(B) To approve the grant of the New Repurchase  #E/fE$2 B B 54 o 100.00%
Mandate.
6.(C) To approve the extension of the New Issue BOESBIGA N BB IE O R R 2 99.99%
Mandate by the addition of the aggregate A& D 4R B AN EF B TIRAE -
number of Shares repurchased by the AR R ST EEATHE ©
Company under the New Repurchase
Mandate to the New Issue Mandate.

Accordingly, all resolutions put to the Shareholders at the 2020 AGM  Hiit - RZZE-TFREAF ARG LRRRIES
were passed. The results of the voting by poll were published on the Fﬁﬁﬁ EROERB - RERAZERETIERE
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. N A R EE R A8l o
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.

As at the date of this report, the positions of the chairman and the chief
executive officer are held by Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Mr. Leung Sui Wah,
Raymond respectively. There is clear division of responsibilities between
the chairman and the chief executive officer which provides a balance of
power and authority.

TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
DEVELOPMENT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company provides a comprehensive induction package covering the
summary of the responsibilities of a director of a Hong Kong listed
company and the Guides on Directors’ Duties issued by the Companies
Registry. The Company would also arrange seminars on professional
knowledge of regulatory requirements related to director’s duties and
responsibilities for each newly appointed Director to ensure that he/she
is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, all Directors received
regular update on corporate governance matters or news or changes to
laws and regulations. Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen attended briefings or seminars on relevant
topics. All Directors are requested to provide the Company with a record
of the training they received.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), each of which has the
specific written terms of reference that will be renewed and updated,
if necessary. Each committee is required to report to the Board on its
decision and recommendations, where appropriate.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (chairman), Mr. Lau King
Lung and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties, roles
and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure of remuneration for all Directors and senior
management of the Company and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing such policy;

2. to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

3. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors, non-executive Director
and senior management of the Company, including but not limited
to benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

4. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

5. to review and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management of the Company for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent
with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

6. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate; and

7. to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.
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During the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held two meetings and the attendance of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is set out below:

REBEFBRFER  HFHEZESCRTRAEH -
FHZEERKBZHEBEREIIMT

Attendance

Members of the Remuneration Committee FHESERE HEER
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (chairman) RAELE (FE) 2/2
Mr. Lau King Lung e 2/2
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FIRREE 2/2
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas PRIREE LA N/A
(resigned on 8 February 2021) R=F=—F=F/NHET) TEA

During the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the existing remuneration policy, assessed performance of
executive Directors, reviewed the existing remuneration packages and
structure of executive Directors and senior management of the Company
and the existing remuneration packages of independent non-executive
Directors, and approved the terms of the engagement letter of the non-
executive Director appointed during the financial year under review.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue
to discharge its major roles to, among other things, make
recommendations, if any, to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management of the Company
(i.e. the model described in the code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG
Code is adopted) and approve the terms of executive Director’s service
contracts.

The remuneration payable to the Directors will depend on their
respective contractual terms under their employment contracts or
service contracts and the same were reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for
the financial year under review is set out below:
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SRERENREFI RERB B IFNTE
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Mo RAZEF SR L EE (A) BIRM(EEER
ST A ST RIMER ST B.1.2(c) (i) 16k P 3t 2 1R 28) I 4t
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Remuneration band (HKS)

Number of individuals

A

Below 1,000,000
1,000,001 to 2,000,000

1,000,000 LA T~

1,000,001 £ 2,000,000 4
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lau King Lung (chairman), Mr. Ng Yat Cheung and
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen and one executive Director, namely Mr. Leung Sui
Wah, Raymond.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties, roles
and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

1. to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length of
service) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations to
the Board on any proposed changes to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

2. to identify and nominate individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships. In
identifying suitable individuals, the Nomination Committee shall
consider individuals on merit against the objective criteria, with due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors
and review the independent non-executive Directors’ annual
confirmations on their independence and make disclosure of its
review results in the corporate governance report of the Company;

4. to regularly review the time required for a Director to perform his/
her responsibilities;

5. to review the balance between executive and non-executive
Directors and the blend of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
on the Board;

6. to keep under review the leadership and succession needs of the
Group with a view to ensuring the long term success of the Group;

7. to review the Board diversity policy, as appropriate, and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the
Board diversity policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives;
and make disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance
report annually;

8. to ensure that all Directors offer themselves for re-election every
three years by Shareholders;
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to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment or re-designation of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman/chairwoman and
the chief executive, taking into account the Company’s corporate
strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
needed in the future;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, every Director should
receive a formal letter of appointment or enter into a service contract
with the Company, as appropriate;

where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive Director at the general meeting, the
Nomination Committee should set out in the circular to Shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting why it believes the individual should
be elected and the reasons why it considers the individual to be
independent; and

the chairman or another member of the Nomination Committee shall
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be prepared
to respond to questions raised by Shareholders on the Nomination
Committee’s activities and responsibilities.

During the financial year under review, the Nomination Committee held

three meetings and the attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out below:

10.

1. &

12.

REARBNEEREI BREFSHFENR
B HE - KBMEETUCES  REFZE
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REBFBRFEA  REZBECHTNEH
RELZEGENBZHFEBREIIT

Attendance
Members of the Nomination Committee REZESRE HERER
Mr. Lau King Lung (chairman) RIS () 3/3
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung RAELAE 3/3
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FIRREE 3/3
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond PIREE S 3/3
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas WTEJ?Z%E 1/1

(resigned on 8 February 2021) (R=ZF=—F—H/NFEHT)
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During the financial year under review and up to the date of this report
the Nomination Committee (i) reviewed, inter alia, the policy for the
nomination of Directors, the nomination procedures and the process
and criteria to select and recommend candidates for directorship and the
Board diversity policy; (i) nominated the appointment of a non-executive
Director; (iii) recommended the re-elections of Mr. Yau Yuk Shing and Mr.
Ng Yat Cheung in the annual general meeting of the Company held on
24 August 2020 and (iv) recommended the re-elections of Mr. Leung Sui
Wah, Raymond, Mr. Lau King Lung and Mr. Tang Ching Ho in the annual
general meeting to be held on 25 August 2021. The nominations of re-
election were made in accordance with the objective criteria (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, independence and
length of service), with due regard for the benefits of diversity, as set
out in the Board diversity policy adopted by the Company. As a good
governance practice, Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond, Mr. Lau King Lung
and Mr. Tang Ching Ho had abstained from voting at the Nomination
Committee and/or Board meeting on their nominations for election by
the Shareholders and Mr. Yau Yuk Shing had abstained from voting at
the Board meeting on Mr. Tang’s appointment and re-election.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to diversify the Board and for which the Nomination
Committee has reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee reviewed
and assessed the Board composition and made recommendations (if any)
to the Board pursuant to the Board diversity policy and the nomination
policy.

The Nomination Committee will consider, when designing and reviewing
the Board’s composition, from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length
of service. The Nomination Committee will also consider candidates on
merit against the objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

As at 31 March 2021, the Board comprises six Directors, including two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of
the management process. The Board is also characterised by significant
diversity, whether in terms of professional experience, skills and
knowledge.
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Having reviewed the Board diversity policy and the Board’s composition,
the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the requirements set out in
the Board diversity policy had been met. The Nomination Committee
considered that the current Board composition has provided the
Company with a good balance and diversity of skills and experience
appropriate for the business of the Company. The Nomination
Committee will review the implementation of the Board diversity
policy from time to time to ensure its effectiveness on determining the
optimum composition of the Board.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
guidelines for the Nomination Committee to nominate suitable
candidate(s) to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations
to the Shareholders for election or re-election as Director(s) at a
general meeting of the Company or recommendations to the Board for
appointment or re-election as Director(s).

1. Selection Criteria

1.1 In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate,
the Nomination Committee will consider the factors (as
reference), including but not limited to reputation, integrity,
accomplishment and relevant experience in relation to the
principal businesses of the Company from time to time,
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest,
diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. These factors are for reference only, and are not meant
to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate.

1.2 Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election at a general meeting. For those serving
as independent non-executive Directors for a period of 9
years (or above), the Nomination Committee will consider the
independence of such Director for nomination by the Board
to stand for election at a general meeting and state the reason
in a circular to the Shareholders for the re-election. For those
serving as independent non-executive directors for 7 (or more)
listed companies, the Nomination Committee will consider why
they would still be able to devote sufficient time to the Board for
nomination by the Board to stand for appointment or re-election
at a general meeting and state the reason in a circular to the
Shareholders for election or re-election.
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1.3 Candidate(s) is required to submit the necessary personal
information pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations, together with their written consent to be appointed
as Director(s) and to the public disclosure of their personal data
on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or
in relation to their standing for election as Director(s).

1.4 The Nomination Committee may request the candidate(s) to
provide additional information and documents, if necessary.

Nomination Procedures

2.1 The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting
of the Nomination Committee and invite nominations of
candidate(s) from members of the Board, if any, for consideration
by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee may
nominate candidate(s) without nomination by a member of the
Board.

2.2 For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidate(s) to stand for election
at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall
make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

2.3 Information (including names, brief biographies (including
qualifications and relevant experience), independence, proposed
remuneration and any other information, as required pursuant
to the applicable laws, rules and regulations) of the candidate(s)
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting
will be stated in a circular to be sent to the Shareholders.

2.4 The Shareholder can serve a notice to the Company’s company
secretary to propose a resolution to elect a person as Director,
without the Board’s recommendation or the Nomination
Committee’s nomination pursuant to the applicable laws, rules
and regulations. The particulars of the candidate(s) so proposed
as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations
will be stated in a circular to be sent to the Shareholders.

2.5 A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
Company’s company secretary.

2.6 The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for election at any
general meeting.

2.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee pursuant to Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules with specific terms of reference, which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Audit
Committee consists of all of the independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Ping Yuen (chairman), Mr. Ng Yat Cheung and Mr. Lau
King Lung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for, inter alia, reviewing the
interim and annual financial statements and making recommendation
to the Board, reviewing the terms of engagement and making
recommendation to the Board regarding the appointment of external
auditors of the Company, monitoring and assessing the independence
of external auditors and effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems and oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting, controlling, accounting policies and practices (with external
auditors and management of the Company) and risk management and
internal control issues.

During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee held three
meetings and the attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is
set out below:
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Attendance
Members of the Audit Committee EREEEHRE HEER
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen (chairman) FRREE (F/E) 3/3
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung RAELRE 3/3
Mr. Lau King Lung 5 e 3/3

During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee reviewed
and discussed with the senior management and the external auditors of
the Company the annual results for the fifteen months ended 31 March
2020, the interim results for the six months ended 30 September 2020
and the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company.
In addition, the Audit Committee also reviewed with the senior
management and/or professional advisers of the Company, among
other things, internal control and risk management, the effectiveness
of the Company'’s internal audit function, the continuing connected
transactions of the Group and the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions as well as their training programmes and budget.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and
timely publication of the financial statements and ensure that they are
prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. In preparing the financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Directors have adopted suitable
accounting policies which are pertinent to the Group’s operations
and relevant to the financial statements and have presented an
understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set
out in the independent auditor’s report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’s external auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited (“HLB"), in respect of audit services and other services is set
out as follows which had been reviewed and approved by the Audit
Committee based on the scopes of their works:
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Services rendered for the Group
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Audit services
Non-audit services

1,980
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2,260
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems during the financial year
under review. Regular review is set to be conducted once per year.
While management of the Group is responsible for implementing and
maintaining sound risk management and internal control systems
that safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholders’ interest in aspects
including operation, financial and compliance, the systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

Risk management process

The Group has established risk management manual to formulate the
risk management process and management is committed to fostering
a risk aware and control conscious environment. The staffs in all levels
within the Group are also required to take the relevant responsibility on
the risk management process. The structure and procedures for the risk
management are as follows:

Risk
management review
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Risk identification Both internal and external factors
including economic, political, social,
technology and environmental factors,
laws and regulations, business objectives
and stakeholders’ expectation would be

considered.

The risk identified would be assessed
and rated based on the likelihood
and impact to the achievement of the
Group’s objectives.

Risk assessment

Control activities The internal control procedures have
been designed and implemented to
address the risks.

Risk monitoring Risk register has been maintained and
updated regularly to monitor risks on an

ongoing basis.

The Board and the Audit Committee
would perform a review on any change

Risk management review
of significant risks of the Group.

Internal audit function

For the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Company appointed
external advisers to perform the ongoing monitoring of the systems
of internal control of the Group and report their findings and
recommendations to the Audit Committee and follow up the status of
implementation of the recommendations to ensure all significant control
activities are properly in place within the Group.

The Group has adopted a risk-based approach in developing the annual
audit plan to cover business activities with material risks across the
Group. The rotation basis would be applied to operations with similar
risk associated so as to enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of the
internal audit.

All findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies for the
financial year under review have been communicated to management,
who are required to establish remedial plans to correct those internal
control deficiencies within a reasonable time period. Post-audit review
is performed to monitor those agreed recommendations having been
implemented as intended and on a timely basis.

Based on the audit result and post-audit review, the advisers reported
that no significant deficiency on the internal control system of the Group
for the financial year under review had been noted.
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Review on risk management and internal control systems

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 and confirmed that the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems in respect of financial,
operational, compliance controls, risk management functions and
adequacy of resources, were effective and adequate.

Inside information policy

The Group always emphasises the importance of transparency of
communication between the stakeholders and the Group and has
established policies and procedures for timely disclosure of inside
information to the public when available. The senior management of
the Group will take all reasonable measures from time to time to ensure
that the disclosure of inside information is in compliance with the
requirements of all applicable laws and regulations.

Whistleblowing policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate the
achieving of highest possible standards of openness, probity and
accountability. Procedures are formulated to assist individual employee
to disclose internally and at a high level, information which the individual
believes that it shows malpractice or impropriety within the Group. Such
policy is made available on the website of the Company.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is accountable to the Board for ensuring that
Board procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence
to proper Board processes and timely preparation of and dissemination
to the Directors comprehensive Board meeting agendas and papers.
Minutes of all meetings of the Board and Board committees are prepared
and maintained by the company secretary to record in sufficient details
the matters considered and decisions reached by the Board or Board
committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting views voiced
by any Director. All draft and finalised minutes of the Board meetings
and meetings of the Board committees are sent to the Directors or Board
committee members as appropriate for comments, approval and records.
All records are available for inspection by any Director upon request.

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond reports directly to the Board and is
responsible for, inter alia, providing updated information to all Directors
from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, Mr. Leung complied with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and took no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is conscious of its role as an environmentally and socially
responsible group of companies. It has made donations for community
wellbeing from time to time and has environmental friendly policies in
place. We support the communities and encourage our employees to
participate in charitable events and environmental protection activities.
Details of the environmental and social responsibility matters of the
Group were disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report. More details will be disclosed in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company to be
published in accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Special General Meeting

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
secretary of the Company, to require a special general meeting (the
“SGM”") to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition.

Pursuant to bye-law 62 of the bye-laws of the Company, a SGM shall
be convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), and, in default, may be convened by
the requisitionist(s).

Pursuant to bye-law 63 of the bye-laws of the Company, a SGM may be
called by notice in writing of not less than fourteen clear days and not
less than ten clear business days.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible
for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with
the requirements under Section 74 of the Companies Act once a valid
requisition is received.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights at the date of the requisition or not less than 100
Shareholders may put forward a proposal at a Shareholders’ meeting,
pursuant to the Companies Act, by sending a written requisition to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong. The proposal should be
stated in the written requisition and such written requisition should
be submitted as early as practicable to enable the Company to make
necessary arrangement (in case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution, not less than six weeks before the meeting; and in case of any
other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting).

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must provide their full
name, contact details and identification, in the originally signed written
requisition, notice or statement (as the case may be), in order to give
effect thereto. Information of Shareholder(s) may be disclosed as
required by law.
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Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board and/or the
secretary of the Company, either by post, by facsimiles or by email,
together with his/her contact details, such as postal address, email or fax
number, via the following channels:

For corporate affairs:
Address: China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
Suite 3202, 32/F., Skyline Tower

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon
Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2312 8329
Fax: (852) 2312 8148
Email: pr@cnagri-products.com

For shareholding or entitlement affairs:
Address: Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

The Company encourages the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s annual general meetings and/or other general meetings,
at which the Directors are on hand to answer questions raised by the
Shareholders on the Company’s business operations.

Constitutional document

There was no change in the memorandum of association and bye-laws of
the Company during the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

The memorandum of association and bye-laws of the Company are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CONCLUSION

Going ahead, the Board will continue to review regularly its corporate
governance practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance
the Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency to ensure
its sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the
stakeholders of the Company.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended
31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of management and
sales of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC.
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 are
set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a fair review of the
business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced
by the Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the year under review, an analysis of
the Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators,
an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business and
a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance
and compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group, can be found in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of
this annual report. In addition, a discussion on relationships with its key
stakeholders is included in the sections headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.
These discussions form part of this report of the directors.

Structured Contracts

Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment
(2015 version), value-added telecommunications services are subject to
foreign investment restriction in which a foreign investor shall hold no
more than 50% equity interest in a value-added telecommunications
services provider (excluding e-commerce) in the PRC.

The Internet Content Provider (“ICP”) services belong to a sub-category
of value-added telecommunications services. According to the
Administrative Rules for Foreign Investment in Telecommunications
Enterprises, foreign investors shall contribute to no more than 50% of the
registered capital of a value-added telecommunications services provider
(excluding e-commerce) and any such foreign investor shall maintain
a good track record and possess relevant operational experience in
the value-added telecommunications services industry (the “Foreign
Shareholding Restrictions”).
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Shenzhen Gudeng, the then direct wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of
Shenzhen Zhibo Tianyu Trading Development Limited (“Shenzhen
Zhibo"), an indirect wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of the Company,
was incorporated in September 2015 and received the ICP license on
7 September 2016. It holds one website and two mobile applications for
the Group and is principally engaged in online provision of agricultural
products in the PRC.

On 19 June 2015, the Circular on Removing the Restrictions on
Shareholding Ratio Held by Foreign Investors in Online Data Processing
and Transaction Processing (Operating E-commerce) Business (the
“E-commerce Circular”) was issued, which allows the foreign ownership
in online data processing and transaction processing (operating
e-commerce) business up to 100%. However, since the E-commerce
Circular does not provide any clear legal definition of “e-commerce”,
it is unclear as to whether the business to be conducted by Shenzhen
Gudeng would fall within the scope of the E-commerce Circular to
benefit from the loosened restrictions on the Foreign Shareholding
Restrictions.

As such, Shenzhen Zhibo (i) entered into a disposal agreement on
11 July 2016 with Yu Hui Jun (the “Nominee Shareholder”) and (ii)
further entered into the exclusive business cooperation agreement, the
exclusive call option agreement, the equity pledge agreement, the power
of attorney and the ancillary documents (collectively the “Structured
Contracts”) with the Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng on
9 October 2016 (other than the exclusive business cooperation
agreement which was entered into by and between Shenzhen Zhibo and
Shenzhen Gudeng only and the power of attorney which was executed
by the Nominee Shareholder in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo) such that
the Group is entitled to acquire the rights and ability to control the
business of Shenzhen Gudeng and to obtain the economic benefit (the
“Contractual Arrangements”).
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The exclusive business cooperation agreement and the exclusive call
option agreement had an initial term of 3 years commencing from the
date of the relevant agreements which were renewed for another 3 years
on 8 October 2019. As security for the payment of service fees under the
exclusive business cooperation agreement and the performance of the
exclusive call option agreement and the power of attorney, the equity
pledge agreement executed in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo will only be
terminated when all the said obligations of the Nominee Shareholder
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements are fulfilled. Similarly,
for protection of the Group, the power of attorney executed in favour of
Shenzhen Zhibo will be valid so long as the Contractual Arrangements
are in place. The Company will keep exploring various opportunities in
building up its ICP services operations for the purposes of being qualified
as early as possible, to acquire the entire equity interest of Shenzhen
Gudeng if and when the Foreign Shareholding Restrictions are lifted. For
details of the Structured Contracts, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 11 July 2016 and 11 October 2016, respectively.

Save for the exclusive business cooperation agreement which involves
the payment of a service fee by Shenzhen Gudeng to Shenzhen Zhibo on
a monthly basis, and the nominal consideration paid by Shenzhen Zhibo
to the Nominee Shareholder under the exclusive call option agreement,
each of the Structured Contracts does not involve payment of any
consideration.

The Structured Contracts, taken as a whole, permit the results and
financial operations of Shenzhen Gudeng to be consolidated in
the Company, as if it was the Company’s subsidiary resulting in all
economic benefits of its business flowing to the Company. Through the
appointment by Shenzhen Zhibo of all directors and senior management
of Shenzhen Gudeng, the Directors believe that Shenzhen Zhibo is able
to effectively supervise, manage and operate the business operations,
expansion plans, financial policies and assets of Shenzhen Gudeng,
and at the same time, ensure due implementation of the Structured
Contracts. According to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, a
subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by another entity (known as the
parent). An investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
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Although the Company does not directly or indirectly own Shenzhen
Gudeng, the Structured Contracts enable the Company to exercise
control over and receive economic benefits generated from the business
operation of Shenzhen Gudeng and the validity and legality of the
Structured Contracts have been confirmed by the Company’s PRC legal
adviser. The Group derives economic benefits from the ICP services
provided by Shenzhen Gudeng. Under such circumstances, the Directors
are of the view that it is fair and reasonable for Shenzhen Zhibo to be
entitled to all the economic benefits generated from Shenzhen Gudeng.
The Structured Contracts also permit Shenzhen Zhibo to exclusively
acquire all or part of the equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng, if and when
permitted by PRC laws and regulations. Notwithstanding the Group's lack
of equity ownership in Shenzhen Gudeng, the Group is able to control
the business and financial position of Shenzhen Gudeng in substance
through the Structured Contracts. As a result of the Structured Contracts,
Shenzhen Gudeng is accounted for as the Company’s subsidiary, and
its financial position and operating results are consolidated in the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

The revenue, net loss and total asset value subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to nil and approximately HK$0.8 million for the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 and approximately HK$0.3 million as
of 31 March 2021, respectively.

Manner of settlement of disputes which may arise from the
Contractual Arrangements

Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, any dispute arising from the
interpretation and performance of the Structured Contracts between
the parties thereto should first be resolved through negotiation, failing
which any party may submit the said dispute to the South China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission (or Shenzhen
Court of International Arbitration) with a view to resolving the dispute
through arbitration in accordance with the arbitration rules thereof.

Arrangements in the event of death, bankruptcy or divorce of the
Nominee Shareholder

The Nominee Shareholder has undertaken in the exclusive call option
agreement and the equity pledge agreement that she shall make all
appropriate arrangements and execute all necessary documents to
ensure that, in the event of death, loss of capacity, bankruptcy, divorce
(or other circumstances) of herself, there would be no adverse effect or
obstacle in enforcing the exclusive call option agreement and the equity
pledge agreement by her successors.
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Undertaking to mitigate any potential conflict of interests between
Shenzhen Zhibo and the Nominee Shareholder

The Nominee Shareholder may have potential conflicts with Shenzhen
Zhibo and the Company. To mitigate any potential conflict of interests,
the Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng have undertaken in
the exclusive call option agreement that, during the period the exclusive
call option agreement remains effective, unless otherwise agreed by
Shenzhen Zhibo, the Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng (i)
would not participate in any business which may be in competition with
the business of Shenzhen Zhibo or its related companies; and (ii) would
appoint nominees nominated by Shenzhen Zhibo as Shenzhen Gudeng’s
director(s) or executive director(s).

Risk factors

The following are the major risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangements: (1) the PRC Government may determine that the
documents for the Contractual Arrangements do not comply with
applicable regulations; (2) the Contractual Arrangements may not
provide control as effective as direct ownership; and (3) the Contractual
Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC tax authorities and
additional tax may be imposed.

Furthermore, the Group conducts its business operation in the PRC
through Shenzhen Gudeng by way of the Contractual Arrangements,
but certain of the terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not be
enforceable under the PRC laws. As advised by the Company’s PRC
legal advisers, the Contractual Arrangements were narrowly tailored to
minimize the potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.

Internal control measures

In order to effectively control and safeguard the assets of Shenzhen
Gudeng, the Contractual Arrangements have provided, without having
obtained the consent of Shenzhen Zhibo, the Nominee Shareholder
and Shenzhen Gudeng (i) shall not sell, transfer, mortgage or dispose
of in any manner any material assets, legitimate interest or revenue of
Shenzhen Gudeng, or allow any encumbrance thereon of any security
interest; and (ii) shall always operate Shenzhen Gudeng’s business in the
ordinary and usual course of business and shall maintain the asset value
of Shenzhen Gudeng and refrain from any action/omission that may
adversely affect Shenzhen Gudeng's operating status and asset value.

No material change in the Contractual Arrangements

The Board confirmed that there is no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted, and its impact on the Group, and the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements and the financial assistance are on normal commercial
terms.
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No unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements

The Board also confirmed that there is no unwinding of the Structured
Contracts or failure to unwind when the restrictions that led to the
adopted Structured Contracts are removed.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 244 of this
annual report.

The Board adopted a dividend policy in order to promote greater
dividend policy transparency. In deciding whether to recommend
the payment of dividend to the Shareholders, the Board will take
into account of a number of factors, including but not limited to the
Company'’s operation and financial performance, liquidity condition,
capital requirements, future funding needs, contractual restrictions,
availability of reserves and prevailing economic climate, subject to the
applicable rules of Bermuda and the bye-laws of the Company. Based
on these factors, the determination of dividend distribution, the amount
and frequency, will be made at the discretion of the Board.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil). No interim dividend
was paid to the Shareholders during the year under review (2020: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital and share options of the
Company during the financial year ended 31 March 2021, together with
the reasons therefor, are set out in notes 32 and 34 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year under review, other than the Convertible Notes as set
out in the paragraph headed “Convertible Notes” in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and the Share Option Scheme as
set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and note 30 and 34
to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has not entered
into any equity-linked agreement.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 248 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the financial year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the financial year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Details of movements in the financial assets of the Group during the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in notes 23 and 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the financial year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution to equity holders of the Company calculated in accordance
with the Companies Act.

PROMISSORY NOTES

Details of movements in the promissory notes of the Company during
the financial year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
(Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yau Yuk Shing

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
(resigned on 8 February 2021)

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Tang Ching Ho
(Chairman) (appointed on 8 February 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung
Mr. Lau King Lung
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the bye-laws of the Company,
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond and Mr. Lau King Lung will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with bye-law 102(B) of the bye-laws of the Company,
Mr. Tang Ching Ho who was appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from 8 February 2021 shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at the meeting.

All of the independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term
of three years and are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Company'’s bye-laws. The Company has received from each of
the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the existing independent non-executive Directors to be
independent as at the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 44 to 46 of this
annual report.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

The change in the information of Director since the publication of the
2020 interim report is set out below pursuant to Rule 13.51(B) of the
Listing Rules:

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond was redesignated from the chief financial
officer to the chief executive officer of the Company on 8 February 2021.

Details of the change in remuneration of Directors, if any, were disclosed
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with any company in the Group which is
not determinable by such company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with him had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the
end of the year under review.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is
currently in force and was in force throughout the financial year under
review. The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate
insurance coverage in respect of potential legal actions against its
Directors and officers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required to be entered in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,
were as follows:

(A) Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”):
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KA

(A) RARRIEBER (BB 25"

Total Number Approximate

of Shares and percentage of

underlying the Company’s

Shares total issued

Name of Director Nature of interest involved Shares

HAR QB2 BAT

12927871953 R EEZ

EEEB EEEE MERARR 1D 4 B BOBEDLE

(Note a)

(Hiita)

%

Mr. Tang Interest of controlled corporation 7,450,095,747 74.85
il RESEEE R (Note b)

Bzt b)
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Notes:

(a)

The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
form(s) filed under the SFO.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of
the Stock Exchange, among of the 7,450,095,747 Shares, 2,007,700,062
Shares were held by Onger Investments Limited (“Onger Investments”),
Convertible Notes convertible into 130,000,000 Shares were held by
Peony Finance Limited (“Peony Finance”) and 5,312,395,685 Shares
were held by Goal Success Investments Limited (“Goal Success”). Onger
Investments and Peony Finance were directly wholly owned by Loyal
Fame International Limited (“Loyal Fame”, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Easy One Financial Group Limited (“Easy One”) which is
in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Tang). Goal Success was directly wholly
owned by Biomore Investments Limited (“Biomore Investments”) (a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart Investments Limited
(“Total Smart”) which is directly wholly owned by Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Holdings Limited (“WYT"). WYT is owned as to 65.14% by Rich
Time Strategy Limited (“Rich Time") which is wholly owned by Wang On
Enterprises (BVI) Limited ("WOE”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Wang
On Group Limited (“WOG") which was owned as to 46.71% by Mr. Tang,
together with his associates.

(B) Interest in the shares and underlying shares of associated
corporations:

At

(a)

Z BN IR G855 R B G IR 3 HIARR
BRERBRE -

BERBEIMEMGTIZE s ERBEERSE R
7,450,095,747 IR AR 5 2 # + 2,007,700,062 A% I% 17
£8 Onger Investments Limited ([ Onger Investments )
A - AI#£2 5 130,000,000 R AR 1 2 7] #2 A 22
& H Peony Finance Limited ([ Peony Finance ])
¥ B 53123956858 A% 17 FGoal Success
Investments Limited ([ Goal Success]) 3% 4 °
Onger Investments }z Peony Finance i & &
BRERAR (BB 255cmEEERAA
([ZRENHEEZZ2ENBAR - $5Z0lA
HixEsEWHB) B2 EAME © Goal Success
i Biomore Investments Limited ([ Biomore
Investments |) (Total Smart Investments Limited
([Total Smart)) HEE2E M B AR - i Total
Smart B T E BEXIZERER AR (MLTE]) B
E2ERB)EELZEHRE o fLTEHRich Time
Strategy Limited ([Rich Time|) # 7/565.14% -
Rich Time F§ Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited
([WoE]) (RLZEBEERAR ([EREE] B
SR I AR 46.71%) (2 EM B A R)
2EWA °

(B) FHEESE 8 2 R 49 R ARRRRR (5 2 M

Approximate
percentage of
the associated
Total number corporation’s
Name of of shares total issued
Name of Director associated corporations Nature of interest involved shares
b AR gt S
ERITROBE
E=EB HEEE SR EEME FrS IR B ZEHRBE D
(Note c)
(Httc)
%
Mr. Tang WYT Interest of controlled 810,322,940 65.79
LA e corporation (Note d)
Rt EE R (Hiztd)
Wang On Properties Interest of controlled  11,400,000,000 75.00
Limited (“WOP”) corporation
REMWERRAR RPEHEEE R
(IRxiE])




—EC R

2021 Annual Report 85

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

Approximate
percentage of
the associated
Total number corporation’s
Name of of shares total issued
Name of Director associated corporations Nature of interest involved shares
b AR g S
ERITROEH
E=E8 MBS EE ERME Frs IR 3 48 B 2N B
(Note c)
(Hiztc)
%
WOG Interest of controlled  2,734,664,306
REEE corporation
S EE R
Beneficial Owner 28,026,339
EmEAA
Interest of spouse 28,026,300
N
Founder of a 4,989,928,827
discretionary trust
2REERERIZA
Total 7,780,645,772 46.71
Bt

Notes:

()

(d)

The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
form(s) filed under the SFO.

With reference to note (b) above, 810,322,940 shares of WYT were
held by Rich Time; 11,400,000,000 shares of WOP were held by Earnest
Spot Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE). Amongst
the 2,734,664,306 shares of WOG held under interest of controlled
corporation, 432,475,200 shares were held by Suntech Investments
Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart), 1,284,273,800
shares were held by Hearty Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Total Smart), 486,915,306 shares were held by Caister Limited (a company
wholly owned by Mr. Tang) and 531,000,000 shares were held by Billion
Trader Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Loyal Fame).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their
respective associates had any other interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Hfi -

(0 ZBADHLIIREBIZRGES RBAEFRINIRZ /IR
WEREHE -

(d) Zx#Rat £ B 5 (b) + iz 7t E 2.810,322,940
& B% 19 FRich Time# B M A & #h &E 2
11,400,000,000 3% A% 17 F8 Earnest Spot Limited
(WOEZ B2 EMBRA BB - RL&EE
22734664306 R B ZIEFERRE R B
71432,475,2000% [% 15 A Suntech Investments
Limited (Total Smart 2 B #% & & [ B 2 7)) #F
A+ 1,284,273,800 % % {5 F Hearty Limited (Total
Smart 7 B = EMBAR)REA - 486,915,306 %
B% {7 B Caister Limited (B L A2 BB FE
LA K%.531,000,000 % A% 17 £5 Billion Trader Limited
(RAREERZERA) A -

B Ea s EEN RoE - —F=A=1—
B BMEEENARATBTHRAEN, T
EE-ET-3=Pd = YNV UNCIEIE:EESEp =]y

(EERGEHREEBRGIDE XVEL) 2 & -
FRARARD BB - AN AR BIRE
GEHMBERINDESREFE 2 ERLM - %
BRI GZAEF A B M A RQ 7 RE R AT 2
AR AR ©
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 3 May 2012, the Company terminated the old share option scheme
adopted on 4 June 2002 and adopted a new share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentive to selected
eligible persons (the “Participants”) to take up options for their
contribution to the Group. Participants include directors, including
independent non-executive directors, employees, individuals who work
for any member of the Group or any substantial Shareholder or any
company controlled by a substantial Shareholder, holders of securities
issued by any member of the Group or any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any member of the Group.
The Scheme became effective on 3 May 2012 and will remain in force for
a period of 10 years. The remaining life of the Scheme is approximately
one year. Under the Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the
Participants to subscribe for the Shares. The offer of a grant of share
options must be accepted by the relevant Participants within 30 days
after the date of grant upon payment of a consideration of HKS$1 for
each lot of share options granted. The exercise price is to be determined
by the Board and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the official
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average of the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share.

The number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any Participants in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Shareholders. Options granted to
substantial Shareholders or independent non-executive Directors, or any
of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and
with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in
advance by the Shareholders. There is no specific requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any such
minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the
Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised for
a period of more than 10 years from the date of grant.

BRETE

RZZE—Z—FRHA=H  ARFIKUER=ZZZT=F
NAMB RN ERERERTE - WERA—EFTER
e ([ZsTEl) TZENRMETEZLEERBA

T+ ([BEE]) BASEPTER R R SR AZ N
BRE RE) - 2EERREES (BIEBLIENT
) BI AASEETEAKER TI{’EZ
fAA SR E ERR R EERRITS 2 ERA
REBERKE QAR FEITE %Z?—rﬁ/\?ﬁ$ﬁ
B Ik B A RIRMEITT - BEEIHEMBEM &K
FEER - 7 BEIHMREE 2 FWALTHE
B ZFaN —E——FRAZHAR BN
FR—EHBAR - 2 RBEWRNAE—F - BIE
ZirE - EEE0R2HEERDBRENRER
e BTHBREZZZVAENKLHBEI0ER
W SRR 2 BRESZ 1 BT 2R ER - &
*Hfa//\%ﬁ Mo ITEERBREESRE - KIS
TEEEAMTXIEZ 545 (RO RELE R (BR

EER)TE ?&ﬁﬁlﬁ%ﬁ{ﬁﬁﬁﬁWZET”ym{ﬁ
()RR EZER L BRI A EE XA EEImE
HIRERMY 2 EX K HETFHE  Ri)RHOE
(ERC

E/\\‘Eﬁﬁtﬂ B8 (B 1E% R) pifE R+ =& A 23R

CARERRREEAE - BIAE R EERHZ
@%w&*,ﬂzzw HE NIRRT ESBEeE%
ARBZ1% - W TFEBRRRBUIFENTES
REMHEES A ZHEAZ BRIERAEBITRGD
20.1% - REEEAGTE R 5,000,000 T+ A8
SRR BEBOE o BHERASUR EEREARE TR
SRR AT  EESSERMBRELEM
&5 BB AR B BE IR FR FE PR - EE S A 2R
SEEE A TTEIBARE 2 AR - I BB AR A R IR
tH B AR T 10 SR LA EHARATTAE ©
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Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at general meeting, the
Board may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the date of approval by the Shareholders at general
meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from
time to time. Other details of the Scheme are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the financial year under review, no option had been granted. As
at 31 March 2021, there was no outstanding option. As at the date of this
annual report, the total number of Shares available for issue under the
Scheme is 995,306,782, representing 10% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” as set
out above, the section headed “Convertible Notes” in this annual report
and in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time
during the year ended 31 March 2021 were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouses or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 31 March 2021, the
following corporations or persons (other than the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company) had, or was deemed or taken to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares:

B RARRERR D 2 58

Total number

Approximate

of Shares and percentage of

underlying the Company’s

Shares total issued

Name of Shareholders Capacity involved shares

AN BB #IT

Fris RAD )R R ESZ

RERERE 514 RO AR BHABEDL

(Note a)

(Hizta)

%

Easy One Interest of controlled corporation 2,137,700,062 21.47
25= RIEH AR R (Note b)
(HizEb)

Goal Success Beneficial owner 5,312,395,685 53.37
BB A (Note b)
(HizEb)

Biomore Investments Interest of controlled corporation 5,312,395,685 53.37
S EE S (Note b)
(HizEb)

Total Smart Interest of controlled corporation 5,312,395,685 53.37
S EE S (Note b)
(HizEb)

WYT Interest of controlled corporation 5,312,395,685 53.37
T E S EE S (Note b)
(HizEb)

WOG Interest of controlled corporation 5,312,395,685 53.37
REEE S EE S (Note b)
(HizEb)

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin Family interest 7,450,095,747 74.85

BB HLL

ENI:

(Note c)
(K17t c)
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Notes:

(@) The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure form(s)
filed under the SFO.

(b) Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the
Stock Exchange, among of the 7,450,095,747 Shares, 2,007,700,062 Shares
were held by Onger Investments, Convertible Notes which can be converted
to 130,000,000 Shares were held by Peony Finance and 5,312,395,685 Shares
were held by Goal Success. Onger Investments and Peony Finance were
directly wholly owned by Loyal Fame (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of Easy One which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Tang). Goal Success was
directly wholly owned by Biomore Investments (a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Total Smart which is directly wholly owned by WYT). WYT is
owned as to 65.14% by Rich Time which is wholly owned by WOE, a wholly
owned subsidiary of WOG which was owned as to 46.71% by Mr. Tang,
together with his associates.

(c) Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of
the Stock Exchange, Ms. Yau Yuk Yin was taken to be interested in the
7,450,095,747 Shares in which her spouse, Mr. Tang, was deemed to be
interested under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, there were no other
persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who had any interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

All of the Group’s subsidiaries are equal opportunity employers, with
the selection and promotion of individuals based on suitability for the
position offered. The salary and benefit levels of the Group’s employees
are kept at a competitive level and employees are rewarded on a
performance related basis within the general framework of the Group's
emolument policies.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group and the Directors
are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The Company has adopted the Scheme
as an incentive to the Directors and eligible participants. Details of the
Scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
annual report and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group pays retirement contributions in accordance with the
statutory requirements for our PRC staff and operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme for our Hong Kong staff. Particulars of these
retirement schemes are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the percentages of sales and
purchases attributable to the Group's five largest customers and five
largest suppliers, respectively, were both less than 5%.

At no time during the year under review have the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the issued Shares) had any interests
in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
of approximately HK$863,000 (for the fifteen months ended
31 March 2020: approximately HK$3,476,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the transactions as disclosed in note 38(c) to the
consolidated financial statements, no controlling Shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries has any contract of significance with the Company or its
subsidiaries during the year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on corporate governance principles
and practices adopted by the Company and any deviation to the code
provisions of the CG Code during the year under review is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 48 to 71 of this annual report.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Contractual Arrangements

Upon signing of the Structured Contracts, the details of which are set
out in the section headed “Principal Activities and Business Review
- Structured Contracts” above, Shenzhen Gudeng was treated as a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Shenzhen Zhibo and the accounts of which
are consolidated with those of the Company. Notwithstanding that
Shenzhen Gudeng will be treated as the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiary, it is, at the same time, treated as the Company’s connected
person as it is wholly-owned by the Nominee Shareholder, a director
of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, for the purposes
of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the Structured Contracts constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The amount of financial assistance made by the Group to
Shenzhen Gudeng was approximately RMB500,000 for the year ended
31 March 2021.

The transactions relating to the remuneration of the Directors took place
during the year under review as set out in note 38(a) to the consolidated
financial statements under the heading of “Material Related Party
Transactions” were the service contracts entered into between the
Directors which were exempt from any disclosure and shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The remaining
transactions which took place during the year under review as set out
under the heading of “Material Related Party Transactions” did not
constitute connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued Shares as
required under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March
2021 and up to the date of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events of the Group after the reporting period are
set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended
31 March 2021 have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited, whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. A resolution to re-appoint HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the external auditors of the Company
for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT

BT &3t E A R A A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA AGRI-PRODUCTS EXCHANGE LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Agri-
Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 244, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.

B ZBEN RS

31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central, Hong Kong
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KEY ADUIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

RRERER

Valuation of investment properties

REYFZ1GE

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements

Management has estimated the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties to be approximately HK$3,069,723,000 as
at 31 March 2021, with net loss in fair value for the year ended
31 March 2021 recorded in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
HK$14,202,000. Independent external valuations were obtained
in order to support management’s estimates. The valuations are
dependent on certain key assumptions that require significant
management judgement, including market selling price, market
rental and plot ratio of land use right.

i = AL
B2RRE

B BRI 17
EBREEMENR-_Z_—F=A=1+—H BEXEREWEZ

NTEA#)3,069,723,0008 7T + WNGRE B &K H A 2 E e
REBEE—T - —F=A=1+—HLFENAFEFEEY
14,202,000 87T - BEIEEE RSBV INDEEATFEGBE
ZEHENANETEEZEEAERABNEZRE (BETS
BB MisHS R I E PRI R)

FRARFZEE

REBHRMNBEFE - BREZZSASEMBZNA
FENGFEVMBHRRTREENER - HAERZS
EUBREERNLERE ERERENEEE e
MUFEREFERER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMERRPNEET

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

Evaluation of the independent valuer’'s competence,

capabilities and objectivity;
Assessing the methodologies used and the appropriateness
of the key assumptions based on our knowledge of the

property industry and using our valuation experts; and

Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of
the input data used.

We found the key assumptions were supported by the available
evidence.

B EREHREMR 2 AEETNREF B
FHEBAERRAE ) R EBIEE

RBFRMALEMETEOMBEMNARMANGHEZRZRM
B FHEFRAN AR ERRNAERE - &

RS PR R A BUR R E R RARRIRRE -

HMBEREERRIT B BESF -
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Key audit matter

RREERER

Carrying value of stock of properties

HWRFEZREE

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements

The carrying values of stock of properties was approximately
HK$1,692,714,000 as at 31 March 2021, with written down of
approximately HK$1,747,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. The management estimated the net
realisable values of the stock of properties by reference to sale
proceeds received after the end of reporting period less selling
expenses, which involve management estimates.

A2 RERA MR MR 20

R-ZZEZ—F=ZA=+—"RH YWEEEZEEEHNA
1,692,714,0008 7T © WNiREBm KEMEE KR REGEHE
- —F= A=1+—RHILFERIMORL 1,747,000 - B
EBEREBEREHR2ERRZEEREREEAXHEDER
B2 #3R5E - ARREEBEEMNMGEE -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMEBRRTNERET %

Our procedures in relation to management’s determination of the
carrying value of stock of properties included:

Assessing the appropriateness of the methodologies used
by management for the assessments of the net realisable

value of stock of properties; and

Comparing the management’s estimates of selling prices
for similar properties to market data.

We found the carrying values of the stock of properties were
supported by the available evidence.

B EREBEE 2 MEXFEREEETHRF RS

. HEEEERF G EFE 2 TR HERMRANT
ENEERE - R

AT S SRR E IR R R R EENBE LR -

BRI EFE 2 REESERESS -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the
“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

HtfER
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’
report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun

Practicing Certificate Number: P06901

Hong Kong, 28 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L05 AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE [NCOME

meEmk 1’@% NEarE
nv. \ E ﬁ LI
For the year ended 31 March 2021 E & —F=ZA=t—HILFE
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BT —NF
BZE —H—H=E
—E-—F —E-TF
=H=+—H =A=+—8
LFE IEt+A@EA
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B st FExT FAT
Turnover EEE 5 650,529 1,091,437
Cost of operation SN (298,721) (552,483)
Gross profit EF 351,808 538,954
Other revenue and other net income H b s K E A F U 6 41,158 19,587
Gain on litigation judgment FFEAFIRM 36 660,833 =
General and administrative expenses —MRITHFAX (157,436) (200,236)
Selling expenses SHERX (30,559) (97,187)
Profit from operations before fair AFEESBRREA
value changes and impairment BERF 865,804 261,118
Loss on early redemption of convertible #2708 [0] A] & J & 5 2 E518
bond (5,067) =
Allowance for expected credit losses B 5 K H e U SRIA LA
on trade and other receivables and MERERZ EHEERHE
loan receivables, net Bt EER (42,969) 6,617)
Net (loss)/gain in fair value of investment & &Y EAFEF (E518), ks
properties (14,202) 148,801
Loss on fair value change of derivative MEERTIEZ AT EZEER
financial instruments (263) (1,787)
Unrealised (loss)/gain on financial asset 2 AF (SR MBS R EIE 2
at fair value through profit or loss SRVEE ARBE (B18) W (6) 6
Written down of stock of properties YT EMOR (1,747) (2,969)
Profit from operations R R 801,550 398,552
Finance costs KA 7(a) (157,087) (226,752)
Profit before taxation BRBE AR F 7 644,463 171,800
Income tax FiS i 8 (143,293) (138,475)
Profit for the year/period REE /AN REF 501,170 33,325
Other comprehensive income/(loss),  Hfh 2K~ (E8)
net of income tax (HBRET1SBL)
Items that may be reclassified HRASHoEEBRmEE ¢
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating B INERS 5| B2 [E H =5
foreign operations 255,811 (136,612)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for ~ AGFE /ZARHRE b2
the year/period, net of income tax W25 (E548) (N Fri5 i) 255,811 (136,612)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for ZNEE AER2EIE
the year/period, net of income tax (E518) 458 (HIBRFTB ) 756,981 (103,287)
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meEmkAEtEEKE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2~ T - —F=A=+—HILFE

Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BT —NF
Bz —A—HZ
—B-—-F R
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
IHEE IEt+HMEA
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 7E FHET FABT
Profit attributable to: BT AL EMRRR -
Owners of the Company KAREA A 489,602 5,880
Non-controlling interests 1R i 11,568 27,445
501,170 33,325
Total comprehensive income/(loss) UTALEAEZ®
attributable to: Wi (B518) 448 -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE 2= 716,508 (117,331)
Non-controlling interests IR b 40,473 14,044
756,981 (103,287)
Earnings per share FR2R
— Basic (HK cents) - EAR GEAL) 13(a) 4.92 0.06
- Diluted (HK cents) - 58 (BAL) 13(b) 4.91 0.06

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.

BEHT 2 BB AR AR A M R < AR D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e SRR R

w3

Asat31March2021 R =—ZE=-—F=A=+—H

2021 2020
—EZ—fF —EEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
P 7 FExT FAET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE k& 15 56,800 45,759
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16(a) 19,632 18,802
Investment properties KEYHE 17 3,069,723 2,839,091
3,146,155 2,903,652
Current assets RBEE
Stock of properties MEFE 20 1,692,714 1,611,442
Trade and other receivables B 5 RE M FEWRIE 21 298,538 233,817
Loan receivables FEWE R 22 22,036 49,769
Financial assets at fair value through BATESERTERRRE
profit or loss L EMEE 23 125 394
Bank and cash balances IRITRIBEER 24 424,675 339,599
2,438,088 2,235,021
Current liabilities REAE
Deposits and other payables Be N E M ERFIR 25 520,612 683,044
Contract liabilities GHAE 26 586,577 464,983
Receipts in advance TR FRIE 234,863 160,237
Bank and other borrowings SRITREMEE 27 227,856 231,820
Convertible bonds AR ES 30 131,363 =
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(b) 5,054 3,590
Promissory notes QTSI 29 - 376,000
Income tax payable FEATETS R 31(a) 75,781 25,899
1,782,106 1,945,573
Net current assets MENEEFE 655,982 289,448
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBEE 3,802,137 3,193,100
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FEMBMRRE

Asat31March2021 A —ZE=-—F=A=+—H

2021 2020
—T-—F —ECTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B =E FExT FAT
Non-current liabilities FkRBERE
Bonds &% 28 195,630 176,998
Bank and other borrowings SRITREMEE 27 816,453 779,669
Convertible bonds Al AR E S 30 - 246,894
Lease liabilities HEBE 16(b) 20,200 20,653
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEEE 31(b) 564,001 483,521
1,596,284 1,707,735
Net assets FEE 2,205,853 1,485,365
Capital and reserves EAXR#iE
Share capital &N 32(a) 99,531 99,531
Reserves G 32(b) 1,708,617 992,109
Total equity attributable to owners AAREEABLRESEARE
of the Company 1,808,148 1,091,640
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE 2 397,705 393,725
Total equity YRR 2,205,853 1,485,365

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for #REMBEHMEER T _—F AT /\BEEES
issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf — #t/&E &R ETIEE - WHILA T ALTREEE -
by:

Leung Sui Wah, Raymond Tang Ching Ho
RinE BRE
Director Director
BE BE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial ~ B&Ht 2 Mt sEHEpK L 4R & B T ¥Rk 3% 2 48K 265 ©
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES\II/\I EQUITY
N it e

For the year ended 31 March 2021 @Ei:?:*izﬂ =+—HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
KOEEARG
Capital Convertible Non-

Share Share  redemption Contributed Shareholders’ Other Exchange  bonds  Statutory Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  reseve  surplus contribution  reserve  reseve  reserve reserve losses ~ Sub-Total interests equity
Rt ®sBE B8 RR 0 A EX TER®ER R & R #

B« 2@ B BB MR BR HR  BE BE EE M #E £

HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKS000  HKSO0  HKSO0D  HKS000  HKSOO0  HKOOOD  HKS000  HKSOD  HKSO0D  HKS000
fir T f&r Tt & Tt T Tt far Tt fEr TR i

Asat1January 2019 W_E-N5-F-R 9531 393147 95 5409 664 (15021)  (199823) 19541 - (48%5428) 1208971 386393 1,595,364
Bxchange ifetences onranslaion AERSHER ENEE
into presentation currency - - - - - - (I3 - - - By (340 (136612
Other comprehensive los forth period FHREMAEER - - - - - - (3) - - - B 3 (136612)
Proftforthe period KEREH - - - - - - - - -5 5680 UMs RIS
Totalcomprehensiveloss)ncome orthe period A2 (8 / i\ 48 - - - - - - ) - S SE0(UB) MM (03]
Transferto statutory reserve ERTHTRE = = = = - - - - 15,004 (15,094) - - -
Dividend paic tonon-<ontroling nteests EffFRER Re - - - - - - - - - - - 6710 6
Asat31 March 2020and 1 April 2020 RB22E=A=1-A

R-3%5RA-R 99,531 3923147 945 2215409 664 (15021) (323034 79547 15,094 (4904642 1,091,640 393725 1,485,365
Bxchange difrences on ranglton LR
into presentation currency - - - - - - 226906 - - - 226906 28905 255811
Other comprehensive ncome for te year FEEEHAENA - - - - - - 26906 - - - 1606 28905 255811
Proftfrthe year REREH - - - - - - - - - dB0602  dogl  mMSE  SOn1T0
Totelcomprehensiveincome orthe year TEERENAEE - - - - - - 26906 - - K960 TI6508  404T3 TS6981
Earlyredemption of convertible bonds REFETERES - - - - - - - (39052 R ) - - -
Tranferto satutory esenve ERTTRE - - - - - - - -5 (155 - - -
Dividend paid to non-<ontrling intersts BiiTHERES RE - - - - - - - - - - - B64%)  (6493)
Asat 31 March 2021 N-3--%=A=1-A 99,531 3923147 945 2215409 664 (15021) (96,128 40,495 16,652 (4377,546) 1,808,148 397,705 2,205,853

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial ~ B&MT 2 MR I 4R & B ISR 2 B A D ©
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
SRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &}

FLOWS

Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BT —NF
BZE —H—H=ZE
—E-—fF —ETF
=A=+-A8 =A=+—H
LFE IHt+HMEA
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 7E FHET FAT
Operating activities REER
Profit before taxation R A& A 644,463 171,800
Adjustments for: BMUTEEZHAE !
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - B RBEITE
equipment 7(c) 12,501 16,232
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7(c) 4,127 3,729
Amortisation of intangible assets EEEEE 7(c) - 6,061
Allowance for expected credit losses on & 5 [ EoAth & U Z 78 K fE UL
trade and other receivables and loan BN EHREEEE
receivables, net BT 7(c) 42,969 6,617
Gain on litigation judgment SRR R 36 (660,833) -
Unrealised loss/(gain) on financial BRATESERNERREE
assets at fair value through ZEMEEZRER R
profit or loss (Wz) 7(c) 6 (6)
Loss on fair value change of ﬁiﬁ%ﬂlﬂz
derivative financial instruments NEEEHEE 7(c) 263 1,787
Net loss/(gain) in fair value on investment & & ¥ AFEFEE ()
properties 17 14,202 (148,801)
Written down on stock of properties MEFEMR 20 1,747 2,969
Written off of investment properties P& DS S 17 - 1,451
Loss on early redemption of bonds REEREIES 2 B8 - 560
Loss on early redemption of convertible  #25 #& [B] A 2 j% &5 2 518
bond 7(c) 5,067 -
Finance costs BB 7(a) 157,087 226,752
Bank and other interest income $RIT ME AT BULA 6 (7,980) (10,102)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BE&&EZEE
equipment 7(c) 238 575
Operating profit before changes in EEESBBA 2 KERF
working capital 213,857 279,624
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 R H e RIAIE N (58,957) (6,867)
Decrease/(increase) in loan receivables FEWE FORA (32 hn) 2,833 (5,030)
Decrease in stock of properties MEFERD 49,866 305,611
Increase/(decrease) in deposit JEU RSB0, O L)
receipts in advance 59,332 (10,433)
Increase in contract liabilities BHABEIL I 80,264 6,501
Increase/(decrease) in deposits and Be READENRIE
other payables #hn, ) 31,638 (158,961)
Cash generated from operations RSB RE 378,833 410,445
Tax paid BAHIE
PRC enterprise income tax paid BT RS (57,140) (102,963)
Net cash generated from operating REEBRBzRERHE
activities 321,693 307,482
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n/T\ IE/ ﬁ AL Ej] 7:—'%
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BT —NF
BZE —H—HB=&
—EZ—F —ETF
=A=+-H =A=+—H
LFE IEt+HEA
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
B st FExT FAT
Investing activities REE
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEREEZ
plant and equipment FriS 508 204 160
Payments for investment properties, net &Y FUFEE (9,527) (14,657)
Payments for purchases of property, BEME - BREREKHE2
plant and equipment, net EFEE 15 (19,948) (11,954)
Bank and other interest received BUWERTT R E A F S 7,980 10,102
Net cash used in investing activities REXEBFMAZRERE (21,291) (16,349)
Financing activities RMEEK
Proceeds from new bank borrowings FERITIER Z B 5KIE 333,550 283,407
Repayment of bank borrowings TE BIRITER (334,946) (301,601)
Repayment of bonds redemption EEEHEDR
settlement - (275,999)
Early redemption of convertible bonds 2 R &6l 2 A AR E (130,000) =
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests Sz {5 FE#ZE fll#E a5 2 AR S, - (6,712)
Repayments of leases liabilities BEHEAE (6,730) (5,799)
Interest paid BEAIFE (104,914) (120,883)
Net cash used in financing activities MEXEKFTAZRESFE (243,040) (427,587)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERBSZEEM (BD) FHE
cash equivalents 57,362 (136,454)
Cash and cash equivalents at the REHANzRERESEEHE
beginning of the year/period 24 339,599 488,415
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes E RSB /& 27,714 (12,362)
Cash and cash equivalentsattheend R& HAZEHERBRSZE
of the year/period 24 424,675 339,599

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.

BaMt 2 M sERE R AR A AT R 2 MR AR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/_.r\

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B E =& = —

BRI

F=A=t+—HLFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries the “Group”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and the principal
place of business is Suite 3202, 32/F, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong
Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The immediate holding
company of the Company is Goal Success Investments Limited and the
intermediate holding company is Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings
Limited (“WYT") (Stock code: 897). In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the ultimate holding company of the Company is Wang On
Group Limited (Stock code: 1222).

The Group is principally engaged in the management and sales of
properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") which is also the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (“HK$’000") except otherwise indicated.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)  Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”"). For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CO”").

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to the periods
presented, unless otherwise stated.
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FEERERMRXSBRAA(EARAT] ERHE
WEARGHIEAEE]) AR A R EFMK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021 {2 —Z—

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b)

Change of financial year end date

On 29 January 2020, the Group announced to change its
financial year end date from 31 December to 31 March. The
Company changed its financial year end date in order to
align the Company'’s financial year end date with its ultimate
holding company. According, the current year cover the
twelve-month period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 (the
“Current Year”). The corresponding comparative amounts
shown for the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity, the consolidated statement of cash flows and related
notes cover a fifteen-month period from 1 January 2019 to
31 March 2020 and therefore may not be comparable with the
amounts shown for the Current Year.

Basis of preparation of financial statements

(i) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

2.

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2~ T - —F=A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c)  Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

(i)

Basis of measurement (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Lease, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

2. FEEHBEE®
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A BB RARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c)  Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Basis of measurement (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's subsidiaries are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is HKS. For the purposes of
presenting the consolidated financial statements, the
Group adopted HK$ as its presentation currency for the
convenience of the readers. The directors consider HKS,
being an internationally well-recognised currency, can
provide more meaningful information to the Company's
investors.

All values are rounded to the nearest thousand unless
otherwise stated.

2. FESHHEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #EZ =T —_—F = A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(©)

Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

(iii)  Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk
of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in
note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company

. has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with investees; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one

or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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A BB RARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year/period
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

(i) Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses, other than business
combination under common control are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as

incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #EZ =T —_—F = A=+—HIFE

-

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS
19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
sharebased payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within
12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the
underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 {2 —Z—

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
noncontrolling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration
is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year
from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS
9 would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)  Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group'’s cash-generating units
("CGUs") (or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an
operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of
CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the
group of CGUs) retained.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under

construction for such purposes).

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets upon application of
HKFRS 16 and subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease

income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the property)
is included in profit or loss in the period which the property is
derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any (see note 2(h)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceed and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0]

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives are as follows:

Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 30 years after
the date of completion.

. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 5 years after
the date of completion.

Furniture, equipment and motor vehicles are depreciated
over 5-10 years.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the items is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value,
if any, are reviewed annually.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a leasee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-
lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of staff quarter and office premises that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis

over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful live. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful live and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-
use assets that meet the definition of investment property and
inventory are presented within investment properties and stock
of properties respectively.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise the option; and
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentives receivable, based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone

price of the non-lease components.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected
to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the
change is a lease modification if all of the following conditions
are met:

. the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same
way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised

in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at the commencement date at amounts equal to
the Group’s net investment in the leases, measured using the
interest rate implicit in the respective lease. Initial direct costs
(other than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors)
are included in the initial measurement of the net investments
in the leases. Interest income is allocated to accounting periods
so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s

net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model. Variable lease
payments for operating leases that depend on an index or a rate
are estimated and included in the total lease payments to be
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are

recognised as income when they arise.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“"HKFRS 15”) to allocate the consideration under
the contract to each component. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

. property, plant and equipment;
right-of-use assets;

In any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is

estimated.

. Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. In
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.,

a cash-generating unit).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h)  Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the CGU
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the cash-generated unit (or group
of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying amount of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs
to sell, or value-in-use, if determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if these has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Allocation of corporate assets

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Stock of properties

Stock of properties, which are held for trading, is stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to sale proceeds received after the
end of reporting period less selling expense, or by management
estimate based on the prevailing market conditions.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
measured subsequently at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial
assets; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()  Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a

financial asset that is required to be measured at the

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing

so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting

mismatch.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “other

revenue and other net income” line item.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amounts of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency are determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at
the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

for financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss; and

for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables and loan
receivables and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes

in credit risk since initial recognition.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the
credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures
the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to 12m ECL.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument
at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that are reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that are available
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic
expert reports, financial analysts, governmental
bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various
external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate to the Group’s core
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular
financial instrument, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor, or the
length of time or the extent to which the
fair value of a financial asset has been less
than its amortised cost;
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHHEE
(Continued)
()  Financial instruments (Continued) ) =@IAE®
(i) Financial assets (Continued) (i) EHEE &)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TRIEERE (&
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (i) EERERAEEME)
existing or forecast adverse changes in TR B BUER A B
business, financial or economic conditions TEEBE TR

that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other

financial instruments of the same debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

1) it has a low risk of default;

(2)  the borrower has a strong capacity to meet

its contractual cash flow obligations in the

near term; and
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

(3)  adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Group considers a debt instrument to have
low credit risk when it has an external credit rating
of “investment grade” in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external
rating is not available, the asset has an internal
rating of “performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and

there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that financial assets that meet either
of the following criteria are generally not

recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial
covenants by the debtor; or

information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).

2. FEEHBEE®

() =RIE@E

i) EHMEE®E
EREENRE (F)

(i)

Eﬁﬂﬁt%?Mﬂ
€) @@&%F#R

—EMﬂ1mAEﬁ
HEWBESRER M

m&

BEERBEHIERNTES
BB [REERINIMRER
APARES - AEBRABERT

AABEEERBRIEIHEE
SNERRPAR - RIE BT AR A

[BH] - BROERERSH
FHEABRANIBAREL
ERHTHE -

REEE B AR AR RIS
EERE B AREINZRE

ZA - WABFT R (A0 E
B URRRERESES
HA AT 33 5 ME & B K iR 15
e

EHER
REERSA TR RFLAEE
EERRE ﬁﬁmﬁéﬁﬁ
EOEF  ARBERRR

B & LA TME — ﬁ%#m
ERMEE-RBERD

B AR RMER
A{H».jz

MBPE A& E B 51
AR ERIRA -
EIEA T AR RERE
BA(BRAKE 2

BEKXANEELE
B £5 A A A

mn)



——FFR

2021 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021 {2 —Z—

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default (Continued)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data

about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer

or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event (see (ii) above);

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()  Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available,
the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group's trade receivables are assessed as a
separate group);

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through

a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2~ T - —F=A=+—HILFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)  Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds

received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

(i)  Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of

direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,

sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity

instruments.

2.

FESHBEXR®

()

TRTE @

(i)

(ii)

TREE (&)

IR HEE
AREBEBEREEEWRRATTA
BHENERE - R[S —EE
BECREERZEEMERL
B D B K (3 o By 4R AL T
REMEE - WAKB L EER
TMERE A RNBARD E R
NORLHEEHNCDEREE
AEBEREYZEENRERE
mREAEAXNESENERA
- MAKBERBCEESHE
ERGENBRE D RER KD
W AEBEBRRSREE
That B MERH P 1S FRIRFERR A K
HRER

N ERAEHER A ENS
BMEER  BEREEES KR
FEW AR (B 2 ZFN B HER -

DI BIEB FRA

B MEATRATRIES D% HE
MMEEARERAEREATA
MERD BT RB AR -

BRAETA

BAT A AFEAEEEENEDR
HAMABBR ZFSER 2 M
BH  REBBITZRATER
WOER 2 P8 SR IE R B B B TR A
MR o

BOARAAGRATEERE
R P RERANFOR: - BLEEERN
RRARAZHATANEE B
& BITHEEHPIER -



——FFR

2021 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()  Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination,
(i) held-for-trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are
measured subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Financial liabilities including borrowings, deposits
and other payables, lease liabilities, promissory notes
and convertible bonds are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.

Compound instruments

The component parts of convertible notes issued by
the Group are classified separately as financial liabilities
and equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2~ T - —F=A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Compound instruments (Continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for a similar non-convertible instrument.
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised
cost basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component
from the fair value of the compound instrument as a
whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of
income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.
In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible loan note, the balance recognised in equity
will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are recognised directly in equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability component and are
amortised over the lives of the convertible loan notes
using the effective interest method.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss for financial liabilities that
are not part of a designated hedging relationship.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 {2 —Z—

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially
recognised and redemption value being recognised in profit
or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with any
interest and fees payable, using the effective interest method.

Deposits and other payables

Deposits and other payables are initially recognised and
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated

at cost.

Bank and cash balances

Bank and cash balances comprise cash at banks and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2~ T - —F=A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n)  Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the period in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in share options reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using the binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the period
of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share options reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted
to reflect the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised
in the share options reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to accumulated losses).
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)~ Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary

difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale, except for freehold land, which is always
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For lease transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement
of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of

remeasurement or modification.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a

legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against

current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes

levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i)

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the

obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliable, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
no-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance

obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “contro

1z

of the goods or

services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a

bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct

goods or services that are substantially the same.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(q)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following

criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed
for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer. A contract asset and a contract liability
relating to a contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(@) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Rental income from operating leases
Rental income from properties leasing under operating
leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease

terms.

Revenue from properties sale

For property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in
time, revenue is recognised when the customer obtains
the legal title of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

Revenue from property ancillary services
Revenue from property ancillary services are recognised

when the services are rendered.

Commission income from agricultural produce
exchange market

Commission income from agricultural exchange market
are recognised at point in time when the services are
rendered in accordance with the terms of the agreement
signed.

Food and agricultural by-products merchandising
Revenue is recognised at point in time when the control
of the goods are considered to have been transferred to
the customers.

Other income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Government subsidies that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(r)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year/period
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost on a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transactions dates.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the fair value was
determined.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the results of the Group’s operations not
denominated in Hong Kong dollars are translated into Hong
Kong dollars, i.e., the presentation currency of the Group, at
the average rates for the year/period. The items of statement of
financial position, including goodwill arising on consolidation
of foreign operations acquired, are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised directly in a separate component of equity. Goodwill
arising on consolidation of a foreign operation acquired is
translated at the foreign exchange rate that applied at the date
of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences recognised in equity which relate to
that foreign operation is included in the calculation of the profit
or loss on disposal.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(2)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

2.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(t)

Related parties (Continued)

2) (Continued)

(iv)  One entity is joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers also
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (2).

(vii) A person identified in (2)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that
is engaged either in providing products or services (business
segment), or in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment (geographical segment),
which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from
those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting
system, the Group has chosen business segment information
as the primary reporting format and geographical segment
information as the secondary reporting format for the purposes
of these financial statements.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(u)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment. For
example, segment assets may include stock of properties, trade
receivables and other receivables and right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment. Segment revenue, expenses,
assets, and liabilities are determined before intra-group
balances and intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of
the consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-
group balances and transactions are between group entities
within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on
similar terms as those available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during
the period to acquire segment assets (both tangible and
intangible) that are expected to be used for more than one

period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate
assets, interest-bearing loans, borrowings, tax balances,
corporate and financing expenses.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other revenue and other net income”.

2.

(u)
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(w)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment

losses.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

The Group regards its financial guarantee contracts in respect of
mortgage facilities provided to certain property purchasers as

insurance contracts.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL,
are subsequently measured at the higher of:

the amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
the revenue recognition policies.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(y)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that can be converted into equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of shares
that would be issued on conversion and the value of the
consideration that would be received at that time do not vary,
are accounted for as compound financial instruments which

contain both a liability component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the convertible
bonds is measured as the present value of the future interest
and principal payments, discounted at the market rate of
interest applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar
liabilities that do not have a conversion option. Any excess of
proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the liability
component is recognised as the equity component. Transaction
costs that relate to the issue of a compound financial
instrument are allocated to the liability and equity components

in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised
cost. The interest expense recognised in profit or loss on the
liability component is calculated using the effective interest
method. The equity component is recognised in the convertible
bonds reserve until either the bond is converted or redeemed.

If the convertible bond is converted, the convertible bonds
reserve, together with the carrying amount of the liability
component at the time of conversion, is transferred to share
capital and share premium as consideration for the shares
issued. If the convertible bond is redeemed, the convertible

bonds reserve is released directly to retained profits.

When the convertible bond is extinguished before maturity
through an early redemption or repurchase where the original
conversion privileges are unchanged, the consideration paid
and any transaction costs for the redemption or repurchase
are allocated to the liability component and equity component
using the same allocation basis as when the convertible bond
was originally issued. Once the allocation of consideration and
transaction costs is made, any resulting gain or loss relating
to the liability component is recognised in profit or loss and
the amount of consideration relating to equity component is
recognised in equity.

2.

(y)
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3.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after
1 April 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
(Amendments)
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a Business
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group'’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(”H KFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments’

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4

and HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
- Phase 2*

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets

(Amendments) between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)"

HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, Plant and Equipment
- Proceeds before Intended Use?

HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

3.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumption about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs to sell and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset, which requires significant judgement relating to level
of revenue and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and projections of revenue and operating costs. Changes in
these estimates could have a significant impact on the carrying
amount of the assets and could result in additional impairment
charge or reversal of impairment in future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position at their fair value, which is
assessed at the end of each reporting period by independent
qualified valuers, after taking into consideration all readily

available information and current market environment.

Net realisable value of stock of properties

Valuations of stock of properties are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value at the end of the reporting period. Net
realisable value is determined on the basis of the estimated
selling price less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
The directors of the Company estimate the net realisable value
for stock of properties based primarily on the latest invoice
prices and current market conditions. In addition, the directors
of the Company perform an inventory review on a product-by-
product basis at the end of each reporting period and assess the
need for written down of stock of properties.

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and loan
receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group's past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.

4.

mmjﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
—F=A=T—BILFE

ERETHE R AT TAEEM
ZEERE @

fhEH T HEE

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

2 TE2HRIR (@)

KEYERZIAE
REWMERRE RN FEIIARE BB
=N ARATERSHRERREBEL
SERGEEMEER —TABEREHNZ
BN B ATTISRBERELRE

VEFRZAIZTFE

RBERR - MEFEHERKALT]
EHFEMERIBIEETE - AJER
FEENMEFEBEREEFERTZM
FERARETE - AR B EE T BZENRHN
BREREBRITTREFTVEFENT
BIEE - I ARRERNEWRE
HMRIRZFBEMEESFEETRA -
HEREFEMRIEFS -

B 5 REMEWHR K EREHTE
s BEERREE
ERMEBEENBREBDEREGRENE
R IEHEIRRNERER - AEBEEEL
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Income tax and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and certain tax losses are recognised as management considers
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax
assets and tax in the period in which such estimate is changed.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third
party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The valuation
committee works closely with the qualified external valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments.

BEASTHE R AT I EEM
ZEERE @

fEET AT Z T ERR (@)

(v)

(vi)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

Turnover represents revenue from (i) property rental income, (ii)

property ancillary services, (iii) commission income from agricultural

produce exchange market, (iv) property sales, and (v) food and

agricultural by-products merchandising. The amount of each

significant category of revenue recognised during the year/period, net

of discount and sales related tax, is analysed as follows:

5.

EEBEODEEASBA - ()VDREERT -
(i BEREMRXHMHZMEWA - (V)%
HERVRMEREEREEMS 2K - A
FRE/HRER 2 GESAKEER 2 €58 (1
BRI R SHERRN) DA T

Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BT 1%
BE —H—B=%
—E=—F —E-TF
=A=+-—A8 =H=1+—H
LFEE IE+HEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FHT
Revenue from contracts with customers: BREAEHME
Recognised at a point in time RE A BT 5 77
Revenue from property ancillary services YERERSS 2 WS 98,389 104,150
Commission income from agricultural KEREMRGMISL
produce exchange market AU A 83,276 97,383
Revenue from property sales YISSHE 2 ek 233,183 622,703
Food and agricultural by-products Rm M REIEMEE
merchandising 41,960 30,286
456,808 854,522
Revenue from other sources: E A AOR 2z Mz -
Property rental income MEHES WA 193,721 236,915
650,529 1,091,437
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6. OTHERREVENUE AND OTHERNETINCOME 6. Hfttlizz R HEWA
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BT NF
BZE —H—BE
—E-—F T -TF
=HA=+-—H =A=+—H
IHEE IE+AEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Bank and other interest income HRITREAMFSMA 7,980 10,102
PRC government grants (Note) BB AT G (B RE) 23,433 4,919
Others HAh 9,745 4,566
41,158 19,587

Note: PRC government grants represent various form of subsidies granted
to the Group by the local governmental authorities in the PRC for
compensation of expenses incurred by the Group. These grants are
generally made for business support and awarded to enterprises on
a discretionary basis in respect of COVID-19 and its investments in
the agricultural products exchange market in the PRC. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

BYRE © A BRI T 4 B 5 v B3 75 U BB P AR =
BER s @M UHENEEMES
ZHX - ZEHM - RERKRFEBER
meft - WIRMBEEERL T A REH
BREREMXHMHERGLRRK - WE
BRI SRR ARER Z RIS ARE -
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7.

Profit before taxation is arrived after charging/(crediting):

(a)

Finance costs

mmjﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
—F=A=T—BILFE

BRBE A= A
BBETERIENE, GTA) -

(@) RUERA

Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BT NF
BZE —H—HB=&
—EZ—fF —EEF
=A=+—H =A=+—~H
LFE IEt+HEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT AT
Interests on bank and other AR A FABREER ZIRTT
borrowings wholly repayable REMEE2FE
within five years 84,470 49,994
Interests on bank and other AR A RBEER ZIRTT
borrowings wholly repayable REMEE2FE
over five years 3,768 6,431
Interests on promissory notes R 7 R B 18,720 29,375
Interests on convertible bonds ARG E ST B 26,261 36,944
Interests on bonds BEHA B 21,529 101,601
Interests on lease liabilities HEGEFS 2,339 2,749
Less: Amounts classified as B DREREERNMEIEE
capitalised into stock FEzewE M)
of properties (Note) - (342)
157,087 226,752

Note: No capitalisation of finance costs on borrowing for the year
ended 31 March 2021 (weighted average capitalisation rate
for fifteen months from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020:

7.39%).

ficE: #E

T —F=R=+—HIEF

B2 EERERALEERNME (B

T-NF-A—HE

—E-EE=

= —=

=+ —HIETREEAZ TS

BAR(ER : 7.39%) °
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 7. BRBUANGER )
(b)  Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) (b) BINAK (BEESHE)
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BE-Z—NF
BZE —H—H=
—E-—fF —EIEF
=A=+-8 =B=+—~8
LFE IE+AEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FABxT
Contributions to defined M5 E SRR NG Bl
contribution retirement plans 1,775 4,591
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREAMER 56,819 77,735
58,594 82,326
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PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 7. BRBUADGER )
() Otheritems (0 HIEE
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BE-ZT—NF
BZE —H—B=&
—EZ—fF —ETF
=A=+-—A8 =A=+—H
LFE IEt+HEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FABxT
Property rental income MEHRSWA 193,721 236,915
Less: Outgoings o (17,591) (20,731)
Net rental income HEWAHE 176,130 216,184
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% * BE R&EITE
equipment 12,501 16,232
Amortisation of intangible assets T A G - 6,061
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESEITE 4,127 3,729
Loss on disposal on property, plant HEWE - BERREZEE
and equipment 238 575
Auditors’ remuneration ZERT B <
— audit services - BZRTE 1,980 2,600
- other services - HthAR% 280 660
Expenses relating to short-term lease %2 HATHE AR 1 146 1,080
Loss on early redemption of IR ER RRES 2 BB
convertible bonds 5,067 -
Loss on early redemption of bonds R ERIES 2 EE - 560
Loss on fair value change of PTHEERIAEZ
derivative financial instruments NEEESEE 263 1,787
Unrealised loss/(gain) on financial BRATEFRRERRR
assets at fair value through profit BRI SREEREH
or loss &g, ()
— investment in equity security - ETRAESFKRE
listed 6 6)
Total unrealised loss on financial BRATEFIR IR R REIE
assets at fair value through profit 2 e REEREREBARE
or loss 269 1,781
Allowance for expected credit losses & 5 [z E A i@ U s 78 A K% B U
on trade and other receivables and BEREREEEEREFHE
loan receivables, net 42,969 6,617
Cost of stock of properties YEFE KA 156,215 425,259
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2~ T - —F=A=+—HILFE

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. HLZEBmkHMmEEWKWEERZ
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND FriEs
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(i) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and (i) LEBEkEMEERERATIETRE

other comprehensive income represents:

Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
B=Z—NF
Bz —H—B=®
—B-—fF —2-FF
=A=+—~H =H=1~H
LHFE IE+AEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
Current tax BIHATEIE
PRC enterprise income tax R ZEFTER 103,346 56,373
Deferred tax EELERIE
Origination and reversal of ERER ZEERED
temporary difference (note 31(b)) (B3 31(b)) 39,947 82,102
143,293 138,475
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the HRAEBEREBEEZE_ZT=_—F=H
Group had no estimated assessable profits arising in Hong =t+—HAERZZTTF=A=+—H1t
Kong for the year/period ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March FEHBHEREBEE G ER
2020. PRC Enterprise Income Tax is computed according to i A 0 B b 3P 4R B A S I 15 B AE
the relevant legislation interpretations and practices in respect % F/HRZREDEMERIIRE
thereof during the year/period. PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate HEZEfZERENGE - HEZF
is 25% for the year/period ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March Z—F=A=+—HRZZ=-TF=H4
2020. =+ —HIEFEBH - hEAEME

T2 B2 A 25% ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. FRBEmRHMEEKSERZ
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND FRri&8L @)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)
Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting profit at (i) HERBEFEZHBEREZRE:RT
applicable tax rates: ZHIER
Fifteen months from
Year ended 1January 2019 to
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
Bz-3--f% BEZF-NE-A-BZ
ZA=t-H ZZT-ZF=R=1-H
LEE It+afEA
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
ThEx THT
Profit before taxation B AN A 644,463 171,800
Notional tax on profit before REERNBHEAZER
taxation calculation at the rates BB R E 2 BB
applicable to losses in the wHlz EEHE
jurisdictions concerned 161,115 25,0 42,951 250
Effect of different tax rates in other tax HiHi% el AR TR
jurisdiction REmye (40,838) (6.3) 18810 109
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR T RERERR
and temporary difference il 109,481 169 76,565 446
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEFHUART B2 (120,858) (18.8) (7,692) (45)
Utilisation of tax losses previously A ZAAED HBER
not recognised (2,802) (0.4) (7,761) (4.5)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RER BB BT 2 17,195 27 15,602 9.1
Withholding tax on distributable HENBARTHE
profits of PRC subsidiaries Sl B 20,000 3.1 = =
Income tax expense for REE/HRAERES
the year/period 143,293 222 138,475 80.6
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9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9. EEME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Section 383 of the RRBEBRF ERESHZERD AL (F
Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of 622G E) E3BKRERAFEHBMESTHE W0
Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) during the reporting period are as T~
follows:
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-_Z-_—-S=H=1+—HLEFE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits scheme
fees inkind contributions Total
e 2RR BIK
BEx0e BYRIE TR k]
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FTiERx THET FExT
Executive directors: HITES
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond R (FTIRAER)

(Chief Executive Officer) (note 9(a)) GELO) 1,921 597 18 2,536
Chan Chun Hong, Thomas (note 9(b)) BRiREE (FizE9(b)) 1,153 - 17 1,170
Yau Yuk Shing iF=P1 300 - 15 315
Non-executive director: FHTES
Tang Ching Ho (Chairman) (note 9(c)) EE (£%)

(Fi3E9(c)) 35 - - 35

Independent non-executive directors: BIYEHTES :
Ng Yat Cheung RAE 164 - - 164
Lau King Lung 25z 164 - - 164
Wong Ping Yuen TR 164 - - 164
3,901 597 50 4,548
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9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

9. %%%ﬁ@

For the fifteen months from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020 = ey S )5] —HEZ-Z=-_ZFTF=A
:‘f’* HiE+AE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme
fees inkind  contributions Total
e RHR RIR
EEEE EYAE sHEIER ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT FAT THAT FAT
Executive directors: HITES:
Chan Chun Hong, Thomas (Chairman and PRI ER
Chief Executive Officer) (8 RITE#EE) 1,435 189 23 1,647
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond RinE 2,331 3,363 23 5717
Yau Yuk Shing =P 375 = 19 394
Independent non-executive directors: BYFHTES:
Ng Yat Cheung RHE 210 = = 210
Lau King Lung Bkt S 210 = = 210
Wong Ping Yuen TR 210 - - 210
4771 3,552 65 8,388

During the year/period ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No directors of the Company waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year/period ended 31
March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

Notes:

(a) Director was redesignated from the Chief Financial Officer to the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and was appointed as
the Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Company on
8 February 2021.

(b) Director was resigned as an executive director on 8 February 2021
and has ceased to be the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer.

(c) Director was appointed as a non-executive director and the
Chairman of the Board on 8 February 2021.

REBE-_T-—F=A=+—RHARKR_T_TF
ZA=+—HIEFE HM  AEEHERE
NRAIEFXEMME - (EARBE MBS INA
REBERZ RESEABBREE NEE=Z
——F=A=t—RAR=ZZE-TF=A=1—
BIEFE HE - SEEAAR R ESTHER

BREEAE R

Al

BifaE -

(@)

ZEESHEFEUBE ATARNARITHE
ﬁ IR -_ZE-_—F_ANBEZITAK
RRMITEESESE -

ZEERN_ZT_—F_AN\BBERTE
= WA BEEERSIFERITHRAER -

ZEER T —F_RN\BEZEAEH
TEEREFGERE -

165



166  China Agri-Products Exchange Limited FREERRZERLT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #EZ =T —_—F = A=+—HIFE

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 10. %%iﬁ@ﬂ)&i

(@) Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (@) B ﬁ%@ﬂ/\iﬁqﬂﬁﬁ% (B=Z—
(fifteen months from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020: one) ¢ A—HBzE—_Z - TF=/F=+— EI
are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 9. The IE+HRBEA: —R)AEE - BE 2
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining three BN FORE - H ﬁ? =#%E=
(fifteen months from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020: four) E—NF—A—HE-_ZE_ZTF=A1
individuals who are neither a director or chief executive of the =+—HIE+RM@EA : @F) AL (EW
Company are as follows: HFARAEEFHEETHRAE) 2BE 42

CERN
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
B=Z—NF
BE —H—H=
—EZ—fF —ETF
=A=+—H =A=+—8H
LFE IE+HEAR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FABT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEMER 4,017 12,332
Retirement schemes contributions RORET B 54 90
4,071 12,422
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 {2 —Z—

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(b)  The emoluments of three (fifteen months from 1 January
2019 to 31 March 2020: four) individuals with the highest
emoluments are within the following bands:

(b)

10. ZEFHMAL @

=2 E=F

—hF—-—H—-BEZ
i:ﬂ:+-5¢+£ﬂﬂ-ﬂ@%%
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FALZMEN FATEHE

E-T

—=

Fifteen

months from

Year 1 January

ended 2019 to

31 March 31 March

2021 2020

BT NEF

Bz —HA—BA=E

—EB_—F —ECTF

=A=+—H =A=+—H

LFE IE+HEA

Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 75 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000 /5 7T 2 =
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 77T £ 2,000,000 /5 7T 1 =
Over HK$2,000,000 1835 2,000,000 75 7T - 4
3 4

(c) The emoluments paid or payable to member of senior
management (excluding the directors as disclosed in note 9) are
within the following bands:

(@]

ENSENTRREREKE (TREN

FOPTIEE 2 BF) 2 HINN FIATEE :

Fifteen

months from

Year 1 January

ended 2019 to

31 March 31 March

2021 2020

BE=Z—NF

Bz —)El —HZE

—E-—F —E-TF

=A=+—H =A=+—H

LLFE IE+HEA

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 %1,000,000/5 7T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 /7T 2 1,500,000 5 7T 3 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /7T 2 2,000,000 5 7T 1 1
Over HK$2,000,000 {38 2,000,000 /7T - 3
5 5
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10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

() (Continued)

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration
received and receivable from the Group by these directors
in their capacity as employees to the Group and/or in their
capacity as the directors of the Company during the year/period
ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

During the year/period ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March
2020, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the highest paid individual and senior management as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

11. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENTS BENEFITS

12.

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes
(the “Schemes”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities whereby the Group is required to make contributions to
the Schemes at certain percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries,
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC. The
local government authorities are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to retired employees.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group has no other obligation for the payment of postretirement
benefits beyond the contributions described above.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year/period ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020
respectively.

10.

11.

12.
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© @
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

Basic earnings per share

2021 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|A|_ STATEMENTS
II/T\ (=3 jﬁﬂ#ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁf

For the year ended 31 March 2021 {2 —Z—

13. BREF
(a) SRERRF

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the

profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$489,602,000 (fifteen months from 1 January 2019 to
31 March 2020: approximately HK$5,880,000) and the weighted
average number of 9,953,067,822 ordinary shares (fifteen
months from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020: 9,953,067,822

ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

—F=ZA=t—HLFE

BREAEF TIREARA R HEE AEMN
six 1) 47 489,602,000 8 7T (B = — 1L &F

—A—HEZ

Z-ZF=A=+—H1It

~+F{E A %) 5,880,000 % 7T) & 4 A ANHEF
i’ﬂ E%éﬁ% EAYEL A 9,953,067,822 % (@

—NE-—HA—HEZ

= + —HIE+AREA :9953,067,822 Hx

HRRHE -

Diluted earnings per share (b) TREFHEF
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
B=T—NF
Bz —HA—BZE
—E-—F T -TF
=A=+—8H =A=+—H
LFE IE+HEA
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Earnings ZF
Earnings for the purpose R ESRERER 2 BF
of basic earnings per share 489,602 5,880
Interest on convertible bonds, net AR 5 S (FOBRFTISHE)
of income tax 21,458 32,912
Loss on fair value change MEERTIE AT EEEHER
of derivative financial instruments 263 1,787
Loss on early redemption IR PR AR &S 2 E1E
of convertible bonds 5,067 -
Earnings for the purpose of diluted RSt E SR E &R 2 87
earnings per share 516,390 40,579
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #EZ =T —_—F = A=+—HIFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 13. 8RER @
(b)  Diluted earnings per share (Continued) BiEERR (&)
Number of shares
RHEE
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TF
Shares ®RH
Weighted average number of et E GRER
ordinary shares for the purpose of BN 2 hnteE
basic earnings per share S CR e eE] 9,953,067,822 9,953,067,822
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary BIELT AR #EETE
shares:
Convertible bonds AR ES 562,273,973 662,000,000
Weighted average number of REsTEBREERT 2
ordinary shares, for the purpose of InETFHEERERE
diluted earnings per share 10,515,341,795 10,615,067,822

Diluted earnings per share for the period ended 31 March
2020 was the same as basic earnings per share because the
outstanding convertible bonds had an anti-dilutive effect on
the basic earnings per share.

14. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group has two reportable segments under HKFRS 8, (i) agricultural
produce exchange market operation and (ii) property sales. The
segmentations are based on the information about the operation of
the Group that management uses to make decisions and regularly
review by the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of
allocating resources to segments and assessing their performance.

HRAERZ AT RRESHERERR
NMEBREEZE  BEBE_T_TF
ZA=+—B ISRz EREER T R
BREARBFER -

/'\;“ZB*&L‘!:
mfa BTSRRI E R - AEEEAT
27

E/HH  (\REREMR IS K (i) D

%iﬁ% B B IIENE IR E AR ELIR
AR EREERRE PR - A

DEED AN ERMELRE L EER

R AREREEF -



—E-—FFH 2021 Annual Report 171

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEMBREME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

14. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 14. ZEEHE @
Segment revenue and results B R AR ()
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenues and results by REENAFE BT BREE %R 2E D
reportable segments for the current year and prior period: W REESTT ¢
Agricultural
produce exchange
market operation Property sales Unallocated Consolidated
HeRERLATS ES 15 AR B
Fifteen Fifteen Fifteen Fifteen
months from months from months from months from
Year 1 January Year 1 January Year 1January Year 1January

ended 019t ended 019t ended 019t ended 2019to
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2021 2000 2021 2000 2021 2020 2021 2000

BE | -R-BZ BE | -R-BZ BE | -A-BZ BE | -A-B%
Z30-F | ZRCFE | C8o-f | CBCEF | C8C-F | C3C%F | D3R | CRCBE
ZR=t-R |ZR=t-B |=B=t-B |ZA=f-B |ZA=t-B (ZA=t-R |ZA=t-R |2AIt-E

LEE | LTEER L%§ | IrIfER 5§ | LTEEA 5§ | LTREA

HKSO00 | HKSODD |  HKSO00 | HKSOD |  HKSO00 | SO0 | HKSO00 | HKSO00

Tin T T T 1 Thn T ThT

Tumover 25E
Btemal sales blizS #7346 e | 3318 622703 - - 605w | 1084
Resuls -
Seqment resul ANEE 167975 25138 62284 8240 - - | 209 37625
Otherevenue and other etincome EHUERERFIA 36,768 10346 - - 4390 9241 41,158 19587
Gai onigaton judgment i - - - - | 66083 - | 66083 -
Netloss)gainin fairvalue o ivestmentproperties ~ AMEATER (58) /g (14200 | 148801 - - - - (14200) | 148801
Loss onfairvalue change ofdervtiv inancil fEEHTEZ ATERTER

instruments - - - - (263) (1,787) (263) (1,787)
Witen down oftock of properties NEFEHH - - (1741 (2969) - - (1,741 (2969)
Allowance forexpected reitlosses on tradeand other &5 £ AGUEL RIENER 2

tecevables and oanrecevabls,net EREEERRESE () (5634 - - (42.47) 83 | (42969) (6617
Loss onearyredemptionof convertblebonds REEETARRESBR - - - - (5,067) - (5,067) -
Unvealised loss)fain n financil asset BATESIRRERRRREL

atfairvalue through proftorloss SHEEZRER (5E)/ME - - - - (6) 6 (6) §
Unallocated corporae expenses FOLLERS (66,446) (96,094
Profitfom operation L5t 801,550 39855
Finance costs AR (28.968) (36501) - - | o) | (%01 | (rsTeen | (26752
Proftbefore taxation BT 644,463 171,800
Income tax i (13293) | (138479)

Profitor the year/period /SR 501,170 B35
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #EZ =T —_—F = A=+—HIFE

14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 14.

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
the Group'’s accounting policies describe in note 2. Business segment
represents the profit from each segment without allocation of certain
other revenue and other net income, change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments, change in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, loss on early redemption of bonds, gain on
litigation judgment, central administrative costs and directors’ salaries,
certain finance costs and income tax expenses. This is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the year/period
ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
reportable segment:

Agricultural
produce exchange
market operation
CERERRETS
2021 2020
—B--f | -Z2-%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAx FHEL
Assets {3
Segment assets DEERE 3,731,650 | 3334415
Unallocated corporate assets AOBOEEE
Consolidated total assets RREERE
Liabilities 8
Segment liabilities AHAE 1,970,543 | 1448318
Unallocated corporate liabilities ~ RAECEA(E
Consolidated total liabilities SEaEEE

ps

)

HHE
EPU R N AR (4

WoRlz et BUR A2 Rl 2 AR B &
SHREAER © 2B 0 EERD EE THO K
REAMFEA - STEERTAZ AFEZD -
BAFEINERERGERBEZSHEELZA
FEED  RFBOGES2BE - FRAHRK
i PRITBKA - EZFHMH - ETEHEXA
KBRS A& /‘*Bz/mﬂ B TI R E IR

DB K D RRR BT M £ B BRRAER
ZAR o

Y

P

REBBRBBETINARFPEE 2 W - BE
:;:*i A=+—BER=ZZ=FF=A4
=t+—BIFE R ED PEEE -

EH

MEENMAE
BRE2Rs ML 2 EERBEBESIM

P

- 3
o

Property sales Consolidated
MEHE &a
2021 2020 2021 2020

B--F | ZT-TF | ZB--f | ZT-%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 |  HK$'000 HK$'000
TER AT TEn AT

1,692,714 1,611,442 | 5,424,364 4,945,857
159,879 192,816

5,584,243 5,138,673

408,568 475800 | 2,379,111 1,924,118
999,279 1,729,190

3,378,390 3,653,308
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 14. ZEHE @
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) DEPEENEE (@)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating HERN B2 D HIRRERARERM S

resources between segments:

= all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than = BRiZATEYRREERRE EEZinﬁ
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and corporate BERDPEBEEZIN FIBEEHADH
assets. TE2HDE o

= all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than - WRiEH AERER  AIRRES REE
bonds, promissory notes, convertible bonds and corporate BEZIN FIEEBEHLERTFERDE -
liabilities.

Other segment information HAh o EpE R
The following is an analysis of the Group’s other segment information: REEEMDEERIITAT -
Agricultural
produce exchange
market operation Property sales Unallocated Consolidated
SERERATE REE AR )
Fifteen Fifteen Fifteen Fifteen
months from months from months from months from
Year 1 January Year 1 January Year 1 January Year 1 January

ended 019t ended 019t ended 2019t ended 2019to
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

am 0 am m am m am m
BZE-hE AENE BZ3-hF
iz B2 | fi-EE gz gz
tR-f e = “R-f
ZP=t-B |ZA=t-B |ZBZt-B |ZR=r-B |ZR=t-B |ZA=1-R |ZA=t-R
5§ | 1tTafEA IL5E | LTREA g | ctafA 5%

BRSO | HKSO0 | HKSO00 | KO | RSO0 | HKSODD | HKSODO | HKSO
Tén | ThEn | TER | Thr | TER | TAm | TEm | Tin

Capitalexpenditure (Note EnEL () 2,785 7564 - - 6,690 2531 2475 3009
Netloss (gan) nfairvalue of mvestment propertis ~ RENEATFEZ 358/ (4F) 9200 | (148801) - - - - W00 | (148801)
Loss on farvaluechange of dervative financi fEeBTA/NTERIRE

instruments - - - - 263 1781 263 1787
Unvealised loss(gain) onfnancia assetsatfainvalue AP EFIE REERRREL

through profitorloss SHEERERER/ hn)

- nstrument n equity securitesisted - FibAEsTA - - - - 6 (0 6 (0
Depreciaton ofproperty, plant and equipment 0% BRRGERE 10434 1370 - - 2067 2512 12501 16231
Amotisation f ntangible assets BRAEERE - 6061 - - - - - 6061
Deprecaton ofightof useassets fPRiEaEnE I8y 370 - - - - 41 370
Witien down o tock of propeties NERERH - - 1747 2969 - - 1747 2969
Alowanceforexpected creditlossesontradeand. ~~ ERREREIGIERENES 2

othereceivables and loanreceivabls,net BHEEEERETE m 5634 - - 0u 9% 42969 6617
Loss on arly redemption of convertibe bonds REEETARESER - - - - 5067 - 5067

Loss on arly redemption ofbonds [RREOER/BE - - - - - 50 - 50
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
Other segment information (Continued)

Note: Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment and investment properties.

For the year/period ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, no other
single customers contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue.

Geographical information

As at the end of the reporting period, the entire revenue of the
Group were generated from external customers located in the PRC
and over 90% of non-current assets of the Group were located in
the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical segment analysis on the
carrying amount of segment assets or additions to property, plant and

equipment is presented.

14.

DEEE @
Hip D EER (48

it : EARXBEDE  BELRREBAREKE
MEZRE -

HEoBPEHEE—_E-_—F=A=+—HK
—E-TFE-A=+—HIFE HH  TE
HEtE—RFERAERE 10% A £ 2 Wz -

Hblg B

RIERR - AEE MRS TIEEBRLNH
BZIMNBRF - RAKEE 0% IERBEEN
KA E - Bt - WEZ 555 BEEREER
W BB RREREETHED FAM
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

A BB RARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

15. Y% - BERKRE

Furniture,
equipment
and motor Leasehold
Buildings vehicles improvements Total
&E - HE
BF  RERASE MELE ko]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TAT FHT TAT

Cost: B
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—-hE—HA—H 7,567 104,974 7,852 120,393
Exchange adjustments BEE 3 (313) (4,535) (332) (5,180)
Additions NE 115 11,514 325 11,954
Disposals HE (26) (3,740) = (3,766)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-T-TF

=A=+—H

R=ZZT-_TFMA—H 7,343 108,213 7,845 123,401
Exchange adjustments BEE 3¢ % 611 9,263 876 10,750
Additions NE - 13,151 6,797 19,948
Disposals HE - (3,952) - (3,952)
At 31 March 2021 R-B--%F

=HA=+-H 7,954 126,675 15,518 150,147
Accumulated depreciation: RIE
At 1 January 2019 RZZT-NF—A—H 1,231 61,836 4,558 67,625
Exchange adjustments BEE (62) (2,897) (225) (3,184)
Charge for the period REARHIRR 366 14,707 1,159 16,232
Disposals HE (20) (3,011) - (3,031)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-ZT-_ZTF

=A=1+—~H

k=ZZ-_ZTFMH—H 1,515 70,635 5,492 77,642
Exchange adjustments i A 136 6,088 490 6,714
Charge for the year AREEMR 298 11,204 999 12,501
Disposals HE - (3,510) - (3,510)
At 31 March 2021 R-B-—F

=A=+-H 1,949 84,417 6,981 93,347
Carrying amount: BRMEE
At 31 March 2021 R-B=—%F

=H=+-H 6,005 42,258 8,537 56,800
At 31 March 2020 R-ZT_ZTF

=A=+—H 5,828 37,578 2,353 45,759
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 E{Z —Z —

—F=A=t+—HLFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES

(@)  Right-of-use assets

6. EREEE HEAME
@ (EREEE

Rental premise

HEWE
HK$'000
FAT
Costs 2%
As at 1 January 2019 - adoption —NFE—A—B -
of HKFRS 16 BB BIREERIZE 165 23,374
Exchange adjustments bE 5, H 2 (958)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZZE_TF=A=+—H
M —ZE_ZTFPHA—H 22,416
Additions NE 3,796
Modification (E5) 378)
Exchange adjustments bE 3 S 1,977
As at 31 March 2021 R=-B-_—F=A=+—H 27,811
Accumulated depreciation REtinE
As at 1 January 2019 — adoption RZE—NF—A—B-5#
of HKFRS 16 BRI BHREERIE 1657 -
Depreciation provided during the period BT E R 3,729
Exchange adjustments IE 5 38 EE (115)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZEZTF=A=+—H
N—Z-ZFNA—H 3614
Depreciation provided during the year BT E R 4,127
Exchange adjustments HE 5 R 438
As at 31 March 2021 R-B-—F=ZH=+—H 8,179
Carrying amounts SREE
As at 31 March 2021 R=-ZB-_—-5=A=+—8 19,632
As at 31 March 2020 RZZE-ZTF=A=1+—H 18,802

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights to use
premises under operating lease arrangements over the lease

terms, which are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation

and accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for any

remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

ERAEEEREASERBEEHELH
RIEAARE AR Z R - E AR
RETERRFREEBRI - WE
MHEREENTE T AR -
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES 16. FHEEE HEERE®

(Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities by HEAE
2021 2020
—B--F —ECTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Analysis as DR
- Current - mE 5,054 3,590
- Non-current - BB 20,200 20,653
25,254 24,243
Lease liabilities payables: EAEEARE
— Within one year -—FR 5,054 3,590
— More than one year but not later - —FRERFERN
than two years 5,179 4,130
— More than two years but not later - FRRFEERFA
than five years 12,210 13,813
- Over five years -RFNUE 2,811 2,710
25,254 24,243
Less: Amount due for settlement A 12 A REIEREE 2 5KIE
with 12 months shown under (MRBBETHIT)
current liabilities (5,054) (3,590)
Amount due for settlement after 128 R &R ER4EE 2 5/I8
12 months shown under (RIERBBE TR
non-current liabilities 20,200 20,653
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to EEAREESR fZ?JWéEFi’Ji 2EE

lease liabilities was 8.37% (2020: 9%). MEE837% (T _FF : 9%) °

177



178

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited FREERRZERLT
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
£ + a3
RE BTG IRRMIEE
For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2~ T - —F=A=+—HILFE
17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REW=
2021 2020
—E=—F —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T
Completed investment properties ESEKIRE YIS 3,069,723 2,839,091
At the beginning of year/period R E3H 2,839,091 3,165,921
Adoption of HKFRS 16 FNE B R ELERIZE 1657 - 1,304
2,839,091 3,167,225
Additions NE 9,527 21,824
Disposal HeE - (3,484)
Written off g - (1,451)
Transfer to stock of properties HEYEFE (587) (373,125)
Fair value (loss)/gain recognised RIBRIERZ AN A
in profit or loss (E518) e (14,202) 148,801
Exchange adjustments JEE 5 R 235,894 (120,699)
At the end of year/period REHIR 3,069,723 2,839,091
(@) Valuation of investment properties @ H‘EMEZME

The investment properties amounted of approximately
HK$3,069,723,000 of the Group were stated at fair value as
at 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$2,839,091,000). The fair value
were arrived at based on the valuations carried out by an
independent firm of qualified professional valuer, RHL Appraisal
Limited (“RHL"), who has among their staff members of the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in
the location and category of the properties being valued. The
valuations conform to the Valuation Standards 2017 Edition
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

RHL has valued the properties on the basis of capitalisation of
the net income derived from properties rental. In the course of
their valuation, RHL has also made reference to the comparable
market transactions as available. Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held between the Group and valuers
at least once every six months, in line with the Group's interim
and annual reporting dates. As at 31 March 2021 and 31 March
2020, the fair values of the properties have been determined
by RHL. At each financial year end, the Group (i) verifies all
major inputs to the independent valuation report; (ii) assesses
property valuations movements when compared to the prior
years valuation input; and (iii) holds discussions with the
independent valuer.

R-ZZTE-_—&F=ZA=+—H &A&EH
#93,069,723,0007%8 T (= T = T F:
2,839,091,0007% Jt) Z I A W) IR A F
B - A FEDREBEHBYEERE
EGERFISRTHEMAR A ([FIB
THFEBEMERE - FIRTBRERSE
BREMEees - WHETHEYE
2N ERBERERTAEELSR - BH
HEFEESIEMEe T8 2 GEE
Al ZZ—tFR) °

MEITIZBEMER S FRABTER
LB Y FEHEITE - REGERE
FoFBEITE2BAIBRETISERS -
AEEBRGEMKDEREAA —IRF
MIGERERER  BAEEZRER
FEREAHE—H - R=_FT=_—F=A4
=t+—RBER=ZZE_ZTF=HA=+—H"
MEZATFEEHFETERE - REE
MBERER  AEB()ZEHE(GE
s 2 FTEERBEASIE (i) 7T H A
FEEHERASIRMEL 2 MEHES
B) 5 K (iii) BB (R ERMES TR R o
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(a)

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

The valuation assumptions, unless otherwise stated, RHL
assumed that:

(@) all necessary statutory approvals for the properties or the
subject building of which the property forms part of their
use have been obtained;

(b) no deleterious or hazardous materials or techniques have
been used in the construction of the properties;

(c) the properties are not subject to any unusual or
especially onerous restrictions, encumbrances or
outgoings and that good title can be shown; and

(d) the properties are connected to main services and sewers

which are available on normal terms.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in
the prior years. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The valuation of investment properties is determined by various
major inputs:

The major key inputs applied in valuing the investment
properties were market unit rental per each square meter
per month (the “s.q.m. per month”). The ranges of s.g.m. per
month of various locations were from RMB10.1 to RMB68.3
(31 March 2020: RMB3.7 to RMB63.1). A significant increase in
the s.g.m. per month used would result in a significant increase

in fair value, and vice versa.

The term yield and reversionary yield were one of the key inputs
used in valuing the investment properties. The ranges of term
yield was from 7.0% to 8.0% (31 March 2020: 7.0% to 8.0%)
while the ranges of reversionary yield were from 7.5% to 8.5%
(31 March 2020: 7.5% to 8.5%). A slight increase in the term
yield and reversionary yield used would result in a significant
decrease in fair value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

mmjﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
—F=A=T—BILFE

17. BREWZE &

(a)

LEYE 2 HE (@)
BEAEA - MERTTIEH A T HER
EX‘;L

@ ZUMERIZVERER—HoARE
MR TEREMA B EHE
EHLE

(b) ZEVEREERIERAES
R YR SR

© ZEVFITXBEREMEFTE
EEFORG  EEEEXX
i BRAIRRTEMAE Rk

d) REWEREZZR - RIGEKER
ZE BRI RIEKEE

B EFEPTIR A HEAL R AT

&S - NG MENRFER - W%

B MREMGREERAE o

REMENGEHRZATERABIEE

N

HEREMEMRAZEZZHABES
BAGFEHFAMSGEMNTES ((BAETE
FR TRME 2 AEFHREE
NFRARE 101 TEARE 683 T (=
T-TF=ZA=1+—H: AR¥37LE
AR¥63.17T) c IR 2B RAEER K
HIRARBIE MR BEERATEEE
BN RZIRA o
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BEMEMRAZEZEE - FHERF
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BRREMEZ A TEAEZEBEERD
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

17. BEYE »

(b)  The analysis of the carrying amount of investment (b) TEMEZHREBESFTAT :
properties is as follows:
2021 2020
—EZ—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
In the PRC ==}
- medium-term leases - FREAFRAY 3,069,723 2,839,091
() Details of the Group's investment properties and (0 AEERZZE=—FR=-ZT=F
information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 March ZRA=T—RAZREVHFERE
2021 and 2020 are as follows: BATEERZERDT
Fair value as at
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021
W=B=-&
E-R E=R E=R ZDVE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAR Fén FAT Fén
Investment property unit fIRFE R E
located in the PRC NEEf - - 3,069,723 3,069,723
Fair value as at
Level 1 Level 2 Level3 2020
RIZZZF
£ £ F=R DT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TATL TEL TAL
Investment property unit A B 2R &
located in the PRC NRER - - 2,839,091 2,839,091

There were no transfers into or out of level 3 during the year/
period.

RE /A - E=FIUBAEME AR

H oo
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(d)

Investment properties leased out under operating leases

All of the Group's property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals are measured using the fair value model and

classified accounted for investment properties.

The Group leases out its investment properties which is
agricultural exchange markets to various tenants. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 1 year to 5 years, at the
end of which period all terms are renegotiated. None of
the leases includes contingent rentals. For the year ended
31 March 2021, the rental income from investment properties
less direct outgoings of approximately HK$17,591,000 (fifteen
months from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020: approximately
HK$20,731,000) amounted to approximately HK$176,130,000
(fifteen months from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020:
approximately HK$216,184,000).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease

term.

The Group's total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

mmjﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
—F=A=T—BILFE

17. BREWZE &

(d)

REQEHERHIIREYE

AEBMANEESRELEMAER
B URBRATEERGEZES
W R R AREDE

AEERZEZAFEHAERENE - A
BERRSMS - HO—RL EH—
FERF  BMREENERTA IR -
ORISR ARE - BE_T = —
FZA=+—BILLEFE KREREDE
Z BB NRAEEERT 417,591,000 7%
T(EZE—NF—A—HBE=-2=ZF
=A=t+—HiIE+A@EA : 420,731,000
7 TT) #)5176,130,00078 7T (H = — A,
F—A—HE-Z=-ZF=A=1+—H
IE+HEA : 49216,184,000587T) ©

HRPTAHESAEEEREE 28
BEHGHE  SASEYEREEZEM
Eﬁunﬁ\\iﬁﬂ 2 o MES WL EE B R
EEER RSB ANEE B4 RE
BEMRRERE -

AEBRBEDAHHEEERERLRE
JEWAR S AEFELAT

2021 2020

—E-—F T TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHER FHT

Within 1 year —FR 201,612 144,595
Between 1 and 2 years —F R ERFER 76,427 49,134
Between 2 and 3 years RERB=FNR 15,864 19,515
Between 3 and 4 years =F1RENFER 7,230 8,468
Between 4 and 5 years MEFEEERFERN 5,089 6,247
Over 5 years AFLAE 12,264 23,380
318,486 251,339
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 17. REWZ= @
(e)  Pledge of investment properties (e) TEWMZE T

As at 31 March 2021, the land use rights in respect of investment
properties with a total carrying amount of approximately
HK$967,753,000 (2020: approximately HK$1,300,879,000) were
pledged to banks for the Group’s bank borrowings, details of

R=-ZE=—_—F=A=+—8 " &Ei@%
48 B TH 1B #) /5 967,753,000 7T (= &

234

#91,300,879,0003% 7T) 2 + ﬁ

REERAEE ZRITERMER TR

which are set out in note 27. 1T FHIBE AT EE27
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had been applying for RZEZ—FR-ZTF=A=+—
the relevant certificates in respect of the buildings erected on B ASE-—ERBERAEEMES
the land included under investment properties owned by the REMFEN 2 T FEENETFTERER
Group. B E -
18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B EE
Operating right
HK$'000
FHET
Cost A
At 1 January 2019, 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020and R=ZF—NF—H—H -
31 March 2021 _7_7¢ A=+—8H"
—TTFMA—H
k—ZE-—F=R=+—H 43,768
Accumulated amortisation and impairment loss R+ #85 &R EEE
At 1 January 2019 RZTE—NF—A—H 37,707
Amortisation expenses during the period BB SR 6,061
At 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 R=ZB=BF=A=+—H "
and 31 March 2021 “EC-EFNA-HR
—E-_—F=A=+—H 43,768
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 March 2021 R=ZB=-—F=ZHA=+—H -
At 31 March 2020 RZZBZZF=A=+—H -

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of amortisation:
Operating right 5 years
The license entitles a subsidiary of the Company to operate an

agricultural products exchange market in the PRC for 5 years from the
date of acquisition.

AR e EHI RN ET S

R 54

REAREZ —HMEBAR B Y%ERH
ESFRPRRE—ARERR ST °
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(@)  General information of subsidiaries

Name of Company

LA%E

Novel Talent Limited

NREEREERRAA
(note 19(a)(i)

IEEEREERRAA
(F3E 1))

AERYNERERATS
AR note 19())
AERYNERERATS
AR (R 19600

TTERIERNETS
ARA hote 19%)6)

FHEERBERNETS
BIRAR (i 19

HEENRERARAA
(note 19(a)(i)

IHEENTEEARAA
(R 190

EEERRIETS
ﬁ R\ note 19(a)()

TiTEERER TS
AR (i 19(a)

FHTERAERIETR
ARA note 196)i)

FTERAERIETS
AR AR (i 19(a)

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

it/
EIRAE4E

Britsh Virgin lslands/
Hong Kong
EERLER/ER

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC
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19. T EME AT
@ MBAFT AR

Particulars of Proportion of ownership interest
issued and fully and voting power held
paid ordinary Group's
share capital/ effective Held by the Held by
registered capital interest Company subsidiaries Principal activities
BRREGER FEERRRRERLA
EERRE/ 1582
iftanE RhRE KhAkE WEAERE TERE
UsD1 100% 100% Investment holding
1570 RERR
RMB61,220000 51% 51% Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
ARB6 20007 TeEERLAE
RMB88500,000 100% 944% 56% Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
ARBB000T TeEERLAE
RMB76,230,000 65% 65% Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
and property sales
ARBI6300007 FEERAAR
U
RMB160,169,617 100% 100% Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
and property sales
AR 160169617 FEERAMAR
S
RMB150,000,000 100% 100% Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
and property sales
AR 1500000007 FeEERAAR
U
15D23,230,000 100% 100% Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
and property sales
BRINET FEERAAR
U
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of Company

AFER

ARTERIERIETS
IR A2 note 19(ali)

ARTERIERNETS
AR (i 19(a)

BRTERIERNATS
ARA hote 195)6)

FRRERBERNETS
BIRAR (i 19

BRTERIERNATS
AR note 19

BRETERIERNATS
RO (i 19(a)

ERTEEAER
AIR 2% note 19())

ﬁ?f@&ﬂﬁw%m
ERA (R 190

ELTERER
HETAER R ote 196))

ERTEERERNETS
ARA (R 19600

;L%E\JEED
TR 2\ ){note 19(a)()
Iﬁﬂﬁw
AR (i 19()

thjmmahfjm

RIAEHRARAT

(note 19(a)if)
RIAEHRARAT
(A3 (i)

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

it/
BIRAL4E

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

L

Particulars of
issued and fully
paid ordinary
share capital/
registered capital
BRfREEER
EaRRE/
ifEnE

R1B146,200,000

ARE 1462000007

RMB140,000,000

ARE 1400000007

RNB10,000,000

AEE 100000007

USD29918835

VIBET

RAB2,000,000

ARE 20000070

RB12,680,000

NEE 1268000070

RNB10,000,000

AEE 100000007

19. TEWEBAT @
@ MEBARZ—BEN @

Proportion of ownership interest
and voting power held
Group's
effective Held by the Held by
interest Company subsidiaries Principal activities
RERRRRARALN
YL
RhRR KhAkE hEATRE TERR

100% - 100% Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
and property sales

HEEERRATAR
U

5% - 5% Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
and property sales

HEEERRATAR
U

100% - 100% Agricultural produce
exchange market operations
and property sales

HEEERRATAR
U

100% - 100% Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
Gty

80% - 80% Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
Gt

5858% - 58.58% Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
Gty

100% - 100% Financialservice operation

esaiy
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of
Place of issued and fully
incorporation/ paid ordinary Group's
registration share capital/ effective
Name of Company and operation registered capital interest
BRARESAR
iRz LERRA/ 3582
LER BRREEHE Bili-eH BREz
BHEYNRRERRE ThePRC RB3000000 S
B IR Fnote 19
BHE)NRRERYR i NRE3 0000007
AIRAR (A2t 196
REARDEERRAR ThePRC RMB1,000000 100%
(former\y known as
B EETRRAERTRER
ﬁ T2 ) note 19(ai)
RERRDEEARAR ik ARE 1000007
(EAEEIERRER TS
ERARAD) (3 190))
Notes:
(i) Registered as a sino-foreign equity joint venture under the
laws of the PRC.

(ii) Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under the
laws of the PRC.

(iii) Registered as a domestic-funded enterprise under the laws
of the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give detail of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
lengths.

19. FEWME QAT &=

(@) PFMBARZ—REH @

Proportion of ownership interest

and voting power held
Held by the Held by
Company subsidiaries Principal activities
FEERRRRERLA

KOTRA i} DEE E ]

- 51% Agricultural produce
exchange market operation
BERERR AN

- 100% Food and agricuttural
by-products merchandising

ARRREEREE

MaE -

i EETEEEEEATIAELH
N

(i) RIEFEIZRELAIEEERE

(i)  RIEFBUERERLRANEDRZE -

LB AEAAT PN B 2 RIS AR S R (T B
MR ERERES o

ERIHEER AT EXEAEEES
REEZAKENBAR - E=R /M
EREMHBRARFEREFEBNE
8o
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 19. TERBLR @
(b)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) %Eij@‘ﬁ WiEes 2 IR EME
material non-controlling interests RAIZFHIB
Proportion of
ownership interests
Place of and voting rights
incorporation/ held by
registration non-controlling Profits allocated to Accumulated
Name of Company and operation interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
ML, FERER
ARER BREREEHE PR AL Bl AEREFEREDEF FiFERER
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019to Asat As at
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2021 2020 2021 2020
B-T-NF
Bz —R—HZ
It S T e 2
ZA=+-8 |ZA=1T-B |R=B=-F |R=ZT=%F
LFE | ETREEA |[ZA=t-H zﬁ;+ B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET TEx TET
FINRARERRER AR The PRC 49% 4,190 18,198 173,151 155,444
i
FHEE %&EJEE&M&‘W% The PRC 35% 6,069 7,468 190,865 205,200
BRA i
Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests 33,689 33,081
BERIEERER
(AR EEARKB R
397,705 393,725
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the ﬁ?‘ﬁ$%.%ﬁ$7{#? g =)
Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests NEABERBTEZSHN T o TXE
is set out below. The summarised financial information below f%ﬁ*ﬁrﬁg%ﬁ%@ N SHRIFRIA ©

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.
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19. T EMMELAT &=
R B AR ER 2 IEEE B

(b)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b)
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(i)

NAZFH1E (@)

M ER B RRERA A (i) HMEFEEZRREERLE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ToTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHBxT
Current assets mENE 75,167 59,507
Non-current assets EREEE 439,306 412,310
Current liabilities mEAaE 57,502 47,872
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 103,577 106,828
Equity attributable to owners of RNRAEHER AEEE RS
the Company 180,243 161,673
Non-controlling interests JEPERRAE = 173,151 155,444
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BE=ZT—NF
BZE —A—HZ
—E-—F —E-ZTE
=A=+-H =A=+—~H
IHEE IE+AREA
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FAxT
Turnover S 46,629 55,190
Other gain HAh iz 1,501 1,783
Net (loss)/gain in fair value of BEYENTE (BEB),/
investment properties W58 (6,003) 9,323
Expenses X (33,575) (29,157)
Profit for the year/period F/HiN s T 8,552 37,139
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. TEHMEAR @
(b)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) HESEREERERZIEDENE
material non-controlling interests (Continued) NAEZFFEIE (&)
(i)  BMIFRFEE %R ERZA Al (Continued) () BMNErEEREERALAF
(%)
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BT —NF
BZE —H—H=
—E-—F —TTF
=A=+—H =A=+—H
LFE IE+AEEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit attributable to owners AR TS AEERT]
of the Company 4,362 18,941
Profit attributable to eV AR R o P A1 Ve A
non-controlling interests 4,190 18,198
Profit for the year/period F /B RBE T 8,552 37,139
Total comprehensive income RNEHER AENL
attributable to owners 2ERABTE
of the Company 18,570 11,330
Total comprehensive income IR R s PR AL
attributable to non-controlling 2ERALETE
interests 17,707 12,300
Total comprehensive income FHANEERA LR
for the year/period 36,277 23,630
Dividend paid to non-controlling XATIEERE R 2 R B
interests - 6,712
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b)

19. T EMMELAT &=
R B AR ER 2 IEEE B

material non-controlling interests (Continued) NAElZFFIE (&)
() BMWEFEFEEZREERZA & (Continued) (i) RMFFREE R EAR A A
(#&)
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BT —NF
Bz —A—HA=%
—E-—F —E-ZTE
=A=+-—AH =RA=+—H
LFE IE+AREA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAxT
Net cash inflows from KRR MAFHE
operating activities 16,753 21,857
Net cash (outflows)/inflows from KREEBHE
investing activities CRd) S RAFEE (9,618) 287
Net cash outflows from AEEENIR & LFEE
financing activities (13,755) (25,449)
Net cash outflows WE ML FEE (6,620) (3,305)

(i) FEMEEREERMETSEHRAA]

(i) EMFERBERMETSE

Ry FA]
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
B=Z—NF
Bz —H—B=®
—E-—F —EFEF
=A=+-A8 =EH=—E
LHEE IE+HEAR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHT
Current assets mENE E 846,992 835,808
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,481 1,479
Current liabilities mEE R 264,288 209,269
Non-current liabilities FERBaE 43,296 46,172
Equity attributable to owners of RNATHEE NEGER
the Company 350,024 376,646
Non-controlling interests JEFE R 190,865 205,200
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(i)  FIEHEEEERH 755 A R 2 A] (Continued)

19. TEWEBAT @
WS B A IS Y 32 BB
AT TS (@)

FMEERRIERHETIEE

R =] (48)
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BT —NF
BE —H—RZE
—E-—F T TF
=A=+—H =A=+—H
LLFE IE+REA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Turnover = 209,601 356,482
Other gain E bz 1,148 12,128
Expenses X (193,408) (347,273)
Profit for the year/period F /HRBE T 17,341 21,337
Profit attributable to owners PAN/NEIE DN il
of the Company 11,272 13,869
Profit attributable to non-controlling FEE A A o PR Y Al
interests 6,069 7,468
Profit for the year/period FHIREF 17,341 21,337
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b)
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

19. T EMMELAT &=
R B AR ER 2 IEEE B
NAIZ S (&)

(i)  EMZHEEE DI F T4 B R F] (Continued) (i) FEHEEEEDHETSE
R23 5] (#8)
Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BE=Z—NF
BZE —H—B=&
—E--F T
=A=+-—A8 =A=+—H~
LHFEE IE+HEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ARATHEE ARG
attributable to owners 2EMA S (E18) 1258
of the Company 41,150 (1,170)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) RS RG22
attributable to non-controlling WA (F518) 4a58
interests 22,158 (630)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) F AR
for the year/period WA (E518) #58 63,308 (1,800)
Dividend payable to non-controlling FERT IR 2R 2 IR
interests 36,493 =
Net cash inflows from operating KEREIRBMAFRE
activities 29,929 164,689
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from HEFERE
investing activities WA G F58 58,015 (300)
Net cash outflows from financing BEEEIR ST
activities (69,445) (175,462)
Net cash outflows e FRE 18,499 (11,073)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2~ T - —F=A=+—HILFE

20. STOCK OF PROPERTIES 20. YEFE
2021 2020
—E-—F T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Completed properties ESER I 1,663,749 1,509,032
Properties under development BRPYZE 30,712 105,379
1,694,461 1,614,411
Less: written down of stock of properties W T EMOR (1,747) (2,969)
1,692,714 1,611,442
As at 31 March 2021, the stock of properties of approximately RZTEZ—F=A=+—HB MEHFEHY
HK$437,683,000 (2020: approximately HK$332,503,000) were pledged 437,683,000 7T (— & — Z 4 : #9332,503,000
to bank for the Group’s bank borrowings, details of which are set out PR IT) B AN B 2 SRITIE SRR T IRTT - BRE
in note 27. BRI EE 27 -
=%
21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. EZRAEMERRE
2021 2020
=B -F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Trade debtors, gross JEUE SRR TR 4R EE 17,943 9,676
Allowance for expected credit losses TREAE BB Ia R (8,177) (6,089)
Trade debtors, net B E SRR FEE 9,766 3,587
Deposit for land acquisition T RE 57,428 53,019
Other deposits Hitizg 7,733 9,866
Prepayments TR 0B 157,411 101,399
Other receivables HAb fEGRIE 81,291 67,074
303,863 231,358
Less: allowance for expected credit losses B TEEREE R IR RS (15,091) (1,128)
288,772 230,230
Trade and other receivables, net 5 REMERFIEFEE 298,538 233,817
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 21.
(@  Ageing analysis

Included in trade and other receivables are trade debtors with
the following ageing analysis presented, net of allowance
for expected credit loss, based on the payment terms on the

B REHMEWFIE =

(@) BRERDMT
B 5K E KRB QY RERE
14 SRR 2 51 2 R 5208 G
T B IR E) PR Bk 2 IR 5

tenancy agreement as of the end of the reporting period: T :
2021 2020
s T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Less than 30 days 30 A 8,617 2,493
More than 30 days but less than 90 days BiE30 H18 90 H AW 385 460
More than 90 days but less than 180 days HBiE o0 H18 180 HLAA 548 369
More than 180 days 180 HA E 216 265
9,766 3,587

The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30
days to its trade customers. The Group may on a case-by-case
basis, and after evaluation of the business relationships and
creditworthiness of its customers, extend the credit period
upon customers’ report.

AEE-—RETHEZTF30HZFH
EEH - ARE BT F FEE R BN LR
FHEEERP 2 XBREIERE R
BREPHMEMIEREED -

=+
22. LOAN RECEIVABLES 22. EER

2021 2020

—EZ—fF —EEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

Loan receivables, gross U E 4B ER 51,955 50,669

Less: allowance for expected credit losses B TREE B EIE R (29,919) (900)

Loan receivables, net EWE TR 22,036 49,769
Analysis as: aRiv=1

Current portion BNERER 5 22,036 49,769

The effective interest rates on the Group's loan receivables are 7.7% AEEZRWEREBRNERTII%(ZEZ

(2020: 7.4%). F 1 7.4%) o
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23. BAFEIERRAEZRERE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

ZEMEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Listed investments: LETRE -
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong -RBEB LT 2 IR FS 66 72
Derivative financial instruments: TESRITA :
— Redemption option derivative component - & [BlBE A #1574 T B35
(note 30) (M45E30) 59 322
Fair value NEE 125 394

All financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at
fair values. Fair values of the listed investments are determined by
reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant
stock exchanges. Fair value of derivative financial instruments was
arrived on the basis of valuation carried out by a firm of independent
professional valuers and was valued by using binomial model.

B AFEINRENRRREEZ SREE
BIRAFEIE - EREZAFHEZSER
HERERZAMSmSEABMER /T4
SRTAZ A HEREBBEY ZXREEMTER
“IEAE T AEER

24. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 24, SRITRBE SR
2021 2020
—E-—F T TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#BxT T
Cash at banks and in hand IRITHEBRFERS 424,675 339,599
Notes: Bi%E

(a) Cash at bank and in hand comprise cash held by the Group
and bank balances that bear interest at prevailing market rates
ranging from approximately 0.001% to 3.05% (fifteen months from
1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020: approximately 0.001% to 3.05%)
per annum and have original maturity of three months or less.

Included in cash at banks and in hand as at 31 March 2021 is an
amount denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) of approximately
RMB300,518,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$355,453,000)
(2020: approximately RMB283,764,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$309,870,000)). Renminbi is not freely convertible into other
currencies.

(@) RITEBERTFHEHECBEEAEEFAZE
& URIEBFN T4 0.001% = 3.05% (B
—E-hF—-—A—RHE-_ZT=-_ZF=HA
=t+—HiE+AMEA : 0.001% = 3.05%)
ZBIMSENZRF S ERIEE A=A
AR Z RIThE RS ©

R-ZBE-—F=A=+—0 RIT&EHK
FHESBE—BUAARE(AR%E]) T
B2 FIEL AR 300,518,000 7 (FHE R4
355,453,000 70) (ZEZFF : HARME
283,764,0007T (16 E 72 47309,870,0007 7T) ©
ARBTEAHARAREMER -
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24. BANK AND CASH BALANCES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

Included in cash at bank and in hand as at 31 March 2021, restricted
cash of an amount of approximately RMB18,013,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$21,306,000) represents certain companies of
the Group which are required to place in designated bank accounts
certain amount of pre-sale proceeds as guarantee deposits for the
constructions of the related properties. The deposits can only be
used for payments for construction costs of the relevant properties.
Such guarantee deposits will be released after the completion
of construction of the related properties (2020: approximately
RMB7,372,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$8,050,000)), and
restricted cash of an amount of approximately of RMB18,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$21,000) is the restricted cash
held at banks as receipt on behalf of tenant in agricultural produce
exchange market (2020: RMB98,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$106,000)).

mmjﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
—F=A=T—BILFE

MizE : ()

(@)

&

RZZEZ—F=A=+—8  RITEHRK
FERSHE—BH AR 18,013,000 7T
(HEE 1 #921,306,000 7 7T) B9 BR HIlMEFE K
RANEENETRARAREERITEREST
WE FERENBEMEMGHIE - (EAE
BYMERETIRNRES - ZRJFSEA
AR EEMENEETIREBR - ZIR
BN HEEEEMERETIRR T %
R (CE T F - HARK 7,372,000 T
(FE 7 478,050,000/ 7T) R ZRHRE& S
EH AR 18,000 7T (FHE 72 49 21,000 75 7T)
ARREERRZMHHAF KEARITRR
FIEER (T ZZF : AR 98,0007t (17
E49106,00077T)) ) ©

o

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (b) FEFIFIEENBELR -
Bank and
Lease other Convertible  Promissory
liabilities  borrowings Bonds bonds notes Total
BTR
HEAE HitfER &% FURRES REZE “m
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THL THL THT THT
(note 16(b)) (note 27) (note 28) (note 30) (note29)
(PzE16(b)) (s 27) (PftzE 28) (P 30) (3£ 29)
Net debt as at 1 January 2019 —NF
—A—B&
ERER 24,678 448,039 1,026,247 234,747 376,000 2,109,711
Change in cash flow Rengg (5,799) (18,194) (350,850) (24,797) - (399,640)
Foreign exchange differences [ 5 =58 (1,033) (18,356) - - - (19,389)
Other non-cash movement HiI R eEs 6,397 600,000 (498,399) 36,944 - 144,942
Net debt as at R-ZE=ZF
31 March 2020 and ZA=+-BR
1 April 2020 “Z-TENA-H
HEBEE 24,243 1,011,489 176,998 246,894 376,000 1,835,624
Change in cash flow RenEgE (6,730) (86,551) (2,900) (146,859) - (243,040)
Foreign exchange differences (& 5 =58 1,983 34,299 36,282
Other non-cash movement HiI e 5,758 85,072 21,532 31,328 (376,000) (232,310
Netdebtasat31 March2021 AZT=—4F
=A=1+—B&
EHFE 25254 1,044,309 195,630 131,363 - 1,396,556
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25. DEPOSITS AND OTHER PAYABLES

25. e R EMESRIE

2021 2020
—E-—F T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Accrued charges FEETE R 29,402 21,726
Construction payables ﬂ§1‘f§$§§§’f\ 43,217 48,038
Deposit received BikiEE 96,733 99,902
Interest payable FERTAILE 29,506 298,598
Other tax payables HAb R TIE 52,567 18,463
Other payables HAb BT 5IE 269,187 196,317
520,612 683,044
26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. ERNAE
The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to: AEECERE NS ZBEEENEE :
2021 2020
—EC-—F —ToFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Revenue from contracts with customers: B & HWas
Contract liabilities relating to sale of HMHEYES aHatE
properties contracts 586,577 464,983
The contract liabilities relating to sale of properties contracts will ERKEEREEYFERTIETEPBITHERE
be recognised as revenue when the Group satisfies its performance AEER  BHEMESNEENSHEES
obligations by transferring the control of the properties to the MR AW

customers.
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26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the

:-vT\

26. nﬂﬁﬁﬁ

current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract liabilities

relating to sale of properties contracts.

B BHRMEE
—F=A=+—RILER

# E’\Jmuﬁqé\.%’ﬂﬁfﬁ*ﬁ i E@Hﬂlﬁﬁ@%ﬁ ©

Fifteen
months from
Year 1 January
ended 2019to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BT NF
Bz —)E] —HZE
—E-_—F —ECTF
=H=+-H =A=+—H
LFE IE+HEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Revenue recognised that was included F /I AE B EEHRE
in the contract liability balance at the B R =
beginning of the year/period 233,183 202,588
27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 27. SRITREMER
2021 2020
—E-—F ZETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Secured bank borrowings (note (a) and (d)) B IEFERITE K I 7E (@) K (d) 444,309 394,017
Unsecured bank borrowings (note (a)) AR TTE R (BIFE () - 17,472
Unsecured other borrowings (note (b)) SRR E A R (F9RE (b)) 600,000 600,000
1,044,309 1,011,489
Carrying amount repayable: AEEREE -
Within one year —FA 227,856 231,820
More than one year, but within two years —F LA HENBIBRE 644,947 61,733
More than two years, but within five years MFEIA FERBBRRF 45,538 658,968
More than five years HEU E 125,968 58,968
1,044,309 1,011,489
Less: amounts due within one year shown B ORBAEE T —FR
under current liabilities B HAZRIE (227,856) (231,820)
816,453 779,669

197



198

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
INT\ ~ jﬁ%#ﬁ%‘% BTT nf

For the year ended 31 March 2021 E{Z - ——

F=ZA=+—HIFE

27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(a)

Included in the above balances are bank borrowings of variable-
rate of approximately HK$125,377,000 (2020: approximately
HK$206,706,000) which carry interest adjustable for changes
of borrowing rate offered by The People’s Bank of China. The
average rate charged by the banks during the year ranged
from approximately 3.0% to 7.1% (2020: approximately 3.0%
to 7.1%) per annum. Interest is repriced every 30 days. Bank
borrowings of fixed-rate of approximately HK$318,932,000
(2020: approximately HK$204,783,000) carry interest fixed from
approximately 3.3% to 7.6% (2020: approximately 3.3% to 7.8%)
per annum. In addition, included in the above balances are bill
payables of fixed rate of approximately HK$41,398,000 (2020:
HKS$Nil). The average rate during the year was 5.3% per annum.

All bank borrowings are denominated in RMB.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has unsecured borrowing
with carrying amount of approximately HK$75,000,000 (2020:
HK$75,000,000) from Double Leads Investments Limited
(“Double Leads”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On
Group Limited and unsecured borrowing with carrying amount
of approximately HK$525,000,000 (2020: HK$525,000,000) from
Winning Rich Investments Limited (“Winning Rich”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited.
The unsecured borrowings carry fixed interest rate at 10% per
annum with maturity date on September 2022.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which equal to contracted
interest rates) on the Group’s total borrowings are as follows:

Effective interest rate: BERAE -
Fixed-rate borrowings TE B &
Variable-rate borrowings 2 BER

27. BITREMER @

(a)

(b)

(@]

P &EHRBEFTERITERY
125,377,000/ 7T(=Z T = T F: 4
206,706,000 % 7T) * % E B K2 F B AR
R ARIBITIRM 2 B RH Y“éﬂﬁﬁ.ﬂ
BoFR - RITKRZFEFHIENTF
FHB0%ETAN(ZTE T : ,%’93.0%
Z£271%) MEBR=Z1THEHNEE—
R o ER fEm%?MJ 318,932,000 %8 7T (=
T 4F ¢ #9204,783,000 78 70) R EE
FI 2 4 3.3% 2 7.6% :%:%E C BE
#933% E 7.8%) 5T 2 © BL o bl A

F B IE E E F $Zﬁ§ﬁﬁ}3§%@ 41,398,000

BRT(CEZF: BB - FRAZF
HHESEF53% - A RITERE R
AAREEHE

R-_B-—F=F=+—8 AE£EEF
RERLZEEERARZEZENEB AR
ERZREER AR (R EREN A
75,000,000 77T (ZZ == 4 : 75,000,000
PEIT) 2 SRR IR E R 2R B i T B BT
RERARZEZENBARNKIEES

2 7] ([8138]) BR B 49 A 525,000,000
BT (ZZT ZF 4 : 525,000,000/ 7T) Z
EAIRIER - BEFERETEF XA
10% RZZEZ_FHAFIH -

REERERZERFE GBERNE LT
K)EELT :

2021 2020
—EB-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FT
3.3% to 10% 3.3% to 10.0%
3.3% Z10% 3.3% Z 10.0%
3.0% to 7.1% 3.0% to 7.1%
3.0%Z7.1% 3.0%ZE 7.1%

The secured bank borrowings are secured by the land use rights
included in investment properties and stock of properties with
a carrying amount of approximately HK$1,405,436,000 (2020:
approximately HK$1,633,382,000) as set out in notes 17 and 20.

(d)

BEBRITE BN 17 R 20F#E B 1E
BREIE4Y/51,405,436,0007 8L (ZE=F

£ ¢ #91,633,382,000/870) 2 I EME K
YT SR L FAREER o
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28. BONDS 28. &%
Non-listed Non-listed Listed bond
bond bond maturity
maturity maturity in 2024
in 2019 in 2020 (“Listed
(“Bonds 2019”) (“Bonds 2020”) bonds 2024") Total
RIB-NE RIB-EF RIZ-OF
iz iz )i
¥LHES  FLHES EmES
=2-h&F (=2=2F (=T=AF
&%) &%) tmESD ko)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FHET FAL FHET
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(KHfsEa) (FfzED) (HisEc)
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—NE—A—H 844,055 25,639 156,553 1,026,247
Add: Interest charge m: FMEER 75,278 2,258 24,065 101,601
Less: Interest paid/payable B EAFE (69,894) (1,897) (3,620) (75,411)
Less: Redemption by loan (note 28(a)) W AER AR ER
(HfE 28(a) (600,000) - - (600,000)
Less: redemption settlement BRI (249,439) (26,000) - (275,439)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZTZTF
=RA=+—-HkK
“TTF
MA—H - - 176,998 176,998
Add: Interest charge m: MEER - - 21,529 21,529
Less: Interest paid/payable BN AR - - (2,897) (2,897)
At 31 March 2021 NZTE——F
=ZRB=+—H - - 195,630 195,630
Current portion ENEIE 2
At 31 March 2021 HN-Z-——%
=H=iF=H - - - -
At 31 March 2020 RZZT_ZTF
=A=1+—~ - - - -
Non-current portion FENEE D
At 31 March 2021 R-B=—F
=A=+-—8 - - 195,630 195,630
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-ZTF
=A=+—H - - 176,998 176,998
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28. BONDS (continued) 28. 1,%% (#)
Notes: BfaE -

On 4 October 2014, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with the placing agent and the subscribers for the
issuance of the bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$1,400,000,000.

On 28 November 2014, the Company announced the Bonds 2016 in
the aggregate principal amount of HK$200,000,000 and the Bonds
2019 in the aggregate principal amount of HK$1,200,000,000 have
been issued to the subscribers with the interest rate of 8.5% and
10.0% payable annually. The Bonds 2016 and Bonds 2019 will be
matured and redemption by the Company on 27 November 2016
and 27 November 2019 respectively.

On 19 October 2016 and 24 October 2016, the Company has
early redeemed the Bonds 2016 and Bonds 2019 in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$200,000,000 and HK$40,000,000
respectively.

On 17 August 2018, 14 September 2018, 21 September 2018
and 17 November 2018, the Company has early redeemed the
Bonds 2019 in the aggregate principal amount of HK$50,000,000,
HK$50,000,000, HK$50,000,000 and HK$50,000,000 respectively.

On 19 December 2017, the Company has early redeemed the Bonds
2019 in the aggregate principal amount of HK$110,000,000.

On 18 January 2019, 26 February 2019, 18 April 2019, 21 August
2019, 24 September 2019 and 15 November 2019, the Company has
early redeemed the Bonds 2019 in the aggregate principal amount
of HK$20,000,000, HK$30,000,000, HK$20,000,000, HK$40,000,000,
HK$30,000,000 and HK$110,000,000 respectively.

On 26 September 2019, the Company, Double Leads and Winning
Rich entered into a loan agreement, pursuant to which, Double
Leads and Winning Rich agreed to grant a loan to the Company
in the principal amount of HK$710,000,000 to refinance the
outstanding Bonds 2019 of the Company owed to Double Leads as
to the aggregate principal amount of HK$89,000,000 and Winning
Rich as to the aggregate principal amount of approximately
HK$621,000,000. For the details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 26 September 2019. On 15 November 2019,
the Company had redeemed the Bonds 2019 in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$600,000,000 by way of such loan.

The effectively interest of Bonds 2019 was 10.3% per annum.

R-Z—ME+ANA - KAAFERER
B RBEHE  MRBARTASERE
/%1,400,000,000 8 7T Z &% °

RZZE—WFE+—A=+/\B ' ARARE
5 784 #4858 75 200,000,000 78 TTH) — B — /X
FEFH KA & 4858 4 1,200,000,000 7 T HY
—E-NEEFEETTRBA  SFE
FIR 5D Bl A8.5% 5% 10.0% © —Z — /N4
BHFERZT—NFEFIABR=T—X
FE+—A-+tAR-_ZT—hhE+—A
oty o et =2z R /N L I

RZE—ARETATILERZZE—RF+
AZ+WHE ARRREERARSEES
51l £ 200,000,0007% JT K 40,000,000 7 JT )
—E-NFEER-E-NEES -

RZZE—N\FENA+LB - ZE—N\F
hWA+ImE  ZE—N\FALA=Z+—H
RZZ—-—NF+—HA++t8 A2dEE
IREEE KRS L% 5 5 A50000000%
JT * 50,000,000 % JT * 50,000,000% 7T K&
50,000,000 BT — T — NEEH ©

RZE—+tF+=_A+NAB ARAIRSE
fE B N & 42 58 110,000,000 LA — &
—NEFESH -

R=_ZFE—hhE—A+N\H —ZE—hF=
A=Z+XB - ZFT—NAFmNA+NH " =
Z-NENAZ+—H ZZE—AFNA
—tTHEERZFE-NFEF+—A+HH &
ARBIRFE R A 25 S 54 20,000,000
7 JT > 30,000,000/ JT * 20,000,000 7
JT * 40,000,000# 7T * 30,000,000/ 7T &
110,000,000 B TTH) =T — NLFEFH ©

RZB—HAEAAZ+<B  &~A7F &
P RSN SLE S ek - it - BFF &
W E = A AR A% A © 5874 710,000,000
BILZER  WEARRE & REF R
WA & 4858 5 Bl 589,000,000 JT K 4
621,000,000 7T 2 M A B 2 —F — NLF
BHETHERE - BEFBRL2HAAR
AfA-T—hFEALA-+AAZAL-
R=F—hh&+—A+HA KRR
B30 =\ fE B 4N £ 48 58 5 600,000,000 75 70
Z2ZE—NFEF -

ZE-NFEFNERNELETF103%
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28. BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

On 19 November 2014, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent for the issuance of the bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$26,000,000.

The Company has issued the Bonds 2020 in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$26,000,000 on 5 January 2015, 13 February 2015, 30
March 2015 and 17 April 2015 to the subscribers with the interest
rate of 3.00% payable annually on or before 18 February 2015 and
7.30% payable annually after 18 February 2015. The Bonds 2020 has
been matured and fully redeemed by the Company on 18 February
2020.

The effectively interest of Bonds 2020 was 10.4% per annum.

On 19 May 2014, the Company established a HK$1,000,000,000
medium term note program. The bonds issued under the program
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited by way
of debt issue to professional investors only. The Company further
announced that interest on the notes will be payable annually in
arrears at the interest rate of 1% per annum.

The Company has totally issued 40 batches with the principal
amount of HK$400,000,000 with 1% interest rate per annum on 30
May 2014, 11 June 2014, 25 June 2014, 2 July 2014, 10 July 2014, 18
July 2014, 28 July 2014, 29 July 2014, 26 August 2014, 30 September
2014, 6 October 2014 and 7 October 2014 respectively. The entire of
the Listed bonds 2024 will be matured on 30 September 2024.

BF»

()

R=ZT—NF+—A+hIB KARHEER
ERBEIVEEHEUNRTASLES
26,000,000 /87T 2 &5 °

ARARIERZ=ZZE—HAF—AARB =%
—hAF=A+=H" :§7£¢:H:+
BNl —_ZE—AFNA+ERARTAESLR
7526, ooo000,%759’17%7%%,\%%%5%
A RZZE-—RAF-_ATNBHZAEF
JENFIZRA3.00% ER—E—HF A+ N\
A BEFRENTER730% —T_FTF
BHFER=ZT_ZTF=-_A+/\BEHEH
NARREER o

ZETFEFNERFEATF104% °

R=ZF—NMFEFRA+NE ' NAREKML
1,000,000,000 /57T 2 F EAZE &5 - BRIBFT
BBITZEFURAMBEREERITER
WARREBHERSMBRAR LM -
ARARE—TEREZENEBEFEZN -
FFIEE1% o

$QﬂE“%F:;*E¢£H:+E
—E—NOENA+—H" — M ER
ﬂ:+£E\:§*@¢tﬂfE»f
T—MELA+HE —E—WELH TN
Bl « —ﬁ—ﬂlitﬂ_ﬂ—)\ﬁ ¥ N
itﬁ +hE —mENA=+X
= @ihﬂ +E —T—NF
“*’)Ej/\EU;z—T ME+ A+ HA LT
403t 754 58 /5 400,000,000 75 7T 4 F % 5 1%
KfEH - —T_NF EMEFEZHBRZ
TopNEAA=+THZIE -
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28. BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
[ (Continued)
The information of Listed bonds 2024 are presented as follows:

Principal amount:

REH

Interest:

FE

Issue date:

EITHH H=%

Maturity date:
FIHEAR -

Redemption period by the Company:

EAUNSIE ol EER il

Redemption period for the bond holders:

EARA AREE SR

Redemption amount on maturity date:

REHRNELESER

As at 31 March 2020, the Company has completed the purchase
of and cancelled the Listed bonds 2024 in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$110,000,000. The Listed bonds 2024 purchased by
the Company will be cancelled, upon which the Listed bonds 2024
in the principal amount of HK$290,000,000 will remain outstanding.

The fair value of the Bonds 2024 is approximately HK$205,400,000 as
at 31 March 2021 (2020: approximately HK$170,628,000). The Bonds
2024 were classified as level 2 of fair value hierarchy.

The imputed interest expenses on the Listed bonds 2024 were
calculated using effective interest method by using the effective
interest rate of 11.6%.

28. BF
M3 ()

c. (&
—T o FTHESCERZNNNT

HK$400,000,000
400,000,000 78 7T

1% p.a. payable annually
BF 1%  ASFX

40 batches issued from 30 May 2014 to 7 October 2014

—OFRAR=+BE_T—MF+ A+ B ET40EIR

30 September 2024
“ZONEAR=TH

Three specified redemption dates from 31 December
2023 to 30 June 2024
=EEENBER A T _=F+_A=1+—H=%
ZEUFESRA=1H

Twelve Specified redemption dates from

30 September 2021 to 30 June 2024

T EERENBE AR —F - —FAA=1H
2T PUFE A=A

HK$387,400,000 (96.85% of principal amount)
387,400,000 78 7T (AN 2R H) 96.85%)

RZZEZTF=A=+—H ' ARRIER
PR B [B] % 5 $8 2N & 42 58 /3 110,000,000 7 7T
iy EEimL% ARFEEH=
TNF EMESHEEE MASER
290,000,000 7 ;T8 —ZF ZUF FHEHD
KRIEE -

CENFEMEFR T —F=A
=+—AKNAFEL A 205,400,000 7T (=
T T4 ¢ 49170,628,000/8 ) c —E /M

FEFEFDEAATFEBRE & -

T ONE FHESOEEN SR ER
BB TEFTENERAERS11.6%
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PROMISSORY NOTES

On 5 December 2007, the Company issued two promissory notes with
an aggregate amount of HK$376,000,000 as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of Wuhan Baisazhou Market (the “Promissory
Notes”). The Promissory Notes bear interest at 5% per annum and are
repayable in five years from the date of issue. The Company may, at
its absolute discretion, pay all or any part of the outstanding principal
amount and interest of the Promissory Notes.

During the period ended 31 March 2020, the Group was pursuing
a litigation regarding the Promissory Notes. As at 18 January 2021,
the promissory note was offsetted with the gains granted under the
Judgment upon settlement of the litigation. For details, please refer to
note 36(B).

The movement of the carrying amount of the Promissory Notes during

the year/period ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 is set out
below:

At 1 January 2019, 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020

=1
I

Less: offsetting upon litigation judgment (Note 36)

29.

B+ ARARFDRIZIEE (T 36)

mmjﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
—F=A=T—BILFE

EARE

MR-+ - FRHHE  ARFRITRIEL
% %8 /376,000,000 % T 2 K H R - (ERIEE
BEBDPMNTS 2 BHORE ([RERE]) - %
HEBIRFENES% B - AARETHER R
FANEE - ARA A 2RBNBEINEARLRRZ
XA REZRNSHERFE

HE_Z-_ZF-A=1+—HIFE  ~£E
AR ERIER—IHFR - RZT=—F—8

TNB - BRFRE AN RIBERBE IR T
ZWERFTHRH - F B2 BT 36(8)

BE_T_ =A==+ RAR_Z_FF=
H:+*Eﬁig/%%’%RﬁEZ$ﬁﬁ
T -
HK$'000
THAT
H
376,000
(376,000)

At 31 March 2021

ZA=+—

H -

The effective interest rate of the Promissory Notes before matured and
matured were 12.23% and 5.00% per annum respectively.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 19 October 2016, the Company issued 7.5% denominated
convertible bonds with the aggregate principal amount of
HK$500,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”). Each bond entitles the
holder to convert into the Company’s ordinary share at a conversion
price of HK$0.4 and maturity on 19 October 2021.

The Company issued the Convertible Bonds for the principal amount
of HK$500,000,000 to raise additional funds for the general working
capital and repayment of indebtedness of the Company.

The Convertible Bonds may be converted into shares of the Company
at any time on or after issue date up to the close of business on the
maturity date.

30.

A MR ME A AR R R BIRFMED F

/512.23% 1% 5.00% °

Gk 3L
RZZF—AREFE+ATNE ARBETASR
%H /% 500,000,000 7% 7T K 7.5% A #2 A% & % (7]
BRES]) - BHEFE THE AEFIRESR
Bo4BTEBRANRZ L@k "= =—F
+A+IBEIH -

RN B2 17784 58 /4 500,000,000 78 7T HY AT 2 A%
E5 UEBEBINESIELE—REBELESRE
BANEELS -

AHBREESRETAME A2 REMNBHE
ERHRAREFAERARRFRN o
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Unless previously redeemed, converted, purchased and cancelled, the
Company will redeem each Convertible Bonds at its principal amount
with accrued and unpaid interest thereon on the maturity date.

The Company shall, at any time before the maturity date, have the
option to redeem the Convertible Bonds in whole or in part by giving
not less than seven clear business days’ prior notice. The amount
payable for any redemption shall be the relevant amount of the
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds so redeemed.

The Convertible Bonds bear interest from and including the issue date
at 7.5% per annum in arrears every six calendar months after the date
of issuance of the Convertible Bonds. The interest payable amount is
calculated by 7.5% to outstanding principal amount of such Bonds.

The Convertible Bonds contain three components: redemption option
derivative, liability and equity elements. The redemption option
derivative and term extension derivative components are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. The
equity element is presented in equity heading “convertible bonds
equity reserve”. The effective interest rate of the liability component on
initial recognition is 12.31% per annum. The valuation of Convertible
Bonds was performed by an independent qualified professional valuer
of the Company.

On 6 April 2017 and 19 April 2017, 380,000,000 shares and 115,500,000
shares have been converted. On 19 December 2017, the Convertible
Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HK$37,000,000 were used
to set off the consideration of rights shares of the Company.

On 9 December 2020, the Convertible Bonds with the aggregate
principal amount of HK$130,000,000 were redeemed early with loss of
HK$5,067,000 recognised in the consolidation statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Convertible Bonds with the
principal amount of HK$134,800,000 and HK$264,800,000 respectively
were outstanding and the maximum number of shares to be converted
is 337,000,000 shares and 662,000,000 shares respectively.

The fair value of the Convertible Bonds of approximately
HK$133,982,000 (2020: approximately HK$249,669,000) as at
31 March 2021. The Convertible Bonds were classified as level 3 of fair
value hierarchy.

30. AIRARRES @
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AMREFBETH (BEZB) BIEFF =
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AL - ERF BB NIRERESERITER
TR 75%TE -
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cBERMERDD c BEERESTETAR
LHHT/TEIEQB D TR A FEER R IE =R
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The Convertible Bonds information are presented as follows:

ARRES @
AR EE 2 AR 2HI T

Principal amounts:
—asat 31 March 2021

REEE
-R—E-_—®=ZHA=+—H

Convertible
Bonds
AaRES
HK$'000
FAxT

134,800

interest: in HKS settlement
7.5% p.a. payable
per six calendar months
after the date of issuance
AREITAEHREE @
BERAAABTABNEGE
% 177.5%
Issue date: BITHE - 19 October 2016
T RFTA+NHE
Maturity date: Z|HAH : 19 October 2021
—%+A+NA
Conversion price per share: BIREIA(E - HK$0.4
047 7T
Risk free rate: R B R 0.64%
Discount rate: i 12.39%
Liability component BEHD
As at 1 January 2019 RZE-—hF—HA—H 234,747
Imputed interest charge (note 7(a)) HER BT H (HE7@a) 36,944
Interest paid BRFE (24,797)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 E’LZEfyi A=+—8AK
—T_TFWMA—H 246,894
Early redemption bt { (124,933)
Imputed interest charge (note 7(a)) HEEF B (MRt 7(a) 26,261
Interest paid BEFIE (16,859)
As at 31 March 2021 R=ZB=—F=ZA=+—H 131,363
Equity component ERBD
As at 1 January 2019, 31 March 2020 RZZT—h&—HA—H"
and 1 April 2020 —E-_TF=A=+—H
;=T -_TFMA—H 79,547
Early redemption bt {0 (39,052)
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZB-—F=H=+—H 40,495
Redemption option derivative component EEERESTETASS
As at 1 January 2019 RZZE-—NF—H—H (2,109)
Change in fair value N EZE 1,787
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZZE-TF=A=+—AK
—T-_TFWMA—H (322)
Change in fair value RN EEE 263

As at 31 March 2021

R=ZB=—F=A=+—H

(59)
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1. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31. SREMBARRRZFTEH

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Income tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial (@) HEMBRAREMNTEHIEPRLE
position represents provision for PRC enterprise income tax. FriSHiE -

(b)  Deferred taxation recognised: (b) BERERELETRIA
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in BHE_Z-_—GkR-_ZFT-_ZFTF=A
the consolidated statement of financial position and the =t+—HILEFEHE BRGNS
movements during the year/period ended 31 March 2021 and TR R TR 2 BRI R I8 B & 2 K E D
2020 are as follows: REZBAT -

Fair value

PRC  adjustments
withholding of investment

taxon properties
distributable  and stock of Convertible
profits properties Bonds Total
RENER
A ZKEH 2 NEFEZ
HEENHR DNRERE ARRES s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FHT TAT FHT
Deferred tax arising from: EEBBEELS
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—-NF—A—H - 411,105 9,976 421,081
Exchange adjustments RIS = (19,662) = (19,662)
Charge/(credit) to profit or loss 0k, G A)1B28 = 86,134 (4,032) 82,102
At31March 2020 and 1 April2020 R-ZE -4
ZA=t—Hk
“ToTE
MA—H - 477,577 5,944 483,521
Exchange adjustments RIS = 40,533 = 40,533
Charge/(credit) to profit or loss ek GEA) Bz 20,000 24,750 (4,803) 39,947
At 31 March 2021 R=B=—F
=H=+—H 20,000 542,860 1,141 564,001
2021 2020
=B —F —TCTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in Tefra AR R
the consolidated statement R I
of financial position MIBBEFE 564,001 483,521
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1. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

(c)

Deferred taxation not recognised

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$398,114,000 for the year ended
31 March 2021 (fifteen months from 1 January 2019 to 31
March 2020: approximately HK$383,339,000) available for
offset the future taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised due to the unpredictability of the future
profit stream. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately HK$362,492,000 (2019: HK$359,351,000) arising
from the PRC which may be carried forward for five years. Ohter
losses of approximately HK$35,622,000 (2019: HK$23,988,000)
may be carried forward indefinitely. The Group had no other
significant deferred tax assets/liabilities not recognised as at the
end of the reporting period.

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a)

mmﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
—F=A=T—BILFE

HmEMBERRRZ B @

REERZEERIR

RBEHR AEEEARETHER
T F=ZA=+—BLBHEY
398,114,000 T (E=E—NF— A —
El?t T oTF=A=+—HIT+HE

: #7383,339,000 /& 7T) T IB & A A LA
%ﬁ%ﬁfﬁ%ﬁ’é%}éiﬁﬂ o [R # LA TR AR 2R
S A IRR - i B RERIEERIBEE o
EaiEsEREELE TR AERTIA
&5 18 #9362,492,00078 7L (ZF — J1LF ¢
359,351,000 7T) AT N AL FF R 4588 o H
fth JE5 18 # 35,622,000 75 7L (ZF — N4 ¢
23,988,000 7% 7T) A R HA 45 88 o MRS
HAK - AN [E I H A B KRR
EFHIBEEBE -

32. EXKf#E

Authorised and issued share capital @ EERBBEITRA
2021 2020
—E--f —ZCTF
Number Nominal Number Nominal
of shares value of shares value
RAHE A RHEE HE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of WE{EO 01787
HK$0.01(2020: (Z2=ZF 00
HK$0.01) each BT 2 BB 30,000,000,000 300,000 | 30,000,000,000 300,000
Ordinary shares, issued EER BRTR
and fully paid: R
At the beginning and the end RE/BNRE /R
of the year/period 9,953,067,822 99,531 9,953,067,822 99,531
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends TERHEABREDTREIR KRS
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per RERRARTRIzEE EHEREK—

share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally in regard to the Company’s residual assets.

B FATRRHALAHBEEST
AR EEE -
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32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b)  Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by section 40 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda.

Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal
value of the Company’s shares repurchased which
has been paid out of the distributable reserves of the
Company.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents (i) the difference
between the underlying net asset value of the
subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued pursuant to group
reorganisation in 1995, and (ii) contribution arising from
capital reorganisation in 2003 and 2009.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus is available for
distribution to shareholders. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make distributions
out of contributed surplus if:

- it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium accounts.

Shareholders’ contribution

The shareholders’ contribution represents imputed
interest expense on the non-current interest-free loan
from ultimate holding company in 2005.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements into presentation currency of the Group
which is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2(r).

32. EXRKF#E @

EEEERA®

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

BR17 18
BirsEERZEAFINEFER
REZ-NN—FAREQEE
A0 IEHTE ©

BB Ol
EARBEOHFHEAARDBEK
D ZEE - BIRAREZA DIk
RS -

BEHBREBEOIRBERBARZ
HREEFESR - NAAAFR
BEBESEAMETARRRND D
HECHER ki) =2FFT=F
M_ETZNFRAEEMELEZ

BREARE-NN—FRDER
R BHAMBRADIK TR -
AR ARRRTIERTTE
BIRSRMARE - B Z R
EH DK :

= B RIS ME 2 IRIZ RAE(E
BB B K

= REBEEM S REEER
HABERED BETRANR
D R 2 4B o

BRHEBEREZRRERATR-F
TRFRHINBERERZE
SR

[E S 1
ERFERREMBELEBSHE
BRGESAEBEZREK ZIE
HER - BRRERRMIE 200 M
L ETRREE -
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32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(vi)  Other reserve
The other reserve of the Group was the changes in the
Group’s ownership interests in its subsidiaries that do

not result in the loss of control.

(vii) ~ Convertible bonds reserve
The convertible bonds reserve represents the conversion
option of convertible bonds recognised in the equity
until either the bonds are converted or redeemed.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company was nil
(2020: Nil).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to strictly control the debt level. The Group
maintains a strategy on acquiring land only if the project
development can commence within a short period of time
so as to minimise the time period between acquisition and
development of the acquired land, thus the Group's capital can
be efficiently deployed.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of gearing
ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines net debt as total debt
(which includes bank and other borrowings, bonds, convertible
bonds and promissory notes) less cash and cash equivalents.
Capital comprises total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

mmjﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
—F=A=T—BILFE

32. EXKf#tE e

(b)

ERMEER B

(vi) HufEdE
AEBMZEMEBEAREERE
WEBARZHEREERES (Tg
BHUR KT HIE) -

(vii) F[HARIES # e
AR ESFFHBEEEFEER
K & [0 A1 35 AT 30 % f& 55 5O 25
RHVEHE R

{2 Al kB
R-B-—£=A=+—0 TAAA
AEERED Bz ASBEAT (=T
ZEF )

BRNER
AEBEREAZBEEBEZAREASE
B ECLEB N EREERR
RIS EARET R AR ﬁ%Z%?&&
BENAERERE - FHEE lzziﬂf%ﬁx
RIREEIR R A H 7 25 AE R IR (A

= o

REBBEG KL ERigd M EEENE
B UBRIEBIERKE - NREEER
ZBRBESNE AR BRRART
SHALTMIEBRR R EUZSHE
WErEFREBA LI ZHBRKNA
¥ EAREREERERER

AEBEAB B R RREEE Hﬁzli
BBt s - AREBESFER
REBLE(BRRITREMER I\
7 RREFATR LR RERE
EBEeER  BERABEAR WE i A% IR
FE(h e o AR M BERESEE
FHR -
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32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(d) Capital management (Continued)

32. EXKGHE®
d) BAGE @

The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 was as follows:

R FR T -_TFE=-A=+—

externally imposed capital requirements.

2 EARRE -

Aza@ELEmT :
2021 2020
—E-—F B FTF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

FaE FExT FAT
Current debts MENETS
- Bank and other borrowings - $R1T K EAth fE 5k 27 227,856 231,820
— Convertible bonds - AR ES 30 131,363 =
— Promissory notes - FA R 29 - 376,000
Total current debts BNER B RE 359,219 607,820
Non-current debts IERBNEDS
- Bank and other borrowings - $R1T K E At fE 5k 27 816,453 779,669
— Convertible bonds - AR ES 30 - 246,894
- Bonds - &% 28 195,630 176,998
Total non-current debts JERNHRERS 4B %E 1,012,083 1,203,561
Total debt B4Rz 1,371,302 1,811,381
Less: Cash and cash equivalents & : 3R& KIS 558 24 (424,675) (339,599)
Net debt B FE 946,627 1,471,782
Total equity e AERE 2,205,853 1,485,365
Net debt-to-capital ratio BERFRE B AL 42.9% 99.1%

Neither the Company not its subsidiaries are subject to ANE REME AR HAEBST N
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(a)
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33. XATBBMRRRKFEEEE

Financial position of the Company @ AREZEBEAMR
2021 2020
—E-—F T TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAxT
Non-current asset FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR Z2E 319,580 319,580
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H b e R0 2,051,793 2,397,086
Financial assets at fair value BATEFRRRIESREE
through profit or loss ZERMEE 59 322
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREER 64,607 24,520
2,116,459 2,421,928
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables H b fES ROE 732,366 646,296
Convertible bonds AR ES 131,363 -
Promissory notes EHER - 376,000
863,729 1,022,296
Net current assets RENEEFRE 1,252,730 1,399,632
Total assets less current liabilities #EEERABEE 1,572,310 1,719,212
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bonds &5 195,630 176,998
Other borrowing HE g 600,000 600,000
Convertible bonds AR ES - 246,894
Deferred tax liability EEFIEA E 1,141 5,944
796,771 1,029,836
Net assets BEE 775,539 689,376
Capital and reserves EARR#iE
Share capital [N 99,531 99,531
Reserves &t 676,008 589,845
Total equity B 775,539 689,376

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

28 June 2021.

Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
RinE
Director

EF

RZEZ—FRAZ+N\BEE=SH

R IRAETE

Tang Ching Ho
JI=ED
V=pL!
Director

BF
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(b)

34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

A summary to the Company’s reserves is as follows:

33. ARAMBRRRRFEEE

#®)

(b) ARFZEHEHEWOT :

Capital Convertible
Share redemption Contributed bonds Shareholders Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserves  contribution losses Total
EXEE TRRES
BRipaE e HHER R RRLE  RAER ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TR TER TER TAR
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-h%
—A-AR 3,923,147 945 588,812 79,547 664 (3,869,724) 723,391
Loss for the period TSR - - - - - (133546)  (133,546)
At 31 March 2020 and RZZ=%
1 April 2020 =A=t-Bk
=
mA—H 3923147 945 588,812 79,547 664 (4,003,270) 589,845
Early redemption of REER
convertible bonds AR ES - - - (39,052) - 39,052 -
Profit for the year REERA - - - - - 86,163 86,163
At31 March 2021 R=B=-%
SHEH 3,923,147 945 588,812 40,495 664  (3,878,055) 676,008

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on

3 May 2012 whereby the directors the Company are authorised, at

their discretion, to invite selected eligible persons (the “Participants”)

to take up options for their contribution to the Group. The Scheme will

remain in force for 10 years. Under the Scheme, the board of directors

(the “Board”) may grant options to the Participants to subscribe for

shares in the Company for a consideration of HK$ 1 for each lot of share

options granted. The exercise price is to be determined by the Board

and shall not be less than the highest of:

(a)

(b)

the official closing price of the shares as stated in the daily

quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date

which must be a business day (and for this purpose, shall be

taken to be the date of the Board meeting at which the Board

proposes to grant the options);

the average of the official closing price of the shares as stated

in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five

business days immediately preceding the offer date; and

the nominal value of a share.

34. IERGEURGAER 2

2
BEAATR T

——FhA=BHRMZER
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B 2 & ki 5 A
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Bl EE
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34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to the Scheme, the maximum number of shares in the
Company in respect of which options may be granted when
aggregated with any other share option scheme of the Company is not
permitted to exceed 116,334,463 shares, representing approximately
1.17% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
this report. Subject to the issue of a circular and the approval of the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting and/or such other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time,
the Board may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at the date of approval by the shareholders of the
Company in general meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of

the shares in issue from time to time.

The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
to the Participants in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in
issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess of
this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of the shareholders in
general meeting. The participant and his associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) are abstained from voting and/or other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time. Options granted
to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess
of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

There is no specific requirement that an option must be held for
any minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board is
empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period at
the time of grant of any particular option. The period during which
an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than
ten years from the date of grant.

No options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during
the year/period ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

34, DUEREEURGBER X

Z (&

RIEETE] - 8 R A D & o] £ Ath B AR A 5T &I AT
BHZBREMFRZARNFTRAEREE T
SiBiB 116,334,463 % © BIAD G RAIRE B Hf
EEATIRANAD1.17%  RIBTFIEMEK - AR F]
BRI A E EibfE K sk TR R EFRT
B HMBE  EESAENERESNET
ARRARFRRERRAE LHEE AB 81T
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30% °
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BNSBEEEAHREBITROBE 2 1% £
Al — 4% N BB A% 1% [RAE 2 B AR - ZBFFAR
RARBRRAE L - 2EERHEBEAL (F
FR MR BRERZERSEST ETRA
TERIRAZ EMBATE o METFEERR LB L
IEMITEE 2 BREBBRREIRAEZ0.1% -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2~ T - —F=A=+—HILFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

Exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks (including interest rate,

currency risk and equity price risk) arises in the normal course of the

Group's business.

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management policies

and practices described below.

(a)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade and
other receivables, loan receivables and cash deposits with
banks.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, loan
receivables and cash and cash equivalents represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets.

In relation to the Group’s deposits with bank, the Group limits
its exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with financial
institutions with high credit rating and no recent history of
default. The directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk on the bank deposits is low. Management continues
to monitor the position and will take appropriate action if their
ratings should change. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the
Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in relation
to deposits with bank.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain individual
customers. At the end of each reporting period, the five largest
receivable balances accounted for approximately 37.7% (2020:
approximately 78%) of the trade receivables and the largest
trade receivable was approximately 31.6% (2020: approximately
61%) of the Group's total trade receivables. The Group seeks
to minimise its risk by dealing with counterparties which have
good credit history. Majority of the trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired have no default payment history.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
location is mainly in the PRC.

35. M EREEEREREE

AEEREEXRBBRETELEER

mEBE S

KGR R (BRmAE - BEEREEERR)

AEERE TR BERBREREOIRGIZE

[2\fz

(a)

EERR
A& EEREREELE S & H M E KR

B RREFRRBTREFREENE
SR -

BHREMEKFIE  BEERERS
R EHENEHEEASERHESR
BENRAEERR -

RAEBFERNRITZERME @ A&
7B 87 RN RS E SRR RE
HIY MR AR 8 2 & R - REDURUE
FiAEzEERR ARREERR
AEERTEFZEERRRE - EE
BREESRARNN  LERNEEZ
RAEBRIEETH R_F——
—E_TF=A=+—RH AEET
BEMRTERZBESPEERR -

AEEREETENEFZEREER
B o MEMEREER - AAREWGRIEL
BRMEEUE B RIELI37.7% (T _ZF ¢
#78%) * MR AEWE SHHIBEAEE
FEUWE PR IBMEEEXI31.6%(ZZT T F
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. B EREEBERBER @
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

For loan and other receivables, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of loan and other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The directors of the
Company believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group's outstanding balance of loan and other receivables.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of, a financial asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. Especially the following indicators are

incorporated:

internal credit rating;

external credit rating;

actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s
ability to meet its obligations;

actual or expected significant changes in the operating

results of the borrower;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the same borrower; and

significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrowers in the Group and changes
in the operating results of the borrower.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables.

(a)

EERR @

HERREMRETIEMNS  BRES
ENBEAELCE I AELEREERK
H A W R8T (B e TE BV L R
A R ARG - ARAREZRRALE
I A0 A A A B R R LA R R IR A A Y
BEEXEERR -

AEERRREREENFHERILARE
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B R3S A 1052 KO LR ER F) 46 e 52 B HR e
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SNEREERTAR
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BRI BERK TR ERTA

54
=

BRAEEEENERLBNE
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SREBARIEN : &
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has credit policy to monitor the level of credit risk. In
general, the credit record and credit period for each customer
or debtor are regularly assessed, based on the customer’s or
debtor’s financial condition, their capacity to obtain guarantee
from third parties, their credit records and other factors such as
current market condition. Management overall considers the
shared credit risk characteristic and the days past due of the
trade receivables to measure the expected credit. The Group
considered among other factors including forward looking
information, analysed historical pattern.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 and 2020
was determined as follows for trade receivables:

35. BIAMREEBEEZERBE @

(a)

EERR @&

AEBEEREARREREEERRK
Fo—RME  REFPHREBANY
Bk WERE=FESERDE
N~ B E ARSI KR E BT TIEROR
FHMAER  ERFEESEEPHER
ARERESERERE - BEERE
BE S REURIRENKFEERBRSH L
AMANHERRER - ARBEKEEE
RERZBE EPRERMBEEER &
DITE LB -

BIEEE RZE-—FR_E_FTF
A=+ BHEKRE ZHBERNEER
BETEMT

More than
90 days but
As at R-B=—F Less than less than More than
31 March 2021 =A=t+—H 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
##iB9o A
90 B {E180BLK  #EiB180H e
Trade receivables FEWE 578
Expected loss rate TEEE R % % 98.6%
Gross carrying amount RRRmEE (TET)
(HKS'000) 9,002 644 8,297 17,943
Loss allowance R (T
(HK$'000) - - (8,177) (8,177)
Net carrying amount BREVFE (FAT)
(HK$'000) 9,002 644 120 9,766
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.

%Aﬁﬁﬁ$WH
—F=A=+—RILER

BEEREEEERBE @

@ EERR®@

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 BILERE NP2 —FR-_T-TF
was determined as follows for trade receivables: (continued) Z“A=+—BHEKRE FHRENEERR
BEEWT - (B)
More than
90 days but
As at R-TE-TF Less than less than More than
31 March 2020 =A=+—H 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
#8890 H
90 HLAR {180 HIAR #8180 H ek
Trade receivables R E 5738
Expected loss rate T HAEs 1R 7.6% 33.0% 95.5%
Gross carrying amount WRERTEE (FA7T)
(HKS'000) 3,196 551 5,929 9,676
Loss allowance EBEEE (THT)
(HKS'000) (243) (182) (5,664) (6,089)
Net carrying amount fREFE (T8I
(HK$'000) 2,953 369 265 3,587
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 March REZBEZ—FR_FT=_TF=A=+—
2021 and 2020 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as H 2 FEUE 5 5/ I8 2 BiR B8 5 1 E1 B
follows: EEEEOEERNT
Trade receivables
B E S A
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—hF—HA—H 10,327
Increase in loss allowance BB 2 R 2 B R g
recognised in profit or loss
during the period 5,160
Amounts written off as uncollectible SR Bl RS /I8 (9,104)
Exchange difference JEE 5, = RE (294)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZZEZTF=A=+—HRK
=== A 6,089
Increase in loss allowance FARN B ER 2 EEREL M
recognised in profit or loss
during the year 1,532
Exchange difference BN =5 556

At 31 March 2021

R-EB=-—F=H=+—H

8,177
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group will monitor debtors with long outstanding
balances and will engage in enforcement activities to recover
the receivables due. Where recoveries are made, these are
recognised in consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The Group closely monitors
trade receivables balance more than 30 days. Those trade
receivables, due more than 90 days, with financial difficulties,
declining credit standing and poor historical payment pattern
will be considered as default. The Group will write off these
unrecovered receivables after all possible means of debt
recovery activities.

For loan and other receivables, the Group applies either a
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivables has occurred since initial
recognition then impairment is measured as lifetime expected
credit losses.

In determining the 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss
for these receivables, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical payment experience and the corresponding
historical credit loss rates, and adjusted for forward-looking
macroeconomic data. In assessing whether the credit risk
on these receivables have increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on these receivables as at the reporting date with the risk of
default occurring on these receivables as at the date of initial
recognition. Management would re-assess these factors
periodically for any deterioration or improvement indications to
determine if credit risk from these receivables has increased or
decreased.

35. BIAMREEBEEZERBE @

(a)

EERR @&

AEERERRMRERERNE
A - A% BRER 58 1 17 ) A e (2 21 2 L
FIH o i3 AREFOR - AR S Ea
REMEEPSRERZFRE - A%
B R 30 B E 5 IR 2
i o ZFBHBERE0 A AEYBR
- ERAMRTEMBEERIERARE
BB 5 I MRIA R IRAR AR K - IREH
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MsHZ S AR E 2 FEHRIA
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SRESR R EMEWIAT 5 AKEE
AREARREESRNEHERER
B8 RFEERR B MRERIARE
BEEZINMIE o fis #1756 FE 78 AL B I
FRBEZEEARHBRBEZELN - ARE
e HEREEEENE

BHEEEER  AEEZEESERA
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AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

AIBEEER
Low risk

KR

Watch list
BEmRy

Doubtful

AJ&E

Loss

B8

Write-off
s

—F=ZA=t—HLFE

Mg EEEE B R RBER @

@ EERE @
AEEZRBEER
NEER

Description
g

The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not
have any past-due amounts

RSB FENRRER - WEEMRHHIE
Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle
in full

BEHEARERBREAER - HEBRTBUSE

There have been significant increases in credit risk since

initial recognition through information developed internally

or external resources
EERR B VLSRR ARERNIE RSN ERMER
=il

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired

BRBHETZEAEEHREERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery

BEBBETEBABAREN SR - BAREEUK
W

Deposits and other
receivables and
loan receivables
RERHMERFIE
REWER

12m ECL
12 8 A B ERE B Es1E

12m ECL

1218 ATRHEEERE

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

2 HIEEE B &I -
WS ERE

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

2 HIEEE EEIE -
EERE

Amount is written off

SREC I

B Rt AR T B 1R A
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2~ T - —F=A=+—HILFE

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's

financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

Internal
credit rating

R ERTR

Financial assets at amortised cost

BBHERAARZSHEE

Loan receivables (Note 22)
FEYE R (FiFE22)

Other receivables (Note 21)
e kR (iaE21)

Other deposit (Note 21)
Hitize (M3E21)

Deposit for land
acquisition (Note 21)

TRz e (HEE21)

Low risk
KRB
Doubtful

AT&E

Loss

B

Low risk

R

Doubtful

AT&E

Loss

B

Low risk

R

Low risk

R

12mor

lifetime ECL
128A=
2HAEBEEHR

12m ECL
12{A A FEHIEE &R
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
> HRMREEER
(rEEERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
> HRMREEER
(EERE)

12m ECL
12{A A FEHIEEEE
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
> HRMREEER
(rEEERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
> HRBAEEER
(EERE)

12m ECL
12 {8 ATeHA(E B 618

12m ECL

12 {8 A e B E1E

35.

BEEREEEERBEK @

@ EERR®@

TREIAEBESEEEZ EERBIK
A MzEeREERETREERS

1B
2021
—E-—F
Gross carrying
amount
RAREE
HK’000 HK’'000
TR TR
11,976
1,656
38,323 51,955
47,975
14,274
19,042 81,291
7,733
57,428

2020
—TTF
Gross carrying
amount
BERE(E
HK'000 HK$'000
TET TET
7,207
43,462
= 50,669
32,106
34,968
= 67,074
9,866
53,019
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(a)

Credit risk (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 E{Z —Z ——

A BB RARMIEE
FZR=t+—AILEE

BEEREEEERBE @

(@ FEERR@

The closing loss allowances for deposits and other receivables R —FRZF_TF=A=+—
and loan receivables as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 reconcile to Bz iz e &E fth fEWGRTE R R E K2
the opening loss allowances as follows: HR 1R B A B R 1 S 1R BB 0 T BR 40
T
Deposit and other receivables Re Rk HAEKRIE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12mECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HES 20BN
12{8A FEFE FEFE
BHGERE (BEEEHE) (FERE) aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TR THER
At 1 January 2019 “T-n&—A-H 104 344 - 448
Increase in loss allowance BQWW‘TE SRR
recognised in BIEAAEEM
profit or loss
during the period 343 379 - 722
Exchange difference EHER (16) (26) = 42)
At 31 March 2020 and —TZF
1 April 2020 =RA=+-Bk
“2-ZFNA-A 431 697 - 1,128
Transfer to credit-impaired EYREERE - (291) 291 =
(Decrease)/increase in FRRNEEFERZ
loss allowance BEERE R /2
recognised in
profit or loss
during the year (353) (309) 14,086 13,424
Exchange difference EXESE 24 39 476 539
At 31 March 2021 R-B--f=ZfA=+-H 102 136 14,853 15,091
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. IR EEB

—F=A=t+—HLFE

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

ZRBER @)

management, including the short-term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the parent company’s board
when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, there
were no unutilised banking facilities.

Credit risk (Continued) @ EERR @
Loan receivables EWRER
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2 RN 2HRN
1218 A =EEE ZEEE
BHEEEE (rEEERE EBREEERE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET T T
At 1January 2019 RZZ-n&—A—H 198 - - 198
(Decrease)/increase in HARNERTERZ
loss allowance EiBAE (i) /2
recognised in
profit or loss
during the period (162) 897 - 735
Exchange difference ERE® B) (30) - (33)
At 31 March 2020 and R-Z_ZF
1 April 2020 =R=+—-Hk
—Z_ZTFNA-R 33 867 - 900
Transfer to credit-impaired BYEEERE - (706) 706 =
(Decrease)/increase in FRRERPHERL
loss allowance BEiaRE (Rl /1810
recognised in
profit or loss
during the year (24) (154) 28,191 28,013
Exchange difference EH = 2 9 995 1,006
At 31 March 2021 R=B=-F=ZfA=+-H 1 16 29,892 29,919
Liquidity risk (b) WMEE
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet TMENE & B 57N 5 B R B IS 5 75 B AR
its financial obligations as they fall due. Individual operating RrRBE R TﬂE BBk AEBETZ
entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash ﬁi*ﬁi ERERTARRSERET

BRERSBBRZENRENEEE
fAWﬂﬂE%@iﬁ%ﬁﬂz * MEARFE FGER
BEXECHEMNARSEARNESSH
HR - HAET - AEBZBERE S
ERBARERRSDEFEUARER
BEETREZBZRE  ERERR
MR SHEBERNEZSBRBEREG

E%’JE’]%?’*E&‘IQ C AER EEH R R
MBESHFRK RZZE=—FR-_F—

Ei:ﬂ:+—ﬁ'mﬁ$@%2ﬁﬁ
MEFE °
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. B EREEBERBER @
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) RBESER @)
The following table details the remaining contractual TRFAVIARE B RE BARARTAIREL
maturities at the end of reporting period of the Group’ s non- RReTREAERZENTESREBE (R
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual IR T = (2 5 RIR IR RS H
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments RIBITZF) ) 5 E 2 F B4 50) 2 Fgk
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates RIAEFE - URASERARREE
current at the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the BEMFEZREHE
Group and the Company can be required to pay:
At 31 March 2021 R=ZB=-—$=A=+—~H
Total Morethan  More than
Weighted contractual Within  1yearbut 2years but
average  Carryingundiscounted  1yearor  lessthan  lessthan  More than
interest rate amount  cashflows ondemand 2years 5years 5years
THRER
BeRE —FR —F% mEHR
il S5 2FilkS REE BE SEEXR  AmFr  BEFR nE#
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEn Ti#n Ti#n Ti#gn TR
Deposit and other e REMENFE
payables - 468,045 468,045 468,045 - - -
Bank and other BITREMIETR
borrowings 8.2% 1,044,309 1,218,188 308,346 688,768 72,372 148,702
Bonds & 11.6% 195630 291,011 2,900 2,900 285211 -
Lease liabilities HEAR 8.4% 25,254 32,407 6,952 6,655 14,244 4,556
Convertiblebonds AT B 123% 131,363 140,365 140,365 - - -
1,864,601 2,150,016 926,608 698,323 371,827 153,258
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. BiiERERE B EREEK @
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) mBETRER @)
At 31 March 2020 RZZE_TF=A=+—H
Total Morethan ~ More than
Weighted contractual Within ~ 1yearbut  2years but
average Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than
interest rate amount  cashflows ondemand 2 years 5years 5years
ATRIARERE

Reng  —Fm —FE WFR
mEEINE  REE &% IERL  ERFA ERFA BFR
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEL  TRT  TAT  TEr < TER  TER

Depositandother &% REMERHE

payables - 664581 664,581 664,581 - - =
Bank and other RITREAER

borrowings 82% 1011489 1249456 310028 129782 717,555 92,091
Bonds &% 11.6% 176,998 303,062 2,900 2,900 297,262 -
Lease liabilities HERE 9.0% 24,243 32,349 5,609 5,802 16,381 4,557
Promissory notes EHEE 5.0% 376,000 376,000 376,000 - - -
Convertiblebonds ~ FJ#kES 12.3% 246804 295,597 19,860 275,737 - -

2,500,205 2,921,045 1378978 414221 1,031,198 96,648




——FFR

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.

2021 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

AND POLICIES (continued)

(@]

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from bank and
other borrowings, bonds, convertible bonds, promissory notes,

and cash and cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise mainly cash at banks and in
hand, with the annual interest rates ranging from approximately
0.001% to 3.05% as at 31 March 2021 (2020: approximately
0.001% to 1.95%).

The interest rates of the Group’s bank and other borrowings,
bonds, promissory notes and convertible bonds are disclosed in
notes 27, 28, 29 and 30 respectively.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, bonds, promissory notes
and convertible bonds (see notes 27, 28, 29 and 30 for details).

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in respect of
its variable-rate bank and other borrowings (see note 27) and
bank balances (see note 24) due to changes of interest rates. It
is the Group's present policy to keep its borrowings at floating
rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.
The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant fixed-rate bank
and other borrowings should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the Group'’s
profit after tax and increase/decrease accumulated losses by
approximately HK$940,000 (fifteen months from 1 January
2019 to 31 March 2020: HK$1,496,000). Other components of
equity would not be affected (fifteen months from 1 January
2019 to 31 March 2020: Nil) in response to the general increase/
decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of
reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to
interest rate risk for non-derivative financial instruments in
existence at that date. The 100 basis point increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in the respective interest rates over the period until the
next annual reporting period. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2020.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Currency risk

Currency risk to the Group is minimal as most of the Group’s
transactions denominated and settled in the functional currency
of the operations to which the transactions relate. Most of the
Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are also denominated in
the Group’s functional currencies. Therefore, the Group has no
significant currency risk exposure as they are denominated in a
currency same as the functional currencies of the group entities
to which these transactions relate.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through
its investment in listed equity securities. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with difference risk and return profiles. The Group
exposed to equity price risk arising from changes in the Group’s
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date. If equity
price had been 5% higher/lower, the Group’s net profit for
the year would increase/decrease by approximately HK$3,300
(fifteen months from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020:
approximately HK$3,600). This is mainly due to the changes in
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Fair value of financial instrument

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

(i) the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted
market prices; and

(i) the fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

The carrying amount of other financial assets and liabilities
carried at amortised cost, approximate their respective fair
values due to the relatively short-term nature of these financial
instruments.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. I REBEEBERBER @

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(0]

Fair value of financial instrument (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments

that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,

grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair

value is observable as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the assets
or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

H ESRIAZDFE®R

o >

& M IR A2 FlERT

TREBRA NS BRAREATEIES
SBMTAZHH  LRER-T——F
R-E-EE=A=+—-A2AFEZ
TERRES AE—EHHE -

E—MATERREEERT
35 HARA AR B 2 BB CRE
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P2 RAE A2 A B (R 4R)
5 (B e (1245 ) B 2 2
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ZAFEEE -

F=RAVEAEREABRREY
FENABEMSBEBECEESR
B EMAEEARE (TATBEREGA
BUR) Z (HERMS 2 AFER

Level 1
F—#
HK$'000
FHET
At 31 March 2021 R=T=—F
=A=+-—H
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at fair value &2 (&% R &
through profit or loss RBmREE 2
SREE
- Equity securities listed -REBLTZ
in Hong Kong NS 66
Derivative financial PTESmIA
instruments
— Redemption option - B EI AR OTAE
derivative component TAE#H -

Level 2
gt}
HK$'000
FTHET

2o
Level 3 Total
E=4& B

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
- 66

59 59
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Fair value of financial instrument (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

Level 1
E—R
HK$’000
FAT
At 31 March 2020 R-B-FF
=A=+—A8
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at fair value ~ ZAFEZIER &
through profit or loss MBS REIE L
TREE
- Equity securities listed -RBEB L2 I’RA
in Hong Kong BEH 72
Derivative financial PTESHMIA
instruments
- Redemption option - FECI AR IEDT &
derivative component TEFS -

35. BIAMREEBEEZERBE @

H SMIEZAHE®R
&R B I B IR ER R A FEAT

E#®
Level 2 Level 3 Total
F_H F= wEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET

- 322 322

There were no transfer between Level 1, 2 and 3 in both
years. When a determination is made to classify an asset or
liability within Level 3, the determination is base upon the
significance of the unobservable inputs to the overall fair value

measurement.
Valuation

Financial assets techniques
tREE fEER
Financial assets at fair value through Binomial model

profit or loss

- derivative financial instruments
BRATEIRRERRREEL AR

-TAESRTA

As at 31 March 2021, the discount rate used to compute the fair
value is 15.86% (2020: 14.73%). The higher the discount rate,
the lower the fair value.

For reconciliation Level 3 fair value measurements of financial

assets, refer to Note 30.

RMEFE  F—& F_RZRF=H
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REAE o
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inputs 2021 2020
TABREAHE —EC-F —ZTCTF
Discount rate 15.86% 14.73%
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36. LITIGATION

Writ issued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun and Wuhan
Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co.,
Ltd. against the Company (“PRC Action No.1")

(A)

1.

On 7 January 2011, the Company received a writ (the
“Writ”) issued by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang") and
Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development
Co., Ltd. (“Tian Jiu") (as plaintiffs) against the Company
(as defendant) and filed with the Higher People’s Court of
Hubei Province (the “Hubei Court”) of the PRC, together
with the related court summons dated 4 January 2011
(the “Summons”). The Writ also joined Wuhan Baisazhou
Agricultural By-Product Grand Market Company Limited
(“Baisazhou Agricultural”) as third party to such civil
proceeding.

Major allegations of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as set out in
the Writ are as follows:

(a) it is alleged that Baisazhou Agricultural forged
a share transfer agreement (the “Contended
Agreement”) in relation to the acquisition
of Baisazhou Agricultural (the “Acquisition”)
wherein consideration for the Acquisition was
understated and the manner of settlement of the
consideration was inaccurately described;

(b) itis alleged that Baisazhou Agricultural forged
the related documentation for filing with the
PRC Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM”") and the
Hubei Administration For Industry and Commerce
(the “Hubei AIC”), and that such documentation
and the Contended Agreement involved forged

signatures; and
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(A)

Writ issued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun and Wuhan
Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co.,
Ltd. against the Company (“PRC Action No.1") (Continued)

(Continued)

(c) it is alleged that MOFCOM and the Hubei
AIC approved the Acquisition and processed
the related filings on the basis of the above
documents that are allegedly forged.

At the relevant time of the Acquisition, none of
the current Directors or senior management of
the Company as at the date of this report were
involved in the Acquisition.

According to the Writ, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
were seeking an order from the court that the
Contended Agreement, to which the Company
is a party, is void and invalid from the beginning
and should therefore be terminated, and claimed
against the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural
all relevant profits of Baisazhou Agricultural
which were attributable to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu,
together with costs of the legal proceedings.

On 18 November 2011, the Hubei Court made an interim
order that the 8% equity interest held by the Company
in Baisazhou Agricultural be subject to a freezing order
pending determination of the Writ. The percentage
of equity interest held by the Company in Baisazhou
Agricultural subject to a freezing order was subsequently
reduced from 8% to 1.3%. On 26 May 2015, a decision
was issued by the Wuhan Intermediate People’s Court
discharging this freezing order. It follows that the
freezing order no longer has any effect on the Group.

On 18 June 2014, the Company received the judgment
(the “"Hubei Court Judgment”) dated 31 May 2014 from
the Hubei Court in relation to PRC Action No. 1. In the
Hubei Court Judgment, the Hubei Court dismissed the
claims of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu, and they were ordered
to bear the legal costs of the matter.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(A)  Writissued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun and Wuhan
Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co.,
Ltd. against the Company (“PRC Action No.1") (Continued)

4.

On 4 July 2014, the Company received the notice of
appeal to the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC (the
“Supreme People’s Court”) from Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu regarding PRC Action No. 1 (the “Appeal”). In the
Appeal, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu sought an order from the
Supreme People’s Court that the Contended Agreement
was void.

On 13 January 2015, the Company received the
judgment dated 31 December 2014 handed down from
the Supreme People’s Court in relation to the Appeal
(the “Beijing Judgment”). In the Beijing Judgment, the
Supreme People’s Court ordered that: (a) the Hubei Court
Judgment be revoked; (b) the Contended Agreement
was void; and (c) acknowledged that the HK$1,156
million sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA”) shall be
the actual agreement being performed by the Company,
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

As advised by the PRC legal adviser of the Company:

(a) The Supreme People’s Court only ordered the
Contended Agreement void, but it did not make
any ruling regarding the Acquisition itself, and/
or the approval of the Acquisition issued by
MOFCOM in November 2007.

(b)  The Beijing Judgment will not directly lead to any
immediate change of ownership of Baisazhou
Agricultural. The Company continues to be the
legal owner of Baisazhou Agricultural until and
unless the revocation of:

(i) the approval of the Acquisition from
MOFCOM; and

(ii) the registration of the transfer of shareholding
by the Hubei AIC.
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36. LITIGATION (continued) 36. =FAA @
(A)  Writissued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun and Wuhan (A FHEHZEIREERNIZERESR
Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co., NP P N/NT S Sanhrde=i
Ltd. against the Company (“PRC Action No.1") (Continued) ([PEIE—HESHR]) (@)
6. On 23 June 2015, the Company submitted an application 6. RZZE—RFSNA=Z+=H ' &

to the Supreme People’s Court for a retrial, requesting
that the Beijing Judgment be set aside.

7a On 21 July 2015, the Company received the written 7.
Notice of Acceptance of the retrial application from the
Supreme People’s Court.

AAMERAREREHBES
A BRBEILRHAR -

R-ZE-—RFLA-+—HB &
AEEEREARER ZBEH

FRIBBIE -

8. On 22 December 2015, the Supreme People’s Court 8. RZE—RF+—A=+=H"
dismissed the Company's petition (the “December 2015 Ha ARERBE AR R RE
Judgment”). The Company received the December 2015 ([ZB—HF+ZAHR]) - AR
Judgment on 7 January 2016. ARZZE—AR"FE—AtBHKE=

T-RFTZAHAR
(B)  Writissued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian (B) ARRNEBHILTRRNEL
Jiuin Hong Kong 2=k
1. Onorabout 24 October 2011, the Company issued a Writ 1. E’\\\:%**Eﬂﬁ — -+ HE%E

of Summons in the Hong Kong Court of First Instance (the
“Court”) against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. The Company (as
purchaser) sought damages from Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
(as vendors) for their breach of various provisions of the
SPA for the Acquisition.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(B)  Writissued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu in Hong Kong (Continued)

2.

On 5 October 2012, the Company obtained a court
order from the Court to the effect that undertakings
(the “Undertakings”) were given by Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu not to: (i) indorse, assign, transfer or negotiate the
two instruments (purportedly described as promissory
notes in the SPA) (the “Instruments”); and (ii) enforce
payment by presentation of the Instruments until the
final determination of the court action or further court
order. Pursuant to the Undertakings, the Instruments
will no longer fall due for payment by the Company on 5
December 2012.

On 9 June 2017, upon the parties’ joint application to the
Court, the Court varied the Undertakings to the effect
that the Undertakings shall stand save that Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu can make a counterclaim under the present
action as per the draft attached to the Consent Summons
filed by the parties on 2 June 2017.

The trial took place in February, March and June 2019 for
23 days.

On 18 January 2021, the Court handed down a judgment
(“HK Judgment”). Pursuant to the HK Judgment, the
Court ruled, inter alia, that:

(a) Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall pay to the Company
damages in the total sum of RMB510,000,000 for
loss and damages suffered by the Company in
that the value of Baisazhou Agricultural’s shares
was substantially less than what Ms. Wang and

Tianjiu warranted;

(b)  Ms. Wang shall pay to the Company nominal
damages of HK$1 for the failure on the part of
Ms. Wang to assist the Company or Baishazhou
Agricultural to obtain the Land Use Certificates in

question;
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(B)  Writissued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu in Hong Kong (Continued)

5.

(Continued)

() The Company is entitled to set-off the amount of
HK$54,211,000 from the sum due by the Company
to Ms. Wang under one of the Instruments, being
the net profit shortfall;

(d) As the quantum of the award of damages to the
Company is greater than the amounts due under
the Instruments, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu are not
allowed to enforce the Instruments against the
Company; and

(e) The counterclaim of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu for,
amongst others, an order that the Company do
cause and/or procure the shares in Baisazhou
Agricultural to be transferred back to the
defendants, be dismissed.

In the circumstances, the Company is not required to
make any payment under the Instruments to Ms. Wang
or Tian Jiu. Further, as the counterclaim of Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu was dismissed, the Company continues to be the
legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

As at 18 January 2021, the aggregate amount of the
principal amount and interest payable of the promissory
notes was approximately HK$660,833,000 and the award
of damages was approximately HK$663,253,000. Based
on the assessment by the management of the Company,
the exceeding amount of approximately HK$2,420,000
from the award of damages was not recognised as
probability of the recoverability is remote. As a result,
the management of the Company only recognised
approximately HK$660,833,000 in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

R EA ()

(B) ARFRBBHERLRRNEZL
Z2AR ()

5.

&)

(0 ZARRBEBEARRFRE
FE—H &k GUFAERFEZ)
HERELZLTHREBEF MR
54,211,000 57T

d) BRAERAARXNNES
BRESRAN XIRIA TR
N8\ WELLRRAAT
(EEIESRAVNGIE- LR 2 kS5 S
&R

@ FXRELERRNLEHESE
) AR BMRE R, HARK
BB Bl EE A 2 B A7 #5
B4 & 2 B < # R R R
8] o

FEUBERT  AAREFREX
B\ E LR RN FERR
He ltsh ARERERRNE
He RERWERE - AR AR
RAPMBREIERZEEEm
BA-

RZTEZ—F—AF+N\A8 " &
HEBASBREMHEAH
#7660,833,000/8 7T * B E I &
& %8 %) /663,253,000 7T ° 1R
BARAREEENG%E - ARA
W [el & B8 2 A RE IR /)N + BRI 4
BRRKEEEHFEZBEHESFEN
2,420,000 7T c At - A AFE
BERGEEaAMEE KA
FIERER# 660,833,000 57T ©



——FFR

2021 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021 {2 —Z—

36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(C) Legal proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu

1.

On 4 May 2015 and 5 May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
had jointly commenced two separate legal proceedings
against MOFCOM alleging that MOFCOM failed
to discharge its statutory duties for handling their
application submitted in January 2015 for revoking the
certificate of approval and letter of approval in relation
to the Contended Agreement (the “Application”).
The cases have been accepted by the Beijing Second
Intermediate People’s Court (the “Beijing Court”).

On 20 May 2015, MOFCOM had filed its defence and each
of the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural has then
made an application to join the cases as third party.

On 25 May 2015, the Beijing Court issued a notice to the
Company regarding submission of evidence.

On 8 January 2016, the Company received a judgment
dated 31 December 2015 issued by the Beijing Court, by
which the Beijing Court demanded MOFCOM to handle
the Application again within 30 days.

On 15 February 2016, an inquiry was held by MOFCOM
where the relevant parties to the legal proceedings were
invited to attend and make submissions.

On 23 May 2016, the Company received a decision
issued by MOFCOM dated 19 May 2016 (the “MOFCOM
Decision”) to the effect, inter alia, that its approval
issued in November 2007 in relation to the Contended
Agreement shall not be revoked and shall remain to be

in force.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(@) Legal proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu (Continued)

7.

10.

11.

12.

According to a writ dated 3 August 2016, Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu requested the Beijing Court to revoke the
MOFCOM Decision and to order MOFCOM to make a
decision to revoke the approval. According to a notice
issued by the Beijing Court together with the writ which
was served to the Company, each of the Company and
Baisazhou Agricultural has been added as a third party
to the proceedings by the Beijing Court. Three hearings
have taken place in the Beijing Court so far.

On 18 April 2017, the Company received the judgment
of the Beijing Court dated 31 March 2017 (the “31 March
Judgment”) stating that the request made by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu to revoke the MOFCOM Decision lacked both
legal and factual basis and was not supported by the
Beijing Court. Accordingly, the Beijing Court dismissed
the application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

On 10 May 2017, the Company received a Notice of
Appeal dated 8 May 2017. By the Notice of Appeal,
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 31 March
Judgment and requested for an order that (a) the
31 March Judgment be set aside and that (b) MOFCOM
to make a decision to revoke the approval issued in 2007
in relation to the Contended Agreement.

On 24 December 2018, the Company received the
judgment of the Beijing High People’s Court dated
20 December 2018 (the “20 December Judgment”)
dismissing the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu and
upholding the ruling of the Beijing Court as set out in the
31 March Judgment.

On 4 March 2020, the Company noted the judgment of
the Supreme Court dated 31 December 2019 (the “31
December Judgment”). By the 31 December Judgment,
the Supreme Court dismissed the application of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu for retrial and for dismissal of the
31 March Judgment and the 20 December Judgment.

In other words, the approval issued by MOFCOM in
November 2007 in relation to the Contended Agreement
shall not be revoked and shall remain to be in force.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(D)  Writissued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiuin Hubei

1.

On 22 May 2015, in view of the Beijing Judgment (as
disclosed in Section (A) above), the Company upon
being advised by the PRC legal adviser of the Company
and out of an abundance of caution, issued a writ against
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. The Company seeks an order
from the Hubei Court that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall
assist Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge its contractual
duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing with
MOFCOM.

On 26 May 2015, the writ was accepted by the Hubei
Court.

On 15 June 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu brought a
jurisdiction objection to the Hubei Court.

On 25 August 2015, the Hubei Court dismissed the
jurisdiction objection.

On 6 September 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed
to the Supreme People’s Court regarding the dismissal of
jurisdiction objection.

On 30 October 2015, the Supreme People’s Court
dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

On 20 July 2016, the Hubei Court issued a notice to
the parties for attendance at the pre-trial review on 11
August 2016.

According to the counterclaim filed by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu dated 6 August 2016, they sought for a
declaration from the Hubei Court that the SPA has no
longer in force.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(D)  Writissued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu in Hubei (Continued)

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

On 11 August 2016, the Company submitted an
application to modify its claims. The modified claims
include: (1) to confirm that the SPA has been legally
made; (2) to seek an order from the Hubei Court that
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall assist the Company and
Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge its contractual
duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing with
MOFCOM; (3) to seek an order from the Hubei Court that
if Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu fail to assist as abovementioned
then the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural shall have
the right to make the necessary filing with MOFCOM on
their own; and (4) to seek an order from the Hubei Court
that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall bear the costs of the
proceedings.

On 27 March 2017, the Hubei Court made an order that
since the outcome of the legal proceedings against
MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (see Section (C)
above) would affect the trial of these proceedings, these
proceedings should be stayed.

On 26 April 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to
the Hubei Court for a freezing order in respect of the
Company’s 70% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural. The
Hubei Court refused the application by Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu on that occasion.

On 10 May 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to the
Hubei Court again for a freezing order in respect of
the Company’s 70% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural.
According to the order of the Hubei Court dated 26 May
2017 (the “26 May Order”), the Hubei Court granted the
freezing order as against the Company’s 70% interest in
Baisazhou Agricultural.

On 26 May 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to add
a counterclaim for return of the Company’s 90% interest
in Baisazhou Agricultural (70% for Ms. Wang and 20% for
Tian Jiu).
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(D)

Writ issued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu in Hubei (Continued)

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

On 5 June 2017, the Company applied to the Hubei Court
for review of the 26 May Order. According to the order of
the Hubei Court dated 12 June 2017, the application by
the Company was dismissed.

On 10 April 2019, in light of the outcome of the legal
proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu (see section (C) above), the Company applied to the
Hubei Court for withdrawal of the Company’s claim. The
application of the Company was granted on 11 April
2019.

According to the judgment of the Hubei Court dated
23 December 2019 (the “23 December Judgment”),
the counterclaim made by Ms. Wang and Tianjiu was
dismissed by the Hubei Court.

Pursuant to a notice of appeal dated 19 January 2020, Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 23 December
Judgment and requested from the Supreme People’s
Court for an order that (a) the 23 December Judgment
be set aside, (b) the SPA no longer have any force, and (c)
the Company’s 90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural be
returned (70% for Ms. Wang and 20% for Tian Jiu).

On 29 March 2021, the Company received the judgment
of the Supreme Court dated 29 December 2020 (the “29
December Judgment”) stating that the appeal basis of
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu could not be established and was
not supported by the Supreme Court. Accordingly, the
Supreme Court dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu and upheld the 23 December Judgment.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(E)

Writ issued in the PRC by Jiangsu Shenglong Zhengtai
Trade and Commercial Development Co., Ltd against
Huai'an Mingyuan Agricultural Development Company
Ltd and Mr. Wang Yong Gang

1

On 4 November 2018, Jiangsu Shenglong Zhengtai
Trade and Commercial Development Co., Ltd (“Jiangsu
Shenglong”) issued a writ against Huai'an Mingyuan
Agricultural Development Company Ltd (“Huai’an
Mingyuan”) and Mr. Wang Yong Gang (“Mr Wang”),
seeking an order from the Jiangsu Nanjing Xuanwu
District People’s Court (the “Xuanwu Court”), inter
alia, that (1) the Business Cooperation Agreement
and Supplemental Business Cooperation Agreement
signed by the parties shall be terminated; (2) Huai'an
Mingyuan shall pay Jiangsu Shenglong RMB30,000,000
as compensation for breach of the Business Cooperation
Agreement; (3) Huai'an Mingyuan shall pay Jiangsu
Shenglong RMB2,029,250 and RMB5,795,000 as
compensation for breaches of the Supplemental
Business Cooperation Agreement; (4) Mr. Wang shall be
held responsible for Huai’an Mingyuan'’s aforementioned
compensations to Jiangsu Shenglong; and (5) the
defendants shall be jointly liable for the costs of the
proceedings and Huai'an Mingyuan shall be liable for the
legal fees of Jiangsu Shenglong.

On 16 December 2018, Huai’an Mingyuan issued
counterclaim against Jiangsu Shenglong, seeking an
order from the Xuanwu Court, inter alia, that (1) the
Termination of Cooperation Notice issued by Jiangsu
Shenglong dated 17 September 2018 does not have
any force against Huai'an Mingyuan; and (2) Jiangsu
Shenglong shall be liable for the legal fees of Huai'an

Mingyuan.

According to the judgment of the Xuanwu Court dated
31 December 2020 (the “31 December Judgment”), the
Xuanwu Court ordered that (1) the Business Cooperation
Agreement and Supplemental Business Cooperation
Agreement signed by the parties be terminated; (2)
Huai'an Mingyuan shall pay the legal fees of Jiangsu
Shenglong of RMB10,000,000; (3) Mr. Wang shall be held
responsible for Huai'an Mingyuan’s aforementioned
compensations to Jiangsu Shenglong;(4) other claims of
Jiangsu Shenglong be dismissed.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(B)

Writ issued in the PRC by Jiangsu Shenglong Zhengtai
Trade and Commercial Development Co., Ltd against
Huai'an Mingyuan Agricultural Development Company
Ltd and Mr. Wang Yong Gang (Continued)

4. On 2 February 2021, Jiangsu Shenglong appealed
against the 31 December Judgment and requested for
an order from the Nanjing Intermediate People’s Court,
inter alia, that (1) Huai’an Mingyuan shall pay Jiangsu
Shenglong RMB30,000,000 as compensation for breach
of the Business Cooperation Agreement; (2) Huai’an
Mingyuan shall pay Jiangsu Shenglong RMB2,029,250
and RMB5,795,000 as compensation for breaches of the
Supplemental Business Cooperation Agreement.

5. As at the date of this report, the case is still ongoing.

Writ issued in the PRC by Puyang Kaiping Construction
Company Limited against Puyang Hongjin Agricultural
and By-Product Exchange Market Company Limited

1. On 19 October 2020, Puyang Kaiping Construction
Company Limited (“Puyang Kaiping”) issued a writ
against Puyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product
Exchange Market Company Limited (“Puyang Hongjin"),
seeking an order from the Puyang Hualong District
People’s Court (the “Hualong Court”) that Puyang
Hongjin shall pay Puyang Kaiping RMB3,719,501.87
being construction payment together with interest.

2. On 21 January 2021, Puyang Hongjin received the
judgment of the Hualong Court dated 12 January 2020
(the “12 January Judgment”), in which the Hualong
Court ordered that (1) Puyang Hongjin shall pay Puyang
Kaiping RMB3,719,501.87 being construction payment
and (2) in the event of default by Puyang Hongjing,
interest accrued on the outstanding sum shall be
doubled during the period of delayed performance.

36. =Rak @

(B) IEHEEEFHEERERAFN
RERERTRAEEEERARA
A M EKH AT 2 SR (@)

RZTEZ—F-A=RH  IHX
BT A=+—BHRELE
i WHERBRTHRRARER
2 (EHRaRE) (1) ELHERAR
7L 8k 3% B2 S 4 A R % 30,000,000
T ERER¥EBEIEHZRZE
B QETHARARIHEES
5 A R #2,029,250T & A R ¥
5,795,000 7T * {E /i R4 78 3 15
EEmRCREE -

MRS BH - SRAAMDE#ETT -

(F) ESRATFERIEGRARNTE
RS ERBERR SN HEHR
NEERZ SR

1.

R=ZZE=ZF+A+hH " KK
FTFERIEERNR (EEEE
EREGRERBERR ST
SHERAR (EEEE)ZHLS
R SREGTEREREARER
([EEBEERR]) < BEG R AR
f5 5 T TSR IBEE R A S A
K#3,719,501.87 JT °

R-TE-_—F—F-+—H  #
BRERIEEERBRAE =T
—EE—AF+-BZHR(—A
TR ERERERES
() BB REAMERSRR TS AZ
£RIAARY3,719,501.87 7T ¢ K&
QMRS R ERGEREIT - TR
BITHAR - RIEEKEZ B 7
BEEINEEE -

241



242

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #EZ =T —_—F = A=+—HIFE

36.

37.

LITIGATION (Continued)

(F)  Writissued in the PRC by Puyang Kaiping Construction
Company Limited against Puyang Hongjin Agricultural
and By-Product Exchange Market Company Limited
(Continued)

3. On 2 February 2021, Puyang Hongjin appealed against
the 12 January Judgment to the Puyang Intermediate
People’s Court and requested for an order from the
Puyang Intermediate People’s Court, inter alia, that (1)
the 12 January Judgment be set aside and (2) the claim
of Puyang Kaiping be dismissed.

4. As at the date of this report, the case is still ongoing.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, so far as the Directors
were aware, (i) the Group was not engaged in any litigation or claims
of material importance, and (ii) no litigation or claims of material
importance is pending or threatened against the Group.

COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2021 and 2020 not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:
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2021 2020
—E-— —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FA&T
Capital expenditure authorised ERATIEE RERETNZ
and contracted for in respect of: BEARAR :
— construction costs - BEER A 241,436 397,717
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38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,

the Group has the following material related party transactions:

(a)

Transactions with key management personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed

38. EREEALTRS
MRIGEMBRRAEREEIN

INTERBEALRS :

(a)

B BHRMEE
—F=A=+—RILER

AREBEATZ

ZEEABNRS

MEoRBE s ALRBEIZER AL (B
EXNTFARREEZ ) R 104

in note 9 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed BrETHRRHHALTHEIDT
in note 10, is as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F ZTTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHT
Short-term employee benefits SHIE B EA 10,035 22,879
Post-employment benefits BRI 140 199
10,175 23,078
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 7(b)). FRNEEEIIATEIRA] F2EME
7(b)) °
Balances with related parties (b) EEEFEA L&
Details of the balances with related parties as at 31 March 2021 R —FRZZBZZTF=A=+—
and 2020 are set out in note 27. H 8 A 2 SRR RIS S M 527
Material related party transaction (0 BERBEEALTRS
2021 2020
—EZ—fF —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FHT
Peony Finance Limited Peony Finance Limited
— Interest on convertible bonds - ARRRESFE 10,199 14,370
Double Leads Investments Limited BRREERAA
— Interest on other borrowings - E b EFRFE 7,500 1,233
Winning Rich Investments Limited IR E AR AT
— Interest on other borrowings - E b ERFE 52,500 8,630
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39. FINANCE GUARANTEE

As at 31 March 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
provided guarantees of approximately HK$27,000 to our customers in
favor of a bank for the loans provided by the bank to the customers of
our project (2020: HK$126,000).

40. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Disposal of equity interest in a non-wholly owned subsidiary

Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2021, on 18 June 2021,
Century Choice Limited (“Century Choice”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CAP and a substantial shareholder (the “PRC Shareholder”) of
M R B EMRALBETISEAR 2 (Yulin Hongjin Agricultural
By-products Wholesale Marketplace Limited (“Yulin Hongjin"))
entered into an agreement in relation to the reduction of registered
capital contribution of Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin. Pursuant
to the agreement, the PRC Shareholder waived its entitlement to
the dividend declared by Yulin Hongjin for the financial year ended
31 December 2020 in the amount of approximately RMB117 million
and directed the same to be paid to Century Choice, and the amount
of registered capital contribution by Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin
was reduced by an amount equal to approximately RMB41.9 million.
As a result of such reduction of registered capital contribution, the
CAP Group's equity interest in Yulin Hongjin was decreased from 65%
to 51%. Details of the capital reduction were disclosed in the joint
announcement of, inter alia, the Company dated 18 June 2021.

41. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2021.
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BREIRKRMEPREERL 27,0008 7T - A
RERBTRETRMBEERFPZ2ER(CEZ
T4 49126,000757T)
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HERIEREME R AR
REE-_T-_—F=A=1t—HIIFE% R
—E-—FXA+N\B " EEARAE([E
Bl ARRMEEKBAR) BERREEE
EmtEmSERAR ([EMEEDH—BE
ZRE ([PERRFI L EEEFNFERE
MEREZ ZTMERFENRZ - RIBZ B -
FERENEEZEETNAERBE_S -
FH+ZA=T—HUEVBFEERBREHAR
# 117,000,000 TTEVIER] - WHERK SN T
BER - MR EMEENTME AR ETE R
L&A E R L AR 41,900,000 © R LA
FEMERNFENRLD  FREEREERE
MNERER D R 65% R E51% ° BRAAAR
BAORFBEEE (HFPRE AARIBHAZE
—Z—FXA+N\BNEEAHEE -

RETRESMBE®RER
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location

.57

Wuhan Baishazhou Agri-Products Market, Special
Nos.1 Qingling Street, Qingling Country, Hongshan
District, Wuhan City, Hubei Province, the PRC
EDHIEE BOET ORI R FEBFTEEHE 5%
EOEBDMNRBIEmATS

No. 58 Huahu Avenue, Gang District, Huangshi City,
Hubei Province, the PRC
FREDHAIL B = AT RENAE 5855 -

BORERBIERTS

Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, west of Luoji Expressway, Old town
District, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC
BRI R SRS T 2 RS R R BT

ARG R = R E BRI L

Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, south of Kaigi Highway and East of
Xilin Public Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province,
the PRC

Fh B FE & AR T A A BRI ] R AR A E R A
R 2 I B m B R M A

Xuzhou Agri-Products Centre Wholesale Market,
East of Yingbin Avenue, Quanshan District,
Xuzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

F BT &R 1R N TR 1L (20 E A E R A

RN = B E fm T OB 5
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
S

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #iZ2 =T - —F=A=+—HILFE

BREY=

Use

A%

Agricultural produce
exchange market

REMR SN

Agricultural produce
exchange market

REMR SN

Agricultural produce
exchange market

.

REMRHM S

Agricultural produce
exchange market

.

REMRHM S

Agricultural produce
exchange market

REMR SN

Tenure

3

Medium term lease

T EAAE 4

Medium term lease

T AR A

Medium term lease

T EAAE 4

Medium term lease

th EAFE A

Medium term lease

T EAFE A

Attributable
interest of
the Group

AEEEGER

100%

80%

100%

100%

51%
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
MEFR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 E{Z - ——

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Location
#hht
Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International

Logistics Centre, West of Luoji Expressway, Old town
district, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC

B &S T ERRE SRR BER A
7RI i = Bl EE S B R AR

Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, South of Kaigi Highway and east of
Xilin Public Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province,
the PRC

A B R B T AT SRR AL R R AR R EER A
AR 2 R B E m B MmO

Phase | of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri-Products
Market, South of the Second Ring North Road, Yuzhou
District, Yulin City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, the PRC
PREEALRERREME
IMZERBIERALETIS—H

RACEEEI A

China - ASEAN (Qinzhou) Agri-Products Market,
north of Jinhaiwan West Avenue (Entrance of North
and South Highway), Qinzhou City, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC

P B B P AL IR B A SN T 288 P AL
(FEEREAR) B - R (FN) REm
YNEE]

F=ZA=+—HIFE

FFHEW=

Approximate

saleable
floor area
(square feet) Use
BHATEEZEEE
(FFFR) A%
1,048,000 Agricultural produce
exchange market
BEIRSTH
103,000 Agricultural produce
exchange market
REMX SN
744,000 Agricultural produce
exchange market
REMX SN
1,687,000 Agricultural produce

exchange market

REMRX %

Attributable
interest of
the Group

AEH
EihERE

100%

100%

65%

100%
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Location

s

Phase Il of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri-
Products Market, South of the Second Ring
North Road and North West of Longbiao
River, Yuzhou District, Yulin City, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC
rEEALEE AR INE R REA
ERAEILAEHEERAIE RS
g

Use

Rz

Agricultural
produce
exchange
market

g

RERX AT

Approximate
sitearea
(square feet)

BRALEER
(FHR)

448,000

LERPUE

Estimated
approximate
gross

floor area
(square feet)
Rt
BEAER
(FER)

758,000

2021 Annual Report

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

Estimate
completion
date

st
T AH

2022

WNE

=1

B —FZA=+—HLFE

Stage of
completion

TRER

Planning in
progress

FRELET

Attributable
interest of
the Group

58
FEf

100%
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F=A=t+—HLFE

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
T FE R E

For the year ended 31 March 2021 H{E =& = —

Fifteen
months from
1 January
Year ended 2019to
31 March 31 March Year from 1 January to 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
AT NF
B2 | —A—HZ
—E--F | ZZ-THF
=A=+-8 |ZA=1—H BE—A—HZEF+=-A=1+— EIJtiF
LEE | ETREA Z2—hgE ZT—N\F —F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS’OOO
FEx FHT FHT FAT FHIT
Results ES
Turnover BT 650,529 1,091,437 778,857 790,059 603,132
Profit/(loss) before taxation KAt ATEM,/ (EHE) 644,463 171,800 (114,079) (301,257) (852,442)
Income tax 3%t (143,293) (138,475) (65,240) (36,314) 73,884
Profit/(loss) for F/ERER, (B518)
the year/period 501,170 33,325 (179,319) (337,571) (778,558)
Attributable to: AT A LM -
Owners of the Company ARAERA 489,602 5,880 (212,596) (340,970) (740,997)
Non-controlling interests IR R 11,568 27,445 33,277 3,399 (37,561)
501,170 33,325 (179,319) (337,571) (778,558)
As at As at
31 March 31 March As at 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
RIBEZ—F |RZZT=ZF EMr H +—H
=B=+—-H |=A=1t—H —E-NE —\&E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FExT FHAT FHIT FHT FHT
Assets and liabilities BERAE
Total assets BEE 5,584,243 5,138,673 5,603,672 6,111,476 5,957,204
Total liabilities HBEE (3,378,390) (3,653,308) (4,008,308) (4,153,873) (4,798,198)
2,205,853 1,485,365 1,595,364 1,957,603 1,159,006
Attributable to: AT ALRES :
Owners of the Company V/NETZ=DN 1,808,148 1,091,640 1,208,971 1,588,311 805,616
Non-controlling interests FFIERR 397,705 393,725 386,393 369,292 353,390
2,205,853 1,485,365 1,595,364 1,957,603 1,159,006
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